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NOTE REGARDING FORWARD–LOOKING STATEMENTS AND RISK FACTOR SUMMARY

This Annual Report on Form 10-K may contain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-
looking statements can generally be identified using forward-looking terminology, including the terms “believes”, “estimates”, “anticipates, “expects”, “seeks”, “projects”,
“intends”, plans”, “may”, “will” or “should” or, in each case, their negative or other variations or comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements include all matters
that are not historical facts. They appear in several places throughout this report and include statements regarding our intentions, beliefs or current expectations concerning,
among other things, results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, prospects, growth, strategies, the markets in which we operate and the development of Electric Vertical
Aircraft (“EVA”) technology. Such forward-looking statements are based on available current market material and management’s expectations, beliefs, and forecasts concerning
future events impacting us and are inherently subject to significant business, economic and competitive uncertainties and contingencies, many of which are difficult to predict
and generally beyond our control. Actual results and the timing of events may differ materially from the results anticipated in these forward-looking statements.

Our operations and financial results are subject to various risks and uncertainties. The following are among those factors, but are not the only factors, that could adversely affect
us and/or that may cause actual results to differ materially from such forward-looking statements:

Risks Related to Our Business and Growth Strategy
• continued occurrence of net losses, which we have experienced since inception;
• any adverse publicity stemming from accidents involving small aircraft, helicopters or charter flights and, in

particular, any accidents involving our third-party operators;
• any change to the ownership of our aircraft and the operational and business challenges related thereto;
• effects of competition;
• harm to our reputation and brand;
• our ability to provide high-quality customer support;
• our ability to maintain a high daily aircraft usage rate and to aggregate fliers on our by-the-seat flights;
• impact of natural disasters, outbreaks and pandemics, economic, social, weather, growth constraints, geopolitical, and regulatory conditions or other circumstances on

metropolitan areas and airports where we have geographic concentration;
• the effects of climate change;
• terrorist attacks, geopolitical conflict or security events;
• the availability of aircraft fuel;
• our ability to access additional funding to finance our operations;
• our ability to identify, complete and successfully integrate future acquisitions;
• our ability to manage our growth;
• increases in insurance costs or reductions in insurance coverage;
• the loss of key members of our management team;
• our ability to maintain our company culture;
• effects of fluctuating financial results;

Risks Related to our Medical Segment
• our reliance on contractual relationships with certain transplant centers, hospitals and Organ Procurement

Organizations;
• reliance on certain customers which could impact our Medical segment revenue;
• competition from providers with proprietary organ preservation technology or additional capabilities could impact our Medical segment;
• the continuing availability of organ donors and viable donor organs;
• insufficient reimbursement and funding for organ transport costs;
• risks related to organ transport operations;
• new technology that could make ground or commercial air transport of organs more viable;
• regulatory changes, legislative reforms, and civil or criminal enforcement actions;

Risks Related to our Passenger Segment
• the markets in which we operate may fail to grow or may grow more slowly than expected;
• our ability to effectively market and sell air transportation as a substitute for conventional methods of transportation;
• our ability to enter new markets and offer new routes and services;
• changes in consumer preferences, discretionary spending and other economic conditions;
• reliance on certain customers which could impact our Passenger segment revenue;
• our ability to obtain and maintain adequate facilities and infrastructure;
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• the inability or unavailability to use or take advantage of the shift, or lack thereof, to EVA technology;
• the increase of costs and risks associated with international expansion;

Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third-Party Providers
• our reliance on third-party operators to provide and operate aircraft;
• the availability of third-party aircraft operators to match demand;
• disruptions to third-party operators and providers workforce;
• the possibility that our third-party aircraft operators may illegally, improperly or otherwise inappropriately operate

our branded aircraft;
• our reliance on third-party web service providers;

Risks Related to Intellectual Property, Cybersecurity, Information Technology and Data Management Practices
• our ability to address system failures, defects, errors or vulnerabilities in our website, applications, backend systems or other technology systems or those of third-party

technology providers;
• interruptions or security breaches of our information technology systems, especially with the continued development and increased usage of artificial intelligence (AI);
• our placements within mobile operating systems and application marketplaces;
• our ability to protect our intellectual property rights;
• our use of open source software;

Legal and Regulatory Risks Related to Our Business
• changes in our regulatory environment;
• the impact of any litigation or regulatory investigations that we may be subject to;
• regulatory obstacles in local governments;
• our ability to comply with domestic and foreign privacy, data protection, consumer protection and security laws;
• the expansion of environmental regulation;

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Securities and Being a Public Company
• our ability to remediate any material weaknesses or maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting;
• our ability to maintain effective internal controls and disclosure controls; and
• the other factors described elsewhere in this Annual Report, included under the headings “Risk Factors,”

“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition” or as described in the other documents and
reports we file with the SEC.

Actual results, performance or achievements may differ materially, and potentially adversely, from any forward-looking statements and the assumptions on which those
forward-looking statements are based. There can be no assurance that the data contained herein is reflective of future performance to any degree. You are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on forward-looking statements as a predictor of future performance. All information set forth herein speaks only as of the date hereof and we disclaim any
intention or obligation to update any forward-looking statements as a result of developments occurring after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Unless the context indicates otherwise, references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to the “Company”, “Blade”, “we”, “us”, “our”, and similar terms refer to Blade Air
Mobility, Inc.
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Part I.

Item 1. Business

Business Overview

Blade Air Mobility, Inc. (“Blade” or the “Company”) provides air transportation and logistics for hospitals across the United States, where it is one of the largest transporters of
human organs for transplant, and for passengers, with helicopter and fixed wing services primarily in the Northeast United States and Southern Europe. Based in New York
City, Blade’s asset-light model, coupled with its exclusive passenger terminal infrastructure and proprietary technologies, is designed to facilitate a seamless transition from
helicopters and fixed-wing aircraft to Electric Vertical Aircraft (“EVA” or “eVTOL”), enabling lower cost air mobility that is both quiet and emission-free.

Blade currently operates in three key product lines across our Passenger and Medical segments:

Passenger segment

• Short Distance – Consisting primarily of helicopter and amphibious seaplane flights in the United States and Europe between 10 and 100 miles in distance. Flights are
available for purchase both by-the-seat and on a full aircraft charter basis. This product line previously also included flights in Canada, which we discontinued in August
2024.

• Jet and Other –  Consists principally of revenues from non-medical jet charter, revenue from brand partners for exposure to Blade fliers and certain ground transportation
services. This product line previously also included by-the-seat jet flights between New York and South Florida, which we discontinued in November 2023.

Medical segment

• MediMobility Organ Transport – Consisting primarily of transportation of human organs for transplant and/or the medical teams supporting these services. Blade also offers
additional services including donor logistics coordination and support evaluating potential donor organs through our Trinity Organ Placement Services (“TOPS”) offering,
launched at the end of 2023.

Our Business Model

Blade leverages an asset-light business model: we primarily utilize aircraft that are owned and/or operated by third parties on Blade’s behalf. In these arrangements, pilots,
maintenance, hangar, insurance, and fuel are all costs borne by our network of operators, which provide aircraft flight time to Blade at fixed hourly rates. This enables our
operator partners to focus on training pilots, maintaining aircraft and flying, while we maintain the relationship with our customer from booking through flight arrival. For
flights offered for sale by-the-seat, Blade schedules flights based on demand analysis and takes the economic risk of aggregating fliers to optimize flight profitability, providing
predictable margins for our operators.

When utilizing third-party aircraft and/or aircraft operators, we typically pre-negotiate fixed hourly rates and flight times, paying only for flights actually flown, creating a
predictable and flexible cost structure. Blade provides guaranteed flight commitments to some of our third-party operators through capacity purchase agreements (“CPAs”),
which enable Blade to ensure dedicated access to such aircraft with enhanced crew availability, lower costs and, in many cases, the ability to unlock more favorable rates when
flying more than the minimum number of hours we guarantee to the operator. Additionally, a significant portion of Blade trips are flown by safety-vetted operators to whom
Blade makes no commitments, providing us with additional flexible capacity for high demand periods.

Over the course of 2024, we acquired ten fixed wing aircraft that are currently dedicated to the Medical segment. We made the decision to invest in a limited number of owned
aircraft based in high-volume geographies as we believe direct asset ownership will enable (i) improved economies of scale; (ii) increased uptime, enabling more reliable
service and higher asset utilization; and (iii) the ability to compete for certain contracts where asset ownership is preferred or required. All of these aircraft are operated and
maintained by third-party service providers under Blade’s oversight. See Item 2. Properties “—Aircraft Assets” in this Annual Report for more information. We prioritize the
use of owned aircraft and dedicated aircraft under CPAs, which provide better economies of scale. We size our owned fleet and our commitments under CPAs significantly
below our expected demand, enabling us to maximize utilization on those aircraft while fulfilling incremental
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demand through our network of non-dedicated operators. As part of our broader Medical segment, we also provide technology-enabled solutions to help transplant centers and
organ procurement organizations streamline organ evaluation and logistics. This service enhances the efficiency and cost-effectiveness of organ placement, further
strengthening our position in the organ transportation industry.

In the year ended December 31, 2024, approximately 47% of Blade’s flight costs were pursuant to CPAs that included flight volume guarantees from Blade. While limited in
number, our owned aircraft fleet represents a meaningful portion of our Medical segment operations. Assuming a full year of operations for all ten aircraft, they will account for
approximately 17% of Blade’s total company flight costs and nearly one-third of all Medical segment flying, underscoring the strategic impact of our targeted asset ownership
approach.

Blade’s proprietary “customer-to-cockpit” technology stack enables us to manage fliers and organ transports across numerous simultaneous flights with multiple operators
around the world. We believe that this technology, which provides (i) real-time tracking of organ transports and passenger flights; (ii) profit/loss information on a flight-by-
flight basis; (iii) customized portals for all relevant parties including pilots, accounting teams, operator dispatch, transplant coordinators and Blade’s logistics team; and (iv) a
customer-facing app for passenger missions, will enable us to continue to scale our business. This technology stack was built with future growth in mind and is designed to allow
our platform to be easily scaled to accommodate, among other things, rapid increases in volume, new routes, new operators, broader flight schedules, international expansion,
next-generation verticraft and ancillary services (e.g., last/first-mile ground connections, trip cancellation insurance, baggage delivery) through our mobile apps, website and
cloud-based tools.

Our asset-light business model was developed to be scalable and profitable using conventional aircraft today while enabling a seamless transition to EVA, once they are
certified for public use. We intend to leverage the expected lower operating costs of EVA versus helicopters to reduce the consumer’s price for our flights. Additionally, we
expect the reduced noise footprint and zero carbon emission characteristics of EVA to allow for the development of new, vertical landing infrastructure (“vertiports”) in our
existing and new markets.

Competition

Passenger segment

In both our Short Distance and Jet and Other product lines, we compete primarily with Part 135 operators or brokers of helicopters, seaplanes and jets. In most cases, these
operators offer only full aircraft charter and do not compete with our by-the-seat offerings. However, in certain instances other air carriers offer competing by-the-seat service.
Additionally, we may compete with ground transportation, rail or ferry services that are typically lower cost, but generally involve longer journeys.

In some cases, aircraft operators are able to offer lower costs than Blade on a specific aircraft type. We compete primarily based on our technology-enabled service, dedicated
infrastructure, and access to a wide variety of aircraft types, which can lower costs for our customers based on our ability to select the most appropriate aircraft for the requested
distance and payload.

The urban air mobility industry is still developing and evolving, but we expect it to be highly competitive. Our potential future competitors may be able to devote greater
resources to the development of their current and future technologies or the promotion and sale of their offerings, or offer lower prices. For example, some multimodal
transportation providers and even commercial airlines have expressed interest in air mobility, and Uber Technologies, Inc. has a significant investment in a company that is
developing EVA aircraft. Moreover, potential manufacturers of EVAs may choose to develop vertically integrated businesses, or they may contract with competing air mobility
service providers rather than entering into operating contracts with us, which would be a threat to our Short Distance product line.

Our potential competitors also may establish cooperative or strategic relationships among themselves or with third parties, including regional or national helicopter or heliport
operations that we rely on to offer our urban air mobility services, which may further enhance their resources and offerings. It is possible that domestic or foreign companies or
governments, some with greater experience in the urban air mobility industry or greater financial resources than we possess, will seek to
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provide products or services that compete directly or indirectly with ours in the future. Any such foreign competitor could benefit from subsidies or other protective measures
provided by its home country.

Medical segment

In our MediMobility Organ Transport product line, we compete primarily with Part 135 jet operators and a limited number of asset-light logistics businesses. We compete
primarily based on our technology-enabled service and access to a wide variety of aircraft types, including helicopters, jets and turboprops, in many locations across the United
States. This can lower costs for our customers based on our ability to select the most appropriate aircraft located in the most efficient area for the requested distance and
payload.

In our TOPS business line, where we help our customers evaluate the suitability of potential donor organs for transplant, we primarily compete with transplant centers’ own
internal resources or a limited number of specialty firms focused on organ evaluation and placement. We compete primarily on our ability to save our customers money while
enabling them to efficiently evaluate a larger number of organ offers for potential transplant. Many of our TOPS customers also utilize our logistics services given the ease of
use inherent in our integrated offering, but this is not required. Some of our TOPS competitors also offer logistics services that compete with us or have additional capabilities,
including surgical organ recovery, that we do not offer.

The organ transportation industry is rapidly evolving as new technology for organ preservation is introduced. We believe new technology will benefit our business by increasing
the overall supply of organs to be transplanted. However, some companies that manufacture organ preservation technology or provide surgical organ recovery, services that we
do not currently offer, now also provide bundled organ transportation that competes with us.

We believe our ability to compete successfully as a diversified air mobility company will depend on a number of factors, which may change in the future due to increased
competition, including the price of our offerings, customer confidence in the safety of our offerings, customer satisfaction for the service we offer, and, for by-the-seat offerings,
the routes, frequency of flights and availability of seats offered through our platform. If we are unable to compete successfully, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be adversely affected.

Human Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2024, we had a total of 322 employees, with 284 individuals working in our operations located in the United States and 38 employees in our operations
based in Europe. Among these employees, we had 310 permanent employees and 12 temporary employees. Our workforce consists of 91 employees in our Passenger segment,
199 employees in our Medical segment, and 32 employees in our headquarters functions. None of our employees are represented by a labor union. We believe we have good
relationships with our employees and have not experienced any interruptions of operations due to labor disagreements.

Government Regulation

Transportation and Aviation

United States. As an arranger of air travel and an indirect air carrier, we are subject to United States Department of Transportation (“DOT”) regulations governing our
advertising and sale of by-the-seat air transportation as well as the advertising and sale of aircraft charter. We are also subject to DOT regulations relating to consumer
protection matters such as unfair or deceptive practices, flier complaints and ticket refunding policies and practices. Our operators are subject to the laws and regulations
relating to the operation and maintenance of aircraft promulgated by the Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”). Further, as a transporter of organs for transplant, we are
subject to DOT regulations relating to the transportation of organs for transplant. Because Blade does not currently operate aircraft, our business operations are not directly
regulated by the FAA. Our ground transportation offerings are governed by applicable local, state and federal regulations and include (i) owned vehicles for our Medical
segment, both with and without lights and sirens; and (ii) third-party owned and operated vehicles for use in both our Medical and Passenger segments.

France and Monaco. Our French operations are subject to strict regulation by government agencies in the country, including the Direction Générale de l’Aviation Civile
(“DGAC”) and the Autorité de la Concurrence. Our Monégasque operations are subject to a complex and constantly changing regulatory landscape governed by the Direction
de l'Aviation Civile de Monaco.

7



Table of Contents

India. The Indian Joint Venture’s operations are regulated by Indian government agencies, including the Airports Authority of India, Ministry of Civil Aviation and Directorate
General of Civil Aviation.

Privacy and Data Protection

There are many requirements regarding the collection, use, transfer, security, breach notification, storage, destruction, and other processing of personally identifiable
information and other data relating to individuals. Because our technology platform is an integral aspect of our business, compliance with laws governing the use, collection,
and processing of personal data is necessary for us to achieve our objective of continuously enhancing the user experience of our mobile application and marketing site.

We receive, collect, store, process, transmit, share, and use personal information, and other customer data, including health information, and we rely in part on third parties that
are not directly under our control to manage certain of these operations and to receive, collect, store, process, transmit, share, and use such personal information, including
payment information. A variety of federal, state, local, municipal, and foreign laws and regulations, as well as industry standards (such as the payment card industry standards)
govern the collection, storage, processing, sharing, use, retention and security of this information. The California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018, as amended by the California
Privacy Rights Act of 2020 (“CCPA”) broadly defines personal information gives California residents expanded privacy rights and protections, and provides for civil penalties
for certain violations. We believe that the personal information we collect from California residents that use our app, the air transportation services we have offered in
California in the past, and direct marketing to California residents for those services, as well as our plans to offer future services in California, have made and in the future will
make Blade subject to compliance with CCPA. Many other states have either passed, proposed or are considering privacy laws similar to, and in some respects more stringent
than, the CCPA. The patchwork of privacy laws in the U.S. heightens the cost of compliance, the risks of noncompliance, and the potential for enforcement actions by individual
state attorneys general, regulators, and lawsuits brought by private plaintiffs.

In addition, our business may be subject to laws regulating marketing activities by telephone, email, mobile device and the internet, including the CAN-SPAM Act of 2003 and
the Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991, and federal and state laws prohibiting unfair or deceptive acts and practices, including Section 5 of the Federal Trade
Commission Act. The failure to comply with any such laws or regulations can result in fines, penalties, private lawsuits, and other enforcement of non-compliance.

In Canada, the Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act or PIPEDA, and provincial laws, require that companies provide privacy notices to consumers,
with some exceptions obtain consent to use personal information, and provide data subject rights to individuals. Moreover, as we offer and advertise our services in Europe and
Monaco and are subject to privacy regulations in these foreign jurisdictions. The European Union's General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”) and the Monégasque Data
Protection Act (“DPA”) are known for their stringent requirements and can pose significant challenges for companies to comply with. The GDPR sets strict standards for the
handling of personal data of individuals in the European Economic Area, and noncompliance can result in significant monetary penalties. In Monaco, the DPA provides similar
protection for personal data and sets standards for the collection, use, and storage of personal information.

The GDPR imposes obligations on data controllers and data processors that have an establishment in the EU or are offering goods or services to, or monitoring the behavior of,
individuals within the EU. The GDPR is wide-ranging in scope and imposes numerous requirements on companies that collect and further process personal data, including
requirements relating to processing health and other sensitive data. The GDPR also imposes strict rules on the transfer of personal data to countries outside the European Union,
including the United States and the United Kingdom, and stipulates a regime of accountability for processors and controllers. Organizations may be required to appoint a data
protection officer who reports to the highest level of management within the business. The GDPR permits data protection authorities to impose large penalties for violations of
the GDPR, including potential fines of up to €20 million or 4% of annual global revenues of the undertaking, whichever is greater. The GDPR also confers a private right of
action on data subjects and consumer associations to lodge complaints with supervisory authorities, seek judicial remedies, and obtain compensation for material and immaterial
damages resulting from violations of the GDPR.

The CCPA, GDPR, and other similar laws and regulations require companies to give specific types of notice and, in some cases, permit users to opt out of or obtain informed
consent for the placement of a cookie or similar technologies on a user’s device for online tracking for behavioral advertising and other purposes and for direct electronic
marketing, and the GDPR also imposes additional conditions in order to satisfy such consent, such as a prohibition on pre-checked tick boxes
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and bundled consents, thereby requiring users to affirmatively consent for a given purpose through separate tick boxes or other affirmative action.

The Protected Health Information (“PHI”) that our Medical segment receives is subject to the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, as amended, and
implementing privacy, security, and breach notification regulations (“HIPAA”). HIPAA limits the use and disclosure of PHI, and requires the implementation of administrative,
physical, and technical safeguards to ensure the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of individually identifiable health information in both paper and electronic form. We
are a Business Associate under HIPAA, and may be subject to penalties for, or required to enter into monitoring or resolution agreements for, among other activities, failing to
enter into written agreements where required by law and violations of HIPAA, including breaches. Under the breach notification rule, covered entities must notify affected
individuals without unreasonable delay in the case of a breach of unsecured PHI, which compromises the privacy or security of the PHI. In addition, notification must be
provided to the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and the local media in cases where a breach affects 500 or more individuals. Breaches affecting fewer than 500
individuals must be reported to the Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”) on an annual basis. There can be no assurance that we will not be the subject of an
investigation (arising out of a reportable breach incident, audit, or otherwise) alleging non-compliance with HIPAA in our maintenance of PHI. In some cases, HIPAA
violations have resulted in lawsuits, settlement payments, and actions by state attorneys general to prosecute HIPAA violations committed against residents of their states. While
HIPAA does not create a private right of action that would allow individuals to sue in civil court for a HIPAA violation, its standards have been used as the basis for the duty of
care in state civil suits, such as those for negligence or recklessness in misusing personal information.

Healthcare

The procurement and transportation of organs is coordinated by OPOs, which are nonprofit entities that provide or arrange for the transportation of donated organs to transplant
centers and that meet certain statutory criteria and performance standards. OPO advisory boards have the authority to recommend policies for the transportation of organs to
transplant hospitals. OPOs must meet certain requirements to have their organ procurement services to hospitals covered by Medicare and Medicaid. Hospitals that receive
Medicare and Medicaid funding must separately meet certain conditions of participation related to organ, tissue, and eye procurement.

A number of federal and state healthcare laws, generally referred to as fraud and abuse laws, apply to healthcare providers and others that make, offer, seek or receive referrals
or payments for products or services that may be paid for through any federal or state healthcare program and in some instances any private health insurance program. Given the
breadth of these laws and regulations, they may affect our business, either directly or because they apply to our hospital and other clients. For example, the federal Anti-
Kickback Statute (the “AKS”) is broadly worded and prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully offering, paying, soliciting, or receiving remuneration, directly or
indirectly, in cash or in kind, in return for or to induce (1) the referral of an individual covered by federal healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, to a person for
the furnishing or arranging for the furnishing of any item or service for which payment may be made in whole or in part under a federal healthcare program, or (2) the
purchasing, leasing, or ordering, or arranging for or recommending the purchasing, leasing, or ordering of any good, facility, service, or item for which payment may be made in
whole or in part under a federal healthcare program. Court decisions have held that the AKS can be violated even if only “one purpose” of remuneration is to induce or reward
referrals or other business generated between the parties. Further, a person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of this statute or specific intent to violate it in order
to have committed a violation. Violations of the AKS include imprisonment for up to ten years, exclusion from participation in federal healthcare programs, including Medicare
and Medicaid, potential liability under the federal civil False Claims Act, and significant civil and criminal fines and monetary penalties, plus a civil assessment of up to three
times the total payments between the parties to the arrangement.

Under HIPAA, there are additional provisions regarding healthcare fraud and false statements relating to healthcare matters, which if not complied with, could have an impact
on our business. The healthcare fraud provision prohibits knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program,
including private payors. Similar to the AKS, a person or entity no longer needs to have actual knowledge of the healthcare fraud provision or specific intent to violate it in order
to have committed a violation. The false statements provision prohibits knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing, or covering up a material fact or making any materially
false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items, or services. Violations of these provisions are felonies and
may result in fines or imprisonment, or, in the case of the healthcare fraud provision, exclusion from government programs.
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Additionally, the Civil Monetary Penalties Law authorizes the imposition of civil monetary penalties, assessments, and exclusion against an individual or entity based on a
variety of prohibited conduct, including, but not limited to: presenting, or causing to be presented, claims, reports, or records relating to payment by Medicare, Medicaid or
other government payors that the individual or entity knows or should know are for an item or service that was not provided as claimed or is false or fraudulent; violating the
AKS; making, using, or causing to be made or used a false record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim for payment for items and services furnished under a
federal healthcare program; and failing to report and return an overpayment owed to the federal government. Violations of applicable fraud and abuse laws could result in
substantial civil monetary penalties that may be imposed under the federal Civil Monetary Penalties Law and may vary depending on the underlying violation. In addition, an
assessment of not more than three times the total amount claimed for each item or service may also apply and a violator may be subject to exclusion from federal and state
healthcare programs.

Many states, including certain states in which we conduct our business, have adopted fraud and abuse laws similar to the federal laws described above. Some state fraud and
abuse laws apply to items and services reimbursed by any third-party payor, including commercial insurers. For example, several states have anti-kickback and self-referral
prohibitions, which may apply regardless of whether the payor for such claims is Medicare or Medicaid and which may affect our ability to enter into financial relationships
with certain entities or individuals. A determination of liability under state fraud and abuse laws could result in fines, penalties, and restrictions on our ability to operate in these
jurisdictions, administrative sanctions, exclusions from governmental healthcare programs, refund requirements, and disciplinary action by the applicable governmental
authority, and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and reputation.

Environmental

Our operators are subject to various federal, state and local laws relating to the protection of the environment, including the discharge or disposal of materials and chemicals and
the regulation of aircraft noise, which laws are administered by numerous state and federal agencies. We seek representations of compliance with environmental laws from our
operators.

Corporate Background

Our predecessor was a special purpose acquisition company incorporated in Delaware in 2019 under the name of Experience Investment Corp. (“EIC”). In 2021, EIC acquired
Blade Urban Air Mobility, Inc. (“Old Blade”) and changed its name to Blade Air Mobility, Inc.

Available Information

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Annual Report”), Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, Proxy Statements and amendments to those reports
filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), are available on the Investor Relations section
of our website (https://ir.blade.com/) as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. We also make available through
our website other reports filed with or furnished to the SEC under the Exchange Act, including reports filed by our officers and directors under Section 16(a) of the Exchange
Act. All of the information on our Investor Relations website is available to be viewed free of charge. The SEC maintains a website (https://www.sec.gov) that contains reports,
proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC.

We routinely use the Investor Relations section of our website (https://ir.blade.com/), our corporate website (www.blade.com) and our X feed (@flybladenow) as channels of
distribution to publish important information about Blade, including financial or other information that may be deemed material to investors. Information contained on our
websites or social media channels is not part of this Annual Report or our other filings with the SEC. Except as specifically incorporated by reference into this document,
information on these websites or social media channels is not part of this document.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our operations and financial results are subject to various risks and uncertainties which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash
flows, and the trading price of our common and capital stock. You should carefully consider the risks described below as well as the other information contained in this Annual
Report. The risks and uncertainties in this Annual Report are not the only risks and uncertainties that we face. Additional risks and uncertainties
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not presently known to us or that we currently believe to be immaterial may become material and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash
flows, and the trading price of our common stock and warrants.

Risks Related to Our Business and Growth Strategy

We have incurred significant losses since inception. We expect to incur losses in the future, and we may not be able to achieve or maintain profitability.

We have incurred significant losses since inception. While we currently generate revenue primarily from the sale of air transportation, it is difficult for us to predict our future
operating results. As a result, our losses may be larger than anticipated, and we may not achieve profitability when expected, or at all. Even if we do, we may not be able to
maintain or increase profitability. Further, some of our future growth plans are dependent upon the availability of EVA. There can be no assurance that regulatory approval and
availability of EVA, or consumer acceptance of EVA, will occur in a timely manner, if at all. In addition, there may be additional costs associated with the initial build out of
EVA infrastructure needed to service our routes and we cannot be sure that EVA will result in expected cost savings or efficiencies, which could in turn affect our profitability.

Further, our ability to generate revenue sufficient to achieve profitability will depend on the successful commercialization of our Passenger services, our ability to secure new
transplant centers, organ procurement organizations and hospital customers (collectively, “Medical Customers”), and our ability to effectively integrate acquisitions.

We expect to continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable future as we focus on growing our services in both the United States and internationally. The timing and amount of
our operating and capital expenditures will depend on many factors, including:

• the amount of net revenue generated by sales of our Passenger and Medical services;

• our decision to purchase additional aircraft and/or vehicles;

• our launch of new Medical services, passenger routes and/or products;

• the costs and expenses of expanding our U.S. and international operations;

• the extent to which our urban air mobility services are utilized by fliers in the regions we operate;

• the costs incurred in our efforts to develop our brand and improve awareness;

• the costs, timing and outcomes of any future litigation or investigations; and

• the level of our selling, general and administrative expenses.

Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with our expansion and commercialization, we are unable to accurately predict the timing or amount of increased
expenses or when, or if, we will be able to achieve or maintain profitability.

If we experience harm to our reputation and brand, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Continuing to increase the strength of our reputation and brand for reliable, experience-driven, and cost-effective urban air mobility and human organ transport is critical to our
ability to attract and retain qualified, third-party aircraft operators and fliers. In addition, our growth strategy continues to include international expansion through route
acquisition, joint ventures, minority investments, or other partnerships with local companies as well as event activations and cross-marketing with other established brands, all
of which benefit from our reputation and brand recognition.

The successful development of our reputation and brand will depend on a number of factors, many of which are outside our control. Negative perception of our platform or
company may harm our reputation and brand, including as a result of:

• complaints or negative publicity or reviews about us, our third-party aircraft operators, fliers, our air mobility services, other brands or events we associate with, or our
flight operations policies (e.g., cancellation or baggage fee policies), even if factually incorrect or based on isolated incidents;

• inappropriate and/or unauthorized use of the Company’s social media channels could cause brand damage;

• changes to our flight operations, safety and security, privacy or other policies that users or others perceive as overly restrictive, unclear, or inconsistent with their values;
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• a failure to enforce our flight operations policies in a manner that users perceive as effective, fair, and transparent;

• illegal, negligent, reckless, or otherwise inappropriate behavior by fliers, our third-party aircraft operators, or other third parties involved in the operation of our business
or by our management team or other employees;

• a failure to provide routes and flight schedules sought by fliers;

• actual or perceived disruptions or defects in our platform, such as data security incidents, platform outages, payment processing disruptions, or other incidents that
impact the availability, reliability, or security of our offerings;

• litigation over, or investigations by regulators into, our operations or those of our third-party aircraft operators;

• a failure to operate our business in a way that is consistent with our certain values;

• inadequate or unsatisfactory flier support service experiences;

• negative responses by third-party aircraft operators or fliers to new mobility offerings on our platform;

• perception of our treatment of employees, contractors, or third-party aircraft operators and our response to their sentiment related to political or social causes or actions
of management;

• a failure to deliver human organs or medical teams to transplant centers on a timely basis;

• mistakes, delays or inconsistency in our evaluation of organ offers for customers of our Trinity Organ Placement Services (TOPS); or

• any of the foregoing with respect to our competitors, to the extent such resulting negative perception affects the public’s perception of us or our industry as a whole.

In addition, changes we may make to enhance and improve our offerings and balance the needs and interests of our third-party aircraft operators and fliers may be viewed
positively from one group’s perspective (such as fliers) but negatively from another’s perspective (such as third-party aircraft operators), or may not be viewed positively by
either third-party aircraft operators or fliers. If we fail to balance the interests of third-party aircraft operators and fliers or make changes that they view negatively, third-party
aircraft operators and fliers may stop using our platform or take fewer flights, any of which could adversely affect our reputation, brand, business, financial condition, and
results of operations.

Any failure to offer high-quality customer support may harm our relationships with fliers or Medical Customers and could adversely affect our reputation, brand, business,
financial condition, and results of operations.

We strive to create high levels of flier satisfaction through the experience we provide in our terminal lounges and the support provided by our Flier Experience team, Medical
Logistics Coordinators and Flier Relations representatives. The ease and reliability of our offerings, including our ability to provide high-quality customer support, helps us
attract and retain fliers and commercial customers. Fliers depend on our Flier Relations team to resolve any issues relating to our services, such as flight operations policies,
flight cancellations, or scheduling changes. Transplant centers depend on our logistics coordinators to monitor and coordinate between multiple operators of air and ground
transportation, surgical teams procuring organs, organ procurement organizations providing support at the donor site, and the transplant centers that will ultimately perform the
transplant on the recipient. Our ability to provide effective and timely support is largely dependent on our ability to attract and retain skilled employees who can support our
fliers and Medical Customers and are sufficiently knowledgeable about our services. As we continue to grow our business and improve our platform, we will face challenges
related to providing quality support at scale. Any failure to provide efficient customer support, or a market perception that we do not maintain high-quality support, could
adversely affect our reputation, brand, business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We are subject to risks associated with climate change, including the potential increased impacts of severe weather events on our operations and infrastructure.

All climate change-related regulatory activity and developments may adversely affect our business and financial results by requiring us to reduce our emissions, make capital
investments to modernize certain aspects of our operations, or otherwise pay for our emissions. Such activity may also impact us indirectly by increasing our operating costs. In
addition, passenger demand may be negatively impacted by climate change concerns. As we consider purchasing additional aircraft, there could be additional costs and
disclosure requirements if we were to own and/or operate.
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The potential physical effects of climate change, such as increased frequency and severity of storms, floods, fires, fog, mist, freezing conditions, sea-level rise, and other
climate-related events, could affect our operations, infrastructure, and financial results. Operational impacts, such as the delay or cancellation of flights, could result in loss of
revenue. In addition, certain of our terminals are in locations susceptible to the impacts of storm-related flooding and sea-level rise, which could result in costs and loss of
revenue. We could incur significant costs to improve the climate resiliency of our infrastructure and otherwise prepare for, respond to, and mitigate such physical effects of
climate change. We are not able to accurately predict the materiality of any potential losses or costs associated with the physical effects of climate change.

Terrorist attacks, geopolitical conflict or security events may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Terrorist attacks, geopolitical conflict or security events, or the fear or threat of any of these events, could have a significant adverse effect on our business, reputation and
brand. Despite significant security measures at airports and heliports, the aviation industry remains a high-profile target for terrorist groups. Security events, primarily from
external sources but also from potential insider threats, also pose a significant risk to our passenger and organ transport operations. These events could include random acts of
violence and could occur in public areas that we cannot control. Terrorist attacks, geopolitical conflict or security events, or the fear or threat of any of these events, even if not
made directly on or involving the aviation industry, could have a significant negative impact on us by discouraging passengers from flying, leading to decreased revenue. In
addition, potential costs from these types of events include increased security costs, impacts from avoiding flight paths over areas in which conflict is occurring or could occur,
such as flight redirections or cancellations, reputational harm and other costs. If any or all of these types of events occur, they could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may require substantial additional funding to finance our operations, but adequate additional financing may not be available when we need it, on acceptable terms, or
at all.

In the future, we could be required to raise capital through public or private financing or other arrangements. Such financing may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all,
and our failure to raise capital when needed could harm our business. For example, unfavorable economic conditions, whether related to inflation, interest rates, economic
instability or otherwise have, resulted in, and may continue to result in, significant disruption and volatility of global financial markets that could adversely impact our ability to
access capital. We may sell equity securities or debt securities in one or more transactions at prices and in a manner we may determine from time to time. If we sell any such
securities in subsequent transactions, our current investors may be materially diluted. Any debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants and could reduce our
operational flexibility or profitability. If we cannot raise funds on acceptable terms, we may not be able to grow our business or respond to competitive pressures.

As part of our growth strategy, we may engage in future acquisitions that could disrupt our business and have an adverse impact on our financial condition.

We have and intend to continue to explore potential strategic acquisitions of assets and businesses, including partnerships, aircraft, route acquisitions or joint ventures with third
parties. Our management has limited experience with acquiring and integrating acquired strategic assets and companies into our business, and there is no assurance that any
future acquisitions will be successful. We may not be successful in identifying appropriate targets for such transactions. In addition, we may not be able to continue the
operational success of such businesses or successfully finance or integrate any assets or businesses that we acquire or with which we form a partnership or joint venture. We
have and may continue to have impairment of intangible assets or goodwill related to our acquisitions. For example, during the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company
recognized an impairment charge for the exclusive rights to air transportation services associated with Blade Canada in the amount of $5.8 million, which was included in
intangible impairment expense within general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and is part of the Passenger segment. The impairment
resulted from a modification to the November 30, 2021 agreement with Helijet, effective June 1, 2024, which included an earlier termination date of August 31, 2025
(previously an initial term of five years with automatic renewals for successive two-year periods). During the year ended December 31, 2024, the termination date was
subsequently advanced to August 31, 2024.

Furthermore, the integration of any acquisition may divert management’s time and resources from our core business and disrupt our operations or may result in conflicts with
our business. Any acquisition, partnership, or joint venture may reduce our cash reserves, may negatively affect our earnings and financial performance, and, to the extent
financed with the proceeds of debt, may increase our indebtedness, and, to the extent acquired or financed through equity issuance, dilute our current investors. We cannot
ensure that any acquisition, partnership, or joint venture we make will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
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We may be unable to manage our future growth effectively, which could make it difficult to execute our business strategy.

If our operations continue to grow as planned, of which there can be no assurance, we will need to expand our sales, marketing, operations, and the number of aircraft operators
with whom we do business. Our continued growth could increase the strain on our resources, and we could experience operating difficulties, including difficulties in hiring,
training, and managing an increasing number of employees. These difficulties may result in the erosion of our brand image, divert the attention of management and key
employees, and impact financial and operational results. In addition, in order to continue to increase our presence, we expect to incur substantial expenses as we continue to
attempt to increase our route offerings, flight frequency, passenger terminal footprint, and employee base. The continued expansion of our business may also require additional
space for administrative support. If we are unable to drive commensurate growth, these costs, which include lease commitments, marketing costs and headcount, could result in
decreased margins and reduced profitability, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We are highly dependent on our senior management team and other highly skilled personnel. If we are not successful in attracting or retaining highly qualified personnel,
we may not be able to successfully implement our business strategy.

Our success depends, in significant part, on the continued services of our senior management team and on our ability to attract, motivate, develop, and retain a sufficient number
of other highly skilled personnel, including finance, marketing, sales, technology, legal and support personnel. We believe that the breadth and depth of our senior management
team’s experience across multiple industries will be instrumental to our success. The loss of any one or more members of our senior management team, for any reason,
including resignation or retirement, could impair our ability to execute our business strategy and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results
of operations. Additionally, our financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected if we are unable to attract and retain skilled employees to support our
operations and growth.

Our company culture has contributed to our success, and if we cannot maintain this culture as we grow, our business could be harmed.

We believe that our company culture, which promotes accountability, attention to detail, communication, and support for others, has been critical to our success. We face a
number of challenges that may affect our ability to sustain our corporate culture, including:

• failure to identify, attract, reward, and retain people in leadership positions in our organization who share and further our culture, values, and mission;

• the increasing size and geographic diversity of our workforce;

• competitive pressures to move in directions that may divert us from our mission, vision, and values;

• the continued challenges of a rapidly-evolving industry;

• the increasing need to develop expertise in new areas of business that affect us;

• negative perception of our treatment of employees or our response to employee sentiment related to political or social causes or actions of management; and

• the integration of new personnel and businesses from acquisitions.

If we are not able to maintain our culture, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Our financial results may fluctuate from quarter to quarter, which makes our results difficult to predict and may cause our results to fall short of expectations.

Our financial results may fluctuate from quarter to quarter due to a number of factors, including but not limited to the seasonality of our fliers’ travel patterns and the demands
of our Medical Customers, both of which are unpredictable and could impact the volume of air transportation missions we arrange in any given quarter. Our revenue from sales
may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter, and our future quarterly and annual expenses as a percentage of our revenue may be significantly different from those we
have recorded in the past. Our financial results in some quarters may fall below expectations. Comparing our financial results on a period-to-period basis may not be
meaningful, and you should not rely on our past results as an indication of our future performance.
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Operation of aircraft involves a degree of inherent risk. We could suffer losses and adverse publicity stemming from any accident involving small aircraft, helicopters, or
charter flights and, in particular, from any accident involving our third-party aircraft operators.

The operation of aircraft is subject to various risks, and demand for air transportation has and may in the future be impacted by accidents or other safety issues regardless of
whether such accidents or issues involve Blade flights, our third-party aircraft operators, aircraft flown by our third-party aircraft operators or Blade-owned aircraft. Air
transportation hazards, such as adverse weather conditions and fire and mechanical failures, may result in death or injury to personnel and passengers which could impact client
or passenger confidence in a particular aircraft type or the air transportation services industry as a whole and could lead to a reduction in volume, particularly if such accidents or
disasters were due to a safety fault. Safety statistics for air travel are reported by multiple parties, including the Department of Transportation (“DOT”) and National
Transportation Safety Board (“NTSB”), and are often separated into categories of transportation. Because our services include a variety of transportation methods including
both aircraft and ground vehicles, our customers may have a hard time determining how safe our services are, and their confidence in the safety of our services may be impacted
by, among other things, the classification of accidents in ways that reflect poorly on urban air mobility services, organ transportation services, air medical transportation or the
transportation methods they utilize.

We believe that safety and reliability are two of the primary attributes fliers consider when selecting air transportation services. Our failure, or that of our third-party operators,
to maintain standards of safety and reliability that are satisfactory to our customers may adversely impact our ability to retain current customers and attract new customers. We
are at risk of adverse publicity stemming from any public incident involving our company, our people, or our brand. Such an incident could involve the actual or alleged
behavior of any of our employees or third-party aircraft operators. Further, if our personnel, one of our third-party operators’ aircraft, one of our third-party operators’ Blade-
branded aircraft, a Blade-owned aircraft, or a type of aircraft in our third-party operators’ fleet that is used by us is involved in a public incident, accident, catastrophe, or
regulatory enforcement action, which could be attributed, in part, to a lack of sufficient safety auditing, we could be exposed to significant reputational harm and potential legal
liability. Blade-branded aircraft have in the past been involved in accidents and despite our best efforts, there can be no guarantee that such events will not occur in the future.
The insurance we carry may be inapplicable or inadequate to cover any such incident, accident, catastrophe, or action. In the event that our insurance is inapplicable or
inadequate, we may be forced to bear substantial losses from an incident or accident. In addition, any such incident, accident, catastrophe, or action involving our employees, a
Blade-owned aircraft, one of the Blade-branded aircraft used by us belonging to our third-party operators’ fleet (or personnel and aircraft of our third-party operators), or the
same type of aircraft as used by our third-party operators could create an adverse public perception, which could harm our reputation, resulting in current or prospective
customers being reluctant to use our services and adversely impacting our business, results of operations, and financial condition. If one or more of our third-party aircraft
operators were to suffer an accident or lose the ability to fly certain aircraft due to safety concerns or investigations, we may be required to cancel or delay certain flights until
replacement aircraft and personnel are obtained.

We may purchase additional aircraft in the future.

Purchasing additional aircraft could change aspects of our business model and include a significant investment that could affect our financial condition, cost structures and
cause operational disruptions. Though we intend to continue to service the majority of our demand utilizing aircraft that are owned and operated by third parties, purchasing
aircraft represents an evolution of our “asset-light” business model, as there are risks associated with owning or operating any number of aircraft. The value of our aircraft could
be impacted in future periods by changes in supply and demand for these aircraft, including as a result of the grounding of aircraft, which could adversely impact our business,
operating results, cash flows and financial condition. In addition, we may be required to recognize losses in the future due to a decline in the fair values of certain tangible
assets, including these aircraft.

Additionally, we may incur substantial maintenance costs as part of our owning aircraft. Maintaining a fleet of aircraft will require regular maintenance work, which may cause
operational disruption. Our inability to perform or to contract timely maintenance and repairs can result in our aircraft being underutilized which could have an adverse impact
on our business, financial condition and results of operations. On occasion, airframe manufacturers and/or regulatory authorities require mandatory or recommended
modifications to be made across a particular fleet which may mean having to ground a particular type of aircraft. This may cause operational disruption to, and impose
significant costs on us. Furthermore, our operations in remote locations, where delivery of components and parts or transportation of maintenance personnel could take a
significant period of time, could result in delays in our ability to maintain and repair our aircraft.

Ownership of aircraft is subject to various legal, financial and reputational risks stemming from catastrophic disasters, crashes, mechanical failures and collisions, which may
result in loss of life, personal injury and/or damage to property and equipment. If any of these events were to occur, we could experience loss of revenue, termination of
customer contracts, higher insurance rates, litigation, regulatory investigations and enforcement actions (including potential grounding of our
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fleet and suspension or revocation of our operating authorities) and damage to our reputation and customer relationships. Moreover, any aircraft accident or incident, even if
fully insured, and operated by a third-party operator, could create a public perception that we are less safe or reliable than other air transportation companies, which could cause
our customers to lose confidence in us and switch to other air transportation companies or other means of transportation.

If we choose to operate some aircraft directly in the future, versus utilizing a third-party, we would be subject to additional risks.

Our management has limited experience with operating aircraft. We may not be successful in identifying all potential costs and regulatory requirements related to the operation
and maintenance of aircraft, and we may incur considerable costs.

The operation of aircraft is subject to various risks, including catastrophic disasters, crashes, mechanical failures and collisions, which may result in loss of life, personal injury
and/or damage to property and equipment. We may experience accidents in the future if we choose to operate some aircraft directly (either on our own or via the acquisition of a
third-party). These risks could endanger the safety of our customers, our employees, third parties, equipment, organs and other medical cargo, and the environment. If any of
these events were to occur, we could experience loss of revenue, termination of customer contracts, higher insurance rates, litigation, regulatory investigations and enforcement
actions and damage to our reputation and customer relationships. In addition, to the extent an accident occurs with an aircraft we operate or charter, we could be held liable for
resulting damages, which may involve claims from injured passengers, and survivors of deceased passengers, our Medical customers and property owners.

There can be no assurance that the amount of our insurance coverage available in the event of such losses would be adequate to cover such losses, or that we would not be
forced to bear substantial losses from such events, regardless of our insurance coverage. Moreover, any aircraft accident or incident, even if fully insured, and whether
involving us or other private aircraft operators, could create a public perception that we are less safe or reliable than other private aircraft operators, which could cause our
customers to lose confidence in us and switch to other private aircraft operators or other means of transportation. In addition, any aircraft accident or incident, whether involving
us or other private aircraft operators, could also affect the public’s view of industry safety, which may reduce the amount of trust by our customers.

We are especially vulnerable to delays, cancellations, or flight rescheduling, as we rely on maintaining a high daily aircraft usage rate, and need to aggregate fliers on our
by-the-seat flights to lower direct costs to third-party operators.

Our success depends in part on maintaining a high daily aircraft usage rate (i.e., the number of revenue generating hours flown on average in a day), which can be achieved in
part by reducing turnaround times at heliports and airports. Aircraft usage rate is reduced by delays caused by a variety of factors, many of which are beyond our control,
including adverse weather conditions, security requirements, air traffic congestion, and unscheduled maintenance. Reduced aircraft usage rates may limit our ability to achieve
and maintain profitability as well as lead to customer dissatisfaction.

In our Passenger segment, our success also depends on our ability to generate more revenue per flight by maintaining high flier utilization rates (i.e., the number of seats
purchased on each flight). Flier utilization rates may be reduced by a variety of factors, including the introduction of new routes or schedules. In some cases, we may choose to
offer flights with low flier utilization rates to increase or maintain flier satisfaction and brand recognition and for marketing or other purposes. We have utilized certain
commuter passes and bulk purchasing options to increase our flier utilization rates in the past; however, these products may be less appealing due to changes in consumer
preferences, discretionary spending, and other economic factors.

While historically we have maintained daily aircraft and flier utilization rates sufficient to offset the costs we pay to operators, we may be unable to maintain and increase
utilization rates as our business grows and expands. The risk of delays, cancellations, and flight rescheduling, which could negatively impact our utilization rates, may increase
as we expand our business to include new markets and destinations, more frequent flights on current routes, and expanded facilities.

Our Short Distance business concentrated in a small number of metropolitan areas and airports which makes us particularly susceptible to natural disasters, outbreaks and
pandemics, economic, social, political, weather, growth constraints, and regulatory conditions or other circumstances affecting these metropolitan areas.

We derive a significant portion of our Short Distance revenue from flights that either originate from or fly into heliports and airports located in or near New York, New York,
the South of France and Monaco. As a result of our geographic concentration, our business and financial results are particularly susceptible to natural disasters, outbreaks and
pandemics, economic, social, political, weather, growth constraints, and regulatory conditions or other circumstances in each of these metropolitan areas. A significant
interruption or disruption in service at one of the locations where we have a significant
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volume of flights could result in the cancellation, reduction or delay of a significant portion of our flights and, as a result, could have a severe impact on our business, results of
operations, and financial condition. In addition, any changes to local laws or regulations within these key metropolitan areas that affect our ability to operate or increase our
operating expenses in these markets would have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results.

Disruption of operations at the airports or heliports where we operate, whether caused by labor relations, utility or communications issues or fuel shortages, could harm our
business. Certain governing bodies, airports or heliports may regulate flight operations, such as limiting or restricting the number of landings, which could reduce our
operations. Bans or restrictions on our operations or the introduction of any new permitting requirements could similarly impact our business. In addition, demand for our urban
air mobility services could be impacted if drop-offs or pick-ups of fliers become inconvenient because of airport rules or regulations, or more expensive for fliers because of
airport-imposed fees, which would adversely affect our business, financial condition, and operating results.

Our concentration in large metropolitan areas and heavily trafficked airports also makes our business susceptible to an outbreak of a contagious disease, such as the Ebola virus,
Middle East Respiratory Syndrome, Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome, H1N1 influenza virus, avian flu, Zika virus, COVID-19, or any other similar illness, both due to the
risk of a contagious disease being introduced into the metropolitan area through the high volume of travelers flying into and out of such airports and the ease at which
contagious diseases can spread through densely populated areas, as seen with the spread of COVID-19.

Natural disasters, including tornados, hurricanes, floods and earthquakes, wildfires and severe weather conditions, such as heavy rains, strong winds, dense fog, blizzards, or
snowstorms, may damage or impact our facilities, those of third-party aircraft operators, or otherwise disrupt flights into or out of the airports from which our flights arrive or
depart. For example, our Northeast United States operations are subject to severe winter weather conditions. Less severe weather conditions, such as rainfall, snowfall, fog, mist,
freezing conditions, or extreme temperatures, may also impact the ability for flights to occur as planned, which could reduce our sales and profitability and may result in
additional expenses related to rescheduling of flights.

The occurrence of one or more natural disasters, severe weather events, epidemic or pandemic outbreaks, terrorist attacks, or disruptive political events in regions where we
operate and where our facilities are located, or where our third-party aircraft operators’ facilities are located, could adversely affect our business.

Our business is dependent on the availability of aircraft fuel. Continued periods of significant disruption in the supply of aircraft fuel could have a significant negative
impact on consumer demand, our operating results, and liquidity.

Although aircraft operators are currently able to obtain adequate supplies of aircraft fuel, we cannot predict the future availability. Natural disasters (including hurricanes or
similar events in the U.S. Southeast and on the Gulf Coast where a significant portion of domestic refining capacity is located), political disruptions or wars involving oil-
producing countries, economic sanctions imposed against oil-producing countries (for example, the wars in Ukraine and the Middle East) or specific industry participants,
changes in fuel-related governmental policy, tariffs implemented by the U.S. on countries where aircraft fuel is sourced from, the strength of the U.S. dollar against foreign
currencies, changes in the cost to transport or store petroleum products, changes in access to petroleum product pipelines and terminals, speculation in the energy futures
markets, changes in aircraft fuel production capacity, environmental concerns and other unpredictable events may result in fuel supply shortages or distribution challenges in the
future. Any of these factors or events could cause a disruption in or increased demands on oil production, refinery operations, pipeline capacity, or terminal access and possibly
result in diminished availability of aircraft fuel supply for our third-party aircraft operators or our potentially owned aircraft. The impact of such events may limit our ability to
expand internationally, attract and retain fliers and commercial customers, and our third-party aircraft operators’ ability to perform our by-the-seat flights, which could result in
loss of revenue and adversely affect our ability to provide our services.

Our insurance, or that of our third-party aircraft operators, may become too difficult or expensive for us or them to obtain. Increases in insurance costs or reductions in
insurance coverage may materially and adversely impact our results of operations and financial position.

Hazards are inherent in the aviation industry and may result in loss of life and property, potentially exposing us to substantial liability claims arising from the operation of
aircraft. Safe operation of aircraft is primarily the responsibility of our third-party operators and they are primarily held liable for accidents, thus incidents related to aircraft
operation are covered by our third-party operators’ insurance. Meanwhile, we maintain general liability aviation premise insurance and non-owned aircraft liability coverage. In
addition, we maintain a number of non-aviation insurance policies, including directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, general liability insurance, property insurance,
employment practices insurance, cyber insurance, and workers’ compensation insurance, among others.
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A limited number of insurance underwriters provide coverage for us and our third-party aircraft operators. Insurance underwriters are required by various federal and state
regulations to maintain minimum levels of reserves for known and expected claims. However, there can be no assurance that underwriters have established adequate reserves to
fund existing and future claims. The number of aviation accidents and the impact of general economic conditions on underwriters may result in increases in premiums above the
rate of inflation. Additionally, under the terms of all of our aircraft operating agreements, our third-party aircraft operators have agreed to indemnify us against liability arising
from the operation of aircraft and to maintain insurance covering such liability. However, there can be no assurance there will be no challenge to the indemnification rights or
that the aircraft operator will have sufficient assets or insurance coverage to fulfill its indemnity obligations.

We believe our level of coverage is customary in the industry and adequate to protect against claims. However, there can be no assurance that our current level of coverage, or
that of our third-party operators, will be sufficient to cover potential claims or that present levels of coverage will be available in the future at reasonable cost. If insurance
coverage is not available, we may breach regulatory requirements or contractual arrangements requiring that specific insurance be maintained. Further, we expect our insurance
costs to increase as we add routes, increase flight and passenger volumes, add owned aircraft to our fleet and expand into new markets. If we decide to purchase additional
aircraft and/or operate aircraft, there could be additional insurance costs related to aviation hull, aviation liability, aviation premises, hangar, product, and/or war risk insurance
coverages. There is no assurance that insurance carriers would be able to provide us with sufficient insurance coverage or affordable premiums. It is too early to determine what
impact, if any, the adoption of EVA will have on our insurance costs.

If the costs of maintaining adequate insurance coverage increase for us or our third-party operators significantly in the future, our operating results could be materially adversely
affected and we may have to increase the prices paid by our fliers, which could adversely affect demand for our services and harm our business. Likewise, if any of our current
insurance coverage should become unavailable to us or become economically impractical, we would be required to operate our business without indemnity from commercial
insurance providers. If we operate our business without adequate or any insurance, we could be responsible for paying claims or judgments against us which could adversely
affect our results of operations or financial condition.

Risks Related to our Medical Segment

Our reliance on contractual relationships with certain transplant centers, hospitals and Organ Procurement Organizations and other strategic alliances could adversely
affect our business.

We rely significantly on contractual relationships with certain transplant centers, hospitals and Organ Procurement Organizations and other strategic partners and alliances for
portions of our Medical product line business, to expand into new markets and deepen our presence in existing markets. In recent years, we have entered into strategic business
relationships with, and responded to requests for proposals from, among others, Organ Procurement Organizations, hospitals and transplant centers to increase opportunities for
growth in our Medical product line. Our Medical product line growth is highly dependent on the procurement of human organs for transplant by our Medical Customers.

If our Medical Customers cannot procure human organs for transplant or the industry experiences a shortage of human organs, potentially due to the reduction of opioid deaths,
motor vehicle deaths, or stricter donor eligibility criteria, we may face challenges in fulfilling our contractual obligations with third-party aircraft and ground operators. This
could negatively impact our reputation, ability to generate increased revenue and achieve profitability.

Additionally, if new organ preservation technology or the emergence of animal-derived, synthetic, or lab-grown organs makes rapid, dedicated air transportation of human
organs unnecessary, our Medical Customers may no longer require our services to successfully complete organ transplants for their patients, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Our Medical product line relies on a concentrated number of key Medical Customers, including transplant centers, hospitals, and Organ Procurement Organizations.

A loss of one or more of our key Medical customers, a reduction in their organ procurement activity, or a shift in their transportation preferences could materially impact our
revenue and profitability. Additionally, consolidation within the healthcare industry or changes in procurement practices could further increase our dependency on a limited
number of customers, heightening the risks associated with customer concentration.

The organ transportation market is highly competitive and some providers benefit from proprietary organ preservation technology or additional capabilities that could put
us at a disadvantage.
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We compete for organ transportation business primarily on our ability to provide reliable, end-to-end air and ground transportation at competitive pricing. Increasingly, we
compete directly with manufacturers of organ preservation equipment that also offer transportation or with providers that offer additional services, such as surgical organ
recovery or Normothermic Regional Perfusion, that our customers find valuable. We may face increased competition as our Medical Customers may prefer a streamlined
logistics offering, including services or technology that we cannot provide, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial
condition. Additionally, low-cost transportation alternatives, such as drones or other emerging logistics technologies, could further intensify competition and impact our market
position.

Furthermore, the organ transportation market is highly regulated and continually evolving. In order to continue to offer competitive organ transport solutions, we have pursued,
and may continue to pursue, acquisitions related to our Medical segment. All future acquisitions are subject to various conditions, including regulatory approvals. Acquisitions
may encounter intense scrutiny under federal and state antitrust laws. Any delays, injunctions, conditions or modifications by any government agencies could have a negative
effect on us and result in the abandonment of all or part of attractive acquisition opportunities. Additionally, as we expand our Medical offerings, we have been in the past, and
could be in the future, the subject of anticompetitive litigation by the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”), the Department of Justice (“DOJ”) and the Department of Health and
Human Services (“HHS”).

Our business depends on the availability of organ donors and viable donor organs, which are influenced by factors beyond our control, and any decrease in the availability
of viable donor organs could have a material adverse effect on demand for our services and results of operations.

The success of our medical transport operations relies on the continued availability of organ donors and viable donor organs. The supply of donor organs is subject to numerous
factors outside our control, including changes in organ donation rates, advancements in medical technology, legislative, regulatory or policy changes affecting organ
procurement and allocation, and shifts in public attitudes toward organ donation. Additionally, unforeseen events such as pandemics, public health crises, or changes in accident
rates may impact the availability of donor organs. If the supply of viable organs declines or if legislative, regulatory or policy changes limit our ability to efficiently transport
them, our medical transport business could be adversely affected, which could negatively impact our financial condition and growth prospects.

Reimbursement and funding for medical transport services may be insufficient, adversely affecting our revenue and profitability.

Our ability to generate revenue from our medical transport services, depends on our customers’ ability to secure adequate reimbursement and funding from government
programs, private insurers, and other third-party payers. If transplant centers and/or Organ Procurement Organizations are unable to obtain sufficient reimbursement for the costs
associated with organ transport, our business could be adversely affected. In the U.S., reimbursement for these services may be influenced by Medicare, Medicaid, and private
insurers, which have substantial discretion over what is considered “reasonable and necessary.” A lack of adequate reimbursement could limit demand for our services,
particularly if there is insufficient data supporting the benefits of organ transport. In markets where reimbursement for organ transport services is unavailable or limited,
hospitals and transplant centers may seek more cost-effective alternatives, reducing our potential revenue.

Even if existing reimbursement and funding arrangements from government programs and third-party payers currently make our services or related products cost-effective for
hospitals, these laws and regulations are subject to change. Ongoing efforts by governments, insurance companies, and other payers to contain or reduce healthcare costs could
result in legislative or regulatory reforms that significantly reduce or eliminate reimbursement for the services we provide, including organ transport or any related devices.

If hospitals or transplant centers in the U.S. are unable to obtain sufficient reimbursement or funding for our services, they may lack the economic incentives to continue using
them. Additionally, if hospitals or surgeons determine that the benefits of our services do not justify the cost, our business could be adversely affected, which could negatively
impact our financial condition and growth prospects.

The transport of organs involves numerous risks and delivery failures could expose us to liability and have a material adverse effect on our business and reputation.

Our medical transport operations, rely on precise timing and coordination to ensure the viability of organs for transplantation. Organs have strict ischemic time limits, meaning
any delays—whether due to weather conditions, air traffic control restrictions, aircraft availability, maintenance issues, or logistical inefficiencies—could result in compromised
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organ quality, rendering them unusable. Even minor deviations from planned timelines can significantly reduce the chances of a successful transplant, potentially leading to
adverse patient outcomes and reputational damage.

Beyond delays, improper handling, temperature deviations, or failure to maintain required storage conditions during transport could further impact organ viability. Malfunctions
in equipment, software failures, or human errors in monitoring transport conditions could compromise organs. Any such incidents could result in liability claims, regulatory
scrutiny, and financial repercussions. Additionally, failures in organ delivery could damage our reputation and erode trust with hospitals, Organ Procurement Organizations, and
transplant centers, potentially jeopardizing future partnerships.

While we employ rigorous operational protocols, including redundancies in transport routes, temperature-controlled storage solutions, and close coordination with medical
teams, the inherent unpredictability of medical transport presents ongoing risks.

Advancements in technology could make ground or commercial air transport of organs more viable, reducing the need for our private air transportation services.

Our business depends in part on the demand for private air transportation of organs for transplant. However, advancements in medical preservation technology or improvements
in commercial air logistics could reduce the need for our services. Innovations such as enhanced organ preservation techniques, longer viability windows for donor organs, or
dedicated organ transport networks using commercial carriers could shift demand away from private air transport. If these or other technological developments decrease the
reliance on our medical transport services, our business, financial condition, and growth prospects could be adversely affected.

The provision of healthcare services is a heavily regulated industry and our medical transportation operations and services may be impacted by regulatory changes,
legislative reforms, and civil or criminal enforcement actions.

Healthcare policy changes, including recently enacted or potential future legislation reforming the U.S. healthcare system, could harm our business, financial condition, and
results of operations. The U.S. federal and state governments continue to propose and implement healthcare legislation and regulatory changes that may impact the availability,
cost, and reimbursement of medical transportation services, including organ procurement logistics. Ongoing healthcare reform efforts, particularly those related to organ
procurement and transplantation, could materially affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. For example, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid
Services (CMS) issued regulations in 2020 and 2021 revising Medicare conditions of participation for organ procurement organizations and adjusting organ acquisition payment
policies for transplant centers, donor hospitals, and organ procurement organizations. Additionally, the 2023 Securing the U.S. Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network
Act granted the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA) increased oversight over the Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network (OPTN), including
establishing an independent board, allowing both for-profit and non-profit entities to participate in contracts, and removing funding caps.

Future federal or state healthcare legislation, regulations, and policies may further impact coverage and reimbursement for organ procurement and medical transport services.
Any reduction in reimbursement rates, limitations on coverage, or other regulatory changes could decrease demand for our services and exert downward pressure on pricing.
Such changes could materially and adversely impact our operations, financial condition, and overall business performance. Current proposals and directives to change or
modify the implementation of such laws and regulations, whether legislative, regulatory, or in the form of executive orders or other executive actions, create areas of uncertainty
and, if such proposals are enacted or actions are implemented, may create the potential for material adverse impacts on our business.

Changes in Medicare reimbursement policies, increased enforcement of healthcare regulations, or modifications to applicable laws could impact our customers' ability to receive
reimbursement, which may, in turn, affect demand for our services. Additionally, evolving regulatory interpretations or heightened scrutiny of business arrangements in the
healthcare sector could require us to modify our operations, increase compliance costs, or expose us to potential liability. Any failure to comply with applicable laws and
regulations, even inadvertently, could result in significant penalties, reputational harm, or other adverse effects on our business. Our business is governed by comprehensive
federal, state, and local laws and regulations relating to the healthcare industry. Though we are not directly reimbursed by Medicare for any of our services, our customers—
including healthcare providers and organ procurement organizations—are often reimbursed by Medicare for a portion of the services we provide to them. As a result, we may be
subject to various healthcare regulations, including the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, the Stark Law, the False Claims Act, and other fraud, waste, and abuse laws. The federal
Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits the offer, payment, solicitation, or receipt of any form of remuneration to induce, or in return for, the referral of individuals for the furnishing or
arranging for the furnishing of any item or service for which payment may be made in whole or in part under Medicare or other governmental health programs or in return for
the purchase, lease, or order of items or services, or arranging for or recommending the purchase, lease or order of any good, facility, item or service that is covered by Medicare
or other federal governmental health
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programs. The federal Anti-Kickback Statute has been interpreted to apply to, among others, financial arrangements between entities that have the ability to refer and generate
business that is subject to healthcare reimbursement. Sanctions for violating federal and state anti-kickback laws may include criminal and civil fines and exclusion from federal
and state healthcare programs. While there are a number of statutory exceptions and regulatory safe harbors protecting some common activities from prosecution, the
exceptions and safe harbors are drawn narrowly and practices that involve remuneration may be subject to scrutiny if they do not qualify for an exception or safe harbor. A
person or entity does not need to have specific intent or knowledge to violate in order to have committed a violation, and a claim including an item or a service resulting from a
violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the FCA described below.

The federal false claims laws, including the civil FCA, among other things, impose criminal and civil penalties against individuals or entities for knowingly presenting, or
causing to be presented, to the federal government, claims for payment or approval that are false or fraudulent, for knowingly making, using or causing to be made or used, a
false record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim, or for knowingly making or causing to be made a false statement to avoid, decrease or conceal an obligation to
pay money to the federal government. We may be subject to audits, reviews and investigation of our practices and arrangements and the federal government might conclude that
they violate the FCA, the Anti-Kickback Statute and/or other federal and state laws governing fraud and abuse. Further, the FCA can be enforced by private citizens through
civil qui tam actions.

Risks Related to our Passenger Segment

The markets for our Passenger offerings are still in relatively early stages of growth, and if such markets do not continue to grow, grow more slowly than we expect, or fail
to grow as large as we expect, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Blade’s Passenger urban air mobility services have grown rapidly since we launched our business in 2014, however, our service offerings are still relatively new, and it is
uncertain to what extent market acceptance will continue to grow, if at all.

Further, we currently operate our Passenger business in a limited number of metropolitan areas. The success of these markets to date and the opportunity for future growth in
these markets may not be representative of the potential market for urban air mobility in other metropolitan areas. Our success will depend to a substantial extent on regulatory
approval and availability of EVA technology, as well as the willingness of commuters and travelers to widely adopt urban air mobility as an alternative for ground
transportation. If the public does not perceive urban air mobility as beneficial, or chooses not to adopt urban air mobility as a result of concerns regarding safety, affordability, or
for other reasons, then the market for our offerings may not further develop, may develop more slowly than we expect, or may not achieve the growth potential we expect, any
of which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Prior to our offerings, the New York urban air mobility airport transfer market had not been served on a by-the-seat air transportation basis since U.S. Helicopter offered
helicopter service in the 2000s. Furthermore, some of the other urban air mobility markets where we plan to expand have never had by-the-seat helicopter services. As a result,
the number of potential fliers using our urban air mobility services cannot be predicted with any degree of certainty, and we cannot provide assurance that we will be able to
operate in a profitable manner in any of our current or targeted future markets.

Our more recent entry into the European market presents the risk of limited brand recognition in this region. As a result, the lack of brand recognition may result in difficulties
in gaining and retaining fliers and building partnerships with local entities. In addition, competition in this new market may be strong, with established players and new entrants
offering similar services. The potential intense competition and limited brand recognition could make it difficult for us to establish a strong market position and generate
profitable returns.

Growth of our business will require significant investments in our infrastructure, technology, and marketing and sales efforts. Historically, cash flow from operations has not
been sufficient to support these needs. If our business does not generate the level of available cash flow required to support these investments, our results of operations will be
negatively affected. Further, our ability to effectively manage growth and expansion of our operations will also require us to enhance our operational systems, internal controls
and infrastructure, human resources policies, and reporting systems. These enhancements will require significant capital expenditures and allocation of valuable management
and employee resources.

The success of our Passenger segment will be highly dependent on our ability to effectively market and sell air transportation as a substitute for conventional methods of
transportation.

We generate a substantial portion of our revenue from the sale of air transportation. Our success depends, in part, on our ability to cost-effectively attract new fliers, retain
existing fliers, and increase utilization of our platform by existing fliers.
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Historically, we have made, and expect that we will need to continue to make, significant investments and implement strategic initiatives in order to attract new fliers, such as
flier acquisition campaigns and the launching of new scheduled routes. These investments and initiatives have not always been and may not in the future be effective in
generating sales growth or profits. In addition, marketing campaigns can be expensive and may not result in the acquisition of additional fliers in a cost-effective manner, if at
all. As our brand becomes more widely known, future marketing campaigns or brand content may not attract new fliers at the same rate as past campaigns or brand content. If
we are unable to attract new fliers, our business, financial condition, and results of operations will be adversely affected.

Our fliers have a wide variety of options for transportation, including business aviation, commercial airlines, private aircraft operators, personal vehicles, rental cars, taxis,
public transit, and ride-sharing offerings. To expand our flier base, we must appeal to new fliers who have historically used other forms of transportation. If fliers do not
perceive our urban air mobility services to be reliable, safe, and cost-effective, or if we fail to offer new and relevant services and features on our platform, we may not be able
to attract or retain fliers or increase their utilization of our platform. If we fail to continue to grow our flier base, retain existing fliers, or increase the overall utilization of our
platform, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

If we are not able to successfully enter into new markets and offer new routes and services and enhance our existing offerings, our business, financial condition, and
results of operations could be adversely affected.

Growth in our Passenger segment will depend in part on our ability to successfully enter into new markets, create and introduce new routes, and expand our existing routes by
adding more frequent flights. Significant changes to our existing routes or the introduction of new and unproven routes may require us to obtain and maintain applicable
permits, authorizations, or other regulatory approvals. If these new or expanded routes are unsuccessful or fail to attract a sufficient number of fliers to be profitable, or we are
unable to bring new or expanded routes to market efficiently, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected. Furthermore, new third-
party aircraft operator or flier demands regarding our services, including the availability of superior routes or a deterioration in the quality of our existing routes, could
negatively affect the attractiveness of our platform and the economics of our business and require us to make substantial changes to and additional investments in our routes or
our business model.

Developing and launching new routes or enhancements to our existing routes involves significant risks and uncertainties, including risks related to the reception of such routes
by existing and potential future third-party aircraft operators and fliers, increases in competition from local players who may have a better understanding of the local culture,
language and customer preferences, increases in operational complexity, unanticipated delays or challenges in implementing such routes or enhancements, increased strain on
our operational and internal resources (including an impairment of our ability to accurately forecast flier demand and the number of third-party aircraft operators using our
platform), and negative publicity in the event such new or enhanced routes are perceived to be unsuccessful. We have scaled our business rapidly, and significant new initiatives
have in the past resulted in such operational challenges affecting our business. In addition, developing and launching new routes and enhancements to our existing routes may
involve significant upfront investment, such as additional marketing and terminal build out, and such investments may not generate return on investment. Any of the foregoing
risks and challenges could negatively impact our ability to attract and retain qualified third-party aircraft operators and fliers and our ability to increase utilization of our routes
and could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We expect to face intense competition in the urban air mobility industry.

The urban air mobility industry is still developing and evolving, but we expect it to be highly competitive. Our potential competitors may be able to devote greater resources to
the development of their current and future technologies or the promotion and sale of their offerings, or offer lower prices. For example, some multimodal transportation
providers and even commercial airlines have expressed interest in air mobility, and Uber Technologies, Inc. has a significant investment in a company that is developing EVA.
Moreover, potential manufacturers of EVA may choose to develop vertically integrated businesses, or they may contract with competing air mobility service providers rather
than entering into operating contracts with us or our third-party operators, which would be a threat to our business. Our potential competitors also may establish cooperative or
strategic relationships among themselves or with third parties, including regional or national helicopter or heliport operations that we rely on to offer our urban air mobility
services, which may further enhance their resources and offerings. It is possible that domestic or foreign companies or governments, some with greater experience in the urban
air mobility industry or greater financial resources than we possess, will seek to provide products or services that compete directly or indirectly with ours in the future. Any such
foreign competitor could benefit from subsidies or other protective measures provided by its home country.

We believe our ability to compete successfully as an urban air mobility service will depend on a number of factors, which may change in the future due to increased
competition, including the price of our offerings, consumer confidence in the safety of our offerings, consumer satisfaction for the experiences we offer, and the routes,
frequency of flights, and
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availability of seats offered through our platform. If we are unable to compete successfully, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely
affected.

Our prospects and operations may be adversely affected by changes in consumer preferences, discretionary spending, and other economic conditions that affect demand for
our services.

Our Passenger business, comprised of our Short Distance and Jet and Other offerings, are vulnerable to changes in consumer preferences, discretionary spending, and other
market changes impacting luxury goods and discretionary purchases. The global economy has in the past, and will in the future, experience recessionary periods and periods of
economic instability. During such periods, our current and future users may choose not to make discretionary purchases or may reduce overall spending on discretionary
purchases. Such changes could result in reduced consumer demand for air transportation, including our urban air mobility services, or could shift demand from our urban air
mobility services to other methods of air or ground transportation for which we do not offer services. If we are unable to generate demand or there is a future shift in consumer
spending away from urban air mobility, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Our Jet and Other product line is reliant on certain customers which could impact our Passenger segment revenue.

A portion of our revenue in the Jet and Other product is concentrated in a small number of jet charter customers. The jet charter market is vulnerable to changes in consumer
preferences, discretionary spending, and other economic factors that can affect these customers’ decision to charter with us or to pursue other transportation methods, including
purchasing personal aircraft to meet their air transportation needs.

If we are unable to obtain and maintain adequate facilities and infrastructure, we may be unable to offer our existing Passenger flight schedule and to expand or change
our Passenger route network in the future, which may have a material adverse impact on our operations.

In our Passenger segment, in order to operate our existing and proposed flight schedule and, where desirable, add service along new or existing routes, we must be able to
maintain or obtain space for passenger terminals. As airports and heliports around the world become more congested, it may not be possible for us to ensure that our plans for
new service can be implemented in a commercially viable manner, given operating constraints at airports and heliports throughout our network, including those imposed by
inadequate facilities at desirable locations. Additionally, there is no assurance that we will be able to obtain necessary approvals and to make necessary infrastructure changes to
enable adoption of EVA. Any limitation on our ability to acquire or maintain space for passenger terminal operations could have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, and financial condition.

Blade leases and licenses exclusive passenger terminal infrastructure from airport and heliport operators in key markets. These leases, licenses, and permits vary in term,
ranging from month-to-month permits to multi-year use and occupancy agreements that are coterminous with the airport or heliport operator’s underlying lease with the
municipality that owns the premises. While our experience with these multi-year use and occupancy agreements have led to long-term uninterrupted usage thus far, certain
municipalities, including New York, retain the authority to terminate a heliport operator’s lease upon as short as 30 days’ notice. If a municipality exercised its termination
rights, under certain conditions, our agreements with the airport or heliport operator would concurrently terminate. Termination of one or more of our leases could negatively
impact our ability to provide services in our existing markets and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

The EVA industry may not continue to develop, EVA may not be adopted by the market or our third-party aircraft operators, EVA may not be certified by transportation
authorities, or EVA may not deliver the expected reduction in operating costs, any of which could adversely affect our prospects, business, financial condition, and results
of operations.

EVA involves a complex set of technologies, which we rely on original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”) to develop and our third-party aircraft operators to adopt. However,
before EVA can fly passengers or cargo, OEMs must receive requisite approvals from federal transportation authorities. No EVA are currently certified by the FAA for
commercial operations in the United States, and there is no assurance that OEM research and development will result in government certified aircraft that are market-viable or
commercially successful in a timely manner, or at all. In order to gain government certification, the performance, reliability, and safety of EVA must be proven, none of which
can be assured. Even if EVA are certified, individual operators must conform EVA to their licenses, which requires FAA approval, and individual pilots also must be licensed
and approved by the FAA to fly EVA, which could contribute to delays in any widespread use of EVA and potentially limit the number of EVA operators available to our
business.
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Additional challenges to the adoption of EVA, all of which are outside of our control, include:

• market acceptance of EVA;

• our ability to utilize EVA, some of which are being developed by manufacturers that intend to purse a business model that is vertically integrated with direct-to-
consumer sales and may be competitive with our offerings;

• state, federal, or municipal licensing requirements and other regulatory measures;

• necessary changes to infrastructure to enable adoption, including installation of necessary charging equipment; and

• public perception regarding the safety of EVA.

There are a number of existing laws, regulations, and standards that may apply to EVA, including standards that were not originally intended to apply to electric aircraft.
Regulatory changes that address EVA more specifically could delay the ability of OEMs to receive type certification by transportation authorities and thus delay our third-party
aircraft operators’ ability to utilize EVA for our flights. In addition, there can be no assurance that the market will accept EVA, that we will be able to execute on our business
strategy, or that our offerings utilizing EVA will be successful in the market. There may be heightened public skepticism of this nascent technology and its adopters. In
particular, there could be negative public perception surrounding EVA, including the overall safety and the potential for injuries or death occurring as a result of accidents
involving EVA, regardless of whether any such safety incidents occur involving Blade or our third-party operators. Any of the foregoing risks and challenges could adversely
affect our prospects, business, financial condition, and results of operations, and financial condition. If one or more of our third-party aircraft operators were to suffer an
accident or lose the ability to fly certain aircraft due to safety concerns or investigations, we may be required to cancel or delay certain flights until replacement aircraft and
personnel are obtained.

Our international operations and any future international expansion strategy will subject us to additional costs and risks, and our plans may not be successful.

We have started expanding our Passenger segment internationally. In 2019, we entered into a joint venture in India (our “Indian Joint Venture”), in 2021, we expanded into
Canada through the acquisition of the exclusive rights to Helijet International, Inc.’s passenger transportation services, in 2022, we expanded into Europe (France, Switzerland
and Monaco) through the acquisition of the passenger transportation services of Héli Sécurité, Azur Hélicoptère and Monacair, and we may continue to expand our international
operations into new countries. Operating outside of the United States has and may continue to require significant management attention to oversee operations across a broad
geographic area with varying regulations, customs and cultural norms, in addition to placing strain on our finance, analytics, compliance, legal, engineering, and operations
teams. We have, and may, incur significant operating expenses and may not be successful in our international expansion for a variety of reasons, including:

• recruiting and retaining talented and capable employees in foreign countries and maintaining our company culture across all of our offices;

• competition from local incumbents that better understand the local market, may market and operate more effectively, and may enjoy greater local affinity or awareness;

• differing demand dynamics, which may make our offerings less successful;

• complying with local laws and regulatory standards, including with respect to data privacy and tax;

• obtaining any required government approvals, licenses, or other authorizations;

• varying levels of Internet and mobile technology adoption and infrastructure;

• costs and exchange rate fluctuations;

• operating in jurisdictions that do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the United States; and

• limitations on the repatriation and investment of funds as well as foreign currency exchange restrictions.
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As of December 31, 2024, our European market expansion has incurred integration issues and losses, resulting in an impairment of the carrying values of the purchased
intangible assets related to our acquisition of the passenger transportation services of Héli Sécurité, Azur Hélicoptère and Monacair. The acquisition involved estimates,
assumptions, and judgments, and results have varied from our expectations, and may continue to vary, due to slower than expected business integration, lower than anticipated
operating results of the European expansion and our expectation of delays in the commercialization of EVA for use in Europe.

We hold a minority ownership stake in our Indian Joint Venture and do not hold any control rights over the operations of the business. As such, we cannot directly prevent
actions which may result in losses or negative publicity. While we have implemented various measures intended to anticipate, identify, and address the risk associated with our
lack of control, these measures may not adequately address or prevent all potential risks and may adversely impact our reputation and brand, which could adversely affect our
business, financial condition, and results of operations. In the future, we may enter into other joint ventures or licensing agreements that involve a similar lack of control, which
could adversely impact our reputation and brand.

We recently exited the Canadian market and fully impaired the value of the acquisition. While our exit agreement includes provisions to seek future collaboration with Helijet
International, Inc. following the introduction of eVTOL, such provisions are subject to mutual agreement on business terms, and there is no guarantee that we will reach a
satisfactory agreement to re-enter the Canadian market.

Our limited experience in operating our business internationally increases the risk that any potential future expansion efforts that we undertake may not be successful. If we
invest substantial time and resources to expand our operations internationally and are unable to manage these risks effectively, our business, financial condition, and results of
operations could be adversely affected. In addition, international expansion may increase our risks related to compliance with various laws and standards, including with respect
to anti-corruption, anti-bribery, trade agreements, and trade and economic sanctions.

Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third-Party Providers

We rely on our third-party operators to provide and operate aircraft. If such third-party operators do not perform adequately or terminate their relationships with us, our
costs may increase and our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We primarily rely on third-party contractors to own and operate aircraft. Should we experience complications with any of these third-party contractors or their aircraft, we may
need to delay or cancel flights. We face the risk that any of our contractors may not fulfill their contracts and deliver their services on a timely basis, or at all. We have
experienced, and may in the future experience, operational complications with our contractors. The ability of our contractors to effectively satisfy our requirements could also
be impacted by any such contractor’s financial difficulty or damage to their operations caused by fire, terrorist attack, natural disaster and public health threats. The failure of
any contractors to perform to our expectations could result in delayed or canceled flights and harm our business. Our reliance on contractors and our inability to fully control
any operational difficulties with our third-party contractors could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

If our third-party aircraft operators are unable to match our growth in demand or we are unable to add additional third-party aircraft operators to our platform to meet
demand, our costs may increase and our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We are dependent on a finite number of certificated third-party aircraft operators to primarily provide our services. In the event potential competitors establish cooperative or
strategic relationships with third-party aircraft operators in the markets we serve, offer to pay third-party aircraft operators more attractive rates or guarantee a higher volume of
flights than we offer, we may not have access to the necessary number of aircraft to achieve our planned growth. Though we have successfully incentivized our operators to add
aircraft to support our growth in the past, there is no guarantee we will be able to continue doing so without incurring costs. If our third-party aircraft operators are unable or
unwilling to add aircraft, or are only able to do so at significantly increased expense, or otherwise do not have capacity or desire to support our growth, or we are unable to add
new operators on reasonable terms, or at all, our business and results of operations could be adversely affected. As the urban air mobility market grows, we expect competition
for third-party aircraft operators to increase. Further, we expect that as competition in the urban air mobility market grows, the use of exclusive contractual arrangements with
third-party aircraft operators, sometimes requiring volume guarantees, may increase, as may the cost of securing their services.
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Transportation for the hearts, lungs and livers that make up the vast majority of our Medical product line is typically requested only hours before the required departure time.
Our ability to successfully fulfill these requests is the primary metric by which Medical Customers evaluate our performance. The short turnaround times required in our
Medical product line necessitate dedicated aircraft and crews. Historically, the combination of our Passenger and Medical demand has been enough to incentivize operators to
provide dedicated aircraft and crews for this purpose, but there is no guarantee that will continue, particularly if demand for private aircraft continues to increase. As a result, we
may need to own and/or operate additional aircraft in the future in order to maintain access to the number of aircraft required to support or growing business; ownership and
operation of aircraft would result in additional risks.

If we encounter problems with any of our third-party aircraft operators or third-party service providers, such as workforce disruptions, our operations could be adversely
affected by a resulting decline in revenue or negative public perception about our services.

Due to our reliance on third parties aircraft operators, we are subject to the risk of disruptions to their operations, which has in the past and may in the future result from many of
the same risk factors disclosed in this “Risk Factors” section, such as the impact of adverse economic conditions and the inability of third parties to hire or retain skilled
personnel, including pilots and mechanics. Several of these third-party operators provide significant capacity that we would be unable to replace in a short period of time should
that operator fail to perform its obligations to us. Disruptions to capital markets, shortages of skilled personnel and adverse economic conditions in general, such as conditions
resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, have subjected certain of these third-party regional operators to significant financial and operational pressures, which have in the past
and could result in the temporary or permanent cessation of their operations. We may also experience disruption to our regional operations if we terminate agreements with one
or more of our current aircraft operators and transition the services to another provider.

Although our third-party aircraft operators are not currently experiencing workforce disruptions, we cannot predict the future actions of their workforce. Union strikes among
airport workers or certain pilots of third-party aircraft operators may result in disruptions of our services and thus could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, and results of operations. Any significant disruption to our operations as a result of problems with any of our third-party aircraft operators would have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

In addition, we have entered into agreements with contractors to provide various facilities and services required for our operations. Because we rely on others to provide such
services, our ability to control the efficiency and timeliness of such services is limited. Similar agreements may be entered into in any new markets we decide to serve. We are
also at risk should one of these service providers cease operations, and there is no guarantee that we could replace these providers on a timely basis with comparably priced
providers, or at all. Any material problems with the efficiency and timeliness of contract services, resulting from financial hardships or otherwise, could have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Illegal, improper, or otherwise inappropriate operation of branded aircraft by our third-party aircraft operators, regardless of whether they are operating aircraft on our
behalf, could harm our reputation, business, brand, financial condition, and results of operations.

Some of our third-party aircraft operators operate Blade-branded aircraft on a non-exclusive basis, enabling them to utilize Blade-branded aircraft for flight operations unrelated
to Blade. If our third-party aircraft operators were to operate Blade-branded aircraft, regardless of whether such aircraft is flying on our behalf, in an illegal, improper, or
otherwise inappropriate manner, such as violating local noise-abatement regulations or ignoring suggested noise-abatement flight paths and procedures, we could be exposed to
significant reputational harm. While we have implemented various measures intended to anticipate, identify, and address the risk of these types of activities, these measures
may not adequately address or prevent all illegal, improper, or otherwise inappropriate activity by our third-party aircraft operators while flying Blade-branded aircraft. Further,
any negative publicity related to the foregoing, whether or not such incident occurred while flying on our behalf, could adversely affect our reputation and brand or public
perception of the urban air mobility industry as a whole, which could negatively affect demand for platforms like ours and potentially lead to increased regulatory or litigation
exposure. Any of the foregoing risks could harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We rely on third-party web service providers to deliver our offerings to users on our platform, and any disruption of or interference with our use of third-party web services
could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our platform’s continuing and uninterrupted performance is critical to our success. We currently host our platform and support our operations using a third-party provider of
cloud infrastructure services. While we have engaged reputable vendors to provide these services, we do not have control over the operations of the facilities used by our third-
party
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provider, and their facilities may be vulnerable to damage or interruption from natural disasters, cybersecurity attacks, human error, terrorist attacks, power outages, and similar
events or acts of misconduct. In addition, any changes in our third-party cloud infrastructure provider’s service levels may adversely affect our ability to meet the requirements
of users. While we believe we have implemented reasonable backup and disaster recovery plans, we have experienced, and expect that in the future we will experience,
interruptions, delays, and outages in service and availability from time to time due to a variety of factors, including infrastructure changes, human or software errors, website
hosting disruptions, and capacity constraints. Sustained or repeated system failures would reduce the attractiveness of our offerings. It may become increasingly difficult to
maintain and improve our performance, especially during peak usage times, as we expand our service offerings. Any negative publicity or user dissatisfaction arising from these
disruptions could harm our reputation and brand and may adversely affect the usage of our offerings, and could harm our business, financial condition, and results of operation.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property, Cybersecurity, Information Technology and Data Management Practices

System failures, defects, errors, or vulnerabilities in our website, applications, backend systems, or other technology systems or those of third-party technology providers
could harm our reputation and brand and adversely impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our systems, or those of third parties upon which we rely, may experience service interruptions, outages, or degradation because of hardware and software defects or
malfunctions, human error, or malfeasance by third parties or our employees, contractors, or service providers, earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, fires, natural disasters, power
losses, disruptions in telecommunications services, fraud, military or political conflicts, terrorist attacks, cyberattacks, or other events. Our insurance may not be sufficient, and
we may not have sufficient remedies available to us from our third-party service providers, to cover all of our losses that may result from such interruptions, outages, or
degradation.

The software underlying our platform is highly complex and may contain undetected errors or vulnerabilities, some of which may only be discovered after the code has been
released. We rely heavily on a software engineering practice known as “continuous deployment,” which refers to the frequent release of our software code, sometimes multiple
times per day. This practice increases the risk that errors and vulnerabilities are present in the software code underlying our platform. The third-party software that we
incorporate into our platform may also be subject to errors or vulnerabilities. Any errors or vulnerabilities discovered in our platform, whether in our proprietary code or that of
third-party software on which our software relies, could result in negative publicity, a loss of users or loss of revenue, access or other performance issues, security incidents, or
other liabilities. Such vulnerabilities could also prevent fliers from booking flights, which would adversely affect our flier utilization rates, or disrupt communications with our
operators (e.g., flight schedules or passenger manifests), which could affect our on-time performance. For example, we have experienced an error in our app that temporarily
allowed a small number of users to log into and view a different user’s profile. Although we quickly corrected the error after receiving user complaints, with no material adverse
impact to our business, similar and more serious errors could occur in the future. We may need to expend significant financial and development resources to analyze, correct,
eliminate, or work around errors or defects or to address and eliminate vulnerabilities. Any failure to timely and effectively resolve any such errors, defects, or vulnerabilities
could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations as well as negatively impact our reputation or brand.

We have experienced and will likely continue to experience system failures and other events or conditions from time to time that interrupt the availability or reduce or affect the
speed or functionality of our technology platform. These events have resulted in, and similar future events could result in, losses of revenue due to increased difficulty of
booking services through our technology platform, impacts to on-time performance, and resultant errors in operating our business. A prolonged interruption in the availability
or reduction in the availability or other functionality of our platform could adversely affect our business and reputation and could result in the loss of customers. Moreover, to
the extent that any system failure or similar event results in harm or losses to customers, such as the inability to book flights or monitor organ transports because of a system
failure, we may make voluntary payments to compensate for such harm, or the affected customers could seek monetary recourse or contractual remedies from us for their losses.
Such claims, even if unsuccessful, would likely be time consuming and costly for us to address.

We rely on our information technology systems to manage numerous aspects of our business. A cyber-based attack of these systems could disrupt our ability to deliver
services to our customers and could lead to increased overhead costs, decreased sales, and harm to our reputation.

We rely on information technology networks and systems to operate and manage our business. Our information technology networks and systems process, transmit and store
personal and financial information, proprietary information of our business, and also allow us to coordinate our business across our operation bases, and allow us to
communicate with our employees and externally with customers, suppliers, partners, and other third parties. While we believe we take reasonable
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steps to secure these information technology networks and systems, and the data processed, transmitted, and stored thereon, such networks, systems, and data, especially with
the continued development and increased usage of artificial intelligence, may be susceptible to cyberattacks, viruses, malware, or other unauthorized access or damage
(including by environmental, malicious, or negligent acts), which could result in unauthorized access to, or the release and public exposure of, our proprietary information or
our users’ personal information. In addition, cyberattacks, viruses, malware, or other damage or unauthorized access to our information technology networks and systems, could
result in damage, disruptions, or shutdowns to our platform. The rapid evolution of artificial intelligence may require us to allocate additional resources to help implement
artificial intelligence ethically in order to minimize unintended or harmful impacts and may also require us to make additional investments in the development of proprietary
datasets, machine learning models or other systems, which may be costly. Any of the foregoing could cause substantial harm to our business, require us to make notifications to
our customers, governmental authorities, or the media, and could result in litigation, investigations or inquiries by government authorities, or subject us to penalties, fines, and
other losses relating to the investigation and remediation of such an attack or other unauthorized access or damage to our information technology systems and networks.

We rely on mobile operating systems and application marketplaces to make our apps available to users of our platform. If we do not effectively operate with or receive
favorable placements within such application marketplaces and maintain high user reviews, our usage or brand recognition could decline and our business, financial
results, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We depend in part on mobile operating systems, such as Android and iOS, and their respective application marketplaces to make our platform available to customers. Such
mobile operating systems or application marketplaces could limit or prohibit us from making our apps available, make changes that degrade the functionality of our apps,
increase the difficulty of using our apps, impose terms of use unsatisfactory to us, or modify their search or ratings algorithms in ways that are detrimental to us. Additionally, if
any future competitor’s placement in such mobile operating system’s application marketplace is more prominent than the placement of our apps, overall growth in our flier base
could slow and the usage of our platform could be adversely affected. Our apps have experienced fluctuations in the number of downloads in the past, and we anticipate similar
fluctuations in the future. Any of the foregoing risks could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

As new mobile devices and mobile platforms are released, there is no guarantee that certain mobile devices will continue to support our platform or effectively roll out updates
to our apps. Additionally, in order to deliver high-quality apps, we need to ensure that our offerings are designed to work effectively with a range of mobile technologies,
systems, networks, and standards. We may not be successful in developing or maintaining relationships with key participants in the mobile technology industry to make, or
continue to make, such technologies, systems, networks, or standards available to our users. If fliers on our platform encounter any difficulty accessing or using our apps on
their mobile devices or if we are unable to adapt to changes in popular mobile operating systems, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely
affected.

If we fail to adequately protect our proprietary intellectual property rights, our competitive position could be impaired and we may lose market share, generate reduced
revenue, and incur costly litigation to protect our rights.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to protect our proprietary intellectual property rights, including certain technologies we utilize in arranging air transportation. To
date, we have relied primarily on trade secrets and trademarks to protect our proprietary technology. Our software is also subject to certain protection under copyright law,
though we have chosen not to register any of our copyrights. We routinely enter into non-disclosure agreements with our employees, consultants, third party aircraft operators,
and other relevant persons and take other measures to protect our intellectual property rights, such as limiting access to our trade secrets and other confidential information. We
intend to continue to rely on these and other means, including patent protection, in the future. However, the steps we take to protect our intellectual property may be inadequate,
and unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our intellectual property or obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary and, if successful, may potentially
cause us to lose market share, harm our ability to compete, and result in reduced revenue. Moreover, our non- disclosure agreements do not prevent our competitors from
independently developing technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to our products, and there can be no assurance that our competitors or third parties will
comply with the terms of these agreements, or that we will be able to successfully enforce such agreements or obtain sufficient remedies if they are breached. There can be no
assurance that the intellectual property rights we own or license will provide competitive advantages or will not be challenged or circumvented by our competitors.

Further, obtaining and maintaining patent, copyright, and trademark protection can be costly, and we may choose not to, or may fail to, pursue or maintain such forms of
protection for our technology in the United States or foreign jurisdictions, which could harm our ability to maintain our competitive advantage in such jurisdictions. It is also
possible that we will fail to identify patentable aspects of our technology before it is too late to obtain patent protection, that we will be unable to
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devote the resources to file and prosecute all patent applications for such technology, or that we will inadvertently lose protection for failing to comply with all procedural,
documentary, payment, and similar obligations during the patent prosecution process. The laws of some countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws
of the United States, and mechanisms for enforcement of intellectual property rights in some foreign countries may be inadequate to prevent other parties from infringing our
proprietary technology. To the extent we expand our international activities, our exposure to unauthorized use of our technologies and proprietary information may increase.
We may also fail to detect unauthorized use of our intellectual property, or be required to expend significant resources to monitor and protect our intellectual property rights,
including engaging in litigation, which may be costly, time-consuming, and divert the attention of management and resources, and may not ultimately be successful. If we fail
to meaningfully establish, maintain, protect, and enforce our intellectual property rights, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We use open source software in connection with our platform, which may pose risks to our intellectual property.

We use open source software in connection with our platform and plan to continue using open-source software in the future. Some licenses governing the use of open-source
software contain requirements that we make available source code for modifications or derivative works we create based upon the open-source software. If we combine or link
our proprietary source code with open-source software in certain ways, we may be required, under the terms of the applicable open-source licenses, to make our proprietary
source code available to third parties. Although we monitor our use of open-source software, we cannot provide assurance that all open-source software is reviewed prior to use
in our platform, that our developers have not incorporated open-source software into our platform that we are unaware of, or that they will not do so in the future. Additionally,
the terms of open-source licenses have not been extensively interpreted by United States or international courts, and so there is a risk that open-source software licenses could
be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on us or our proprietary software. If an author or other third party that distributes such open-
source software were to allege that we had not complied with the conditions of an open-source license, we could incur significant legal costs defending ourselves against such
allegations or remediating any alleged non-compliance with open-source licenses. Any such remediation efforts could require significant additional resources, and we may not
be able to successfully complete any such remediation. Further, in addition to risks related to license requirements, use of certain open-source software can lead to greater risks
than use of third-party commercial software, as open-source licensors generally do not provide warranties, and the open-source software may contain security vulnerabilities.

Legal and Regulatory Risks Related to Our Business

Our business is subject to a wide variety of extensive and evolving laws and regulations, which may result in increases in our costs, disruptions to our operations, limits on
our operating flexibility, reductions in the demand for air travel, and competitive disadvantages.

We are subject to a wide variety of laws and regulations relating to various aspects of our business, employment and labor, health care, tax, privacy and data security, health and
safety, and environmental issues. Laws and regulations at the foreign, federal, state, and local levels frequently change, especially in relation to new and emerging industries,
and we cannot always reasonably predict the impact from, or the ultimate cost of compliance with, current or future legal or regulatory changes. We monitor these developments
and devote a significant amount of management’s time and external resources towards compliance. Moreover, changes in law, the imposition of new or additional regulations or
the enactment of any new or more stringent legislation that impacts our business could require us to change the way we operate or limit our ability to expand into certain
jurisdictions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results.

Further, our business has been adversely impacted when government agencies have ceased to operate as expected including due to partial shut-downs or similar events. These
events have resulted in, among other things, reduced demand for air travel, an actual or perceived reduction in air traffic control and security screening resources, and related
travel delays, as well as disruption in the ability of the FAA to grant required regulatory approvals, such as those that are involved when a new aircraft is first placed into
service.

Our results of operations and the manner in which we conduct business may be affected by changes in law and future actions taken by governmental agencies, including:

• changes in law that affect the services that can be offered by us in particular markets and at particular airports, or the types of fares offered or fees that can be charged to
fliers;

• restrictions on competitive practices (for example, court orders, or agency regulations or orders, that would curtail our ability to respond to a competitor);
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• the adoption of new passenger security standards or regulations that impact customer service standards;

• restrictions on airport operations, such as restrictions on the use of airports, heliports or aircraft routes; and

• the adoption of more restrictive locally-imposed noise restrictions.

Each additional regulation or other form of regulatory oversight increases costs and adds greater complexity to operations and, in some cases, may reduce the demand for air
travel. There can be no assurance that the increased costs or greater complexity associated with our compliance with new rules, anticipated rules or other forms of regulatory
oversight will not have a material adverse effect on us.

Any significant reduction in air traffic capacity at and in the airspace serving key airports in the United States or Internationally could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition. Weaknesses in the National Airspace System and the Air Traffic Control (“ATC”) system, such as outdated procedures
and technologies and staffing shortages, have resulted in short-term capacity constraints during peak travel periods or adverse weather conditions in certain markets, resulting in
delays and disruptions of air traffic. Outdated technologies and staffing shortages may also cause the ATC system to be less resilient in the event of a failure. For example, an
automation failure and an evacuation, in 2015 and 2017 respectively, at the Washington Air Route Control Center resulted in cancellations and delays of hundreds of flights
traversing the greater Washington, D.C. airspace. Regulatory responses to aviation accidents, including route closures or airspace restrictions, could further amplify these
challenges. For example, after a 2025 mid-air collision between a military helicopter and a commercial passenger aircraft near Ronald Reagan Airport in Washington, D.C.,
authorities immediately shut down helicopter routes in the vicinity and announced plans to reassess other helicopter routes near major commercial airports.

Failure to comply with legal and regulatory requirements, such as obtaining and maintaining licenses, certificates, authorizations, and permits critical for the operation of our
business, may result in civil penalties or private lawsuits, or the suspension or revocation of licenses, certificates, authorizations, or permits, which would prevent us from
operating our business. Even when we believe we are in complete compliance, a regulatory agency may determine that we are not.

We could be subject to litigation or regulatory investigations, which may be expensive and could divert management attention.

Our business is exposed to various litigation and regulatory risks. In the past, following periods of volatility in the overall market and the market prices of particular companies’
securities, securities class action or state stockholder lawsuits have often been instituted against publicly traded companies. We have been, and may in the future be, subject to
such litigation as well as other regulatory proceedings, including Section 220 Books and Records Demands, which could be used to file a derivative lawsuit against directors
and officers. In addition, we have in the past, and may in the future become, involved in legal actions and claims related in the ordinary course of business related to breaches of
contracts, wrongful termination, injury, creation of a hostile workplace, discrimination, wage and hour, employee benefits, sexual harassment and other employment issues. For
additional information about litigation matters, see the section in this Annual Report entitled “Business-Litigation”.

The existence of litigation, claims, investigations and proceedings may harm our reputation, limit our ability to conduct our business in the affected areas and adversely affect
the trading prices of our stock and/or other securities. The outcome of any claims, investigations and proceedings is inherently uncertain, and in any event defending against
these claims could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and resources from other business concerns, which could significantly impact our business.
Any adverse determination in any such litigation or any amounts paid to settle any such actual or threatened litigation could require that we make significant payments, incur
legal and other costs, limit our ability to conduct business or require us to change the manner in which we operate. Furthermore, prolonged or complex investigations, even if
they do not result in regulatory or other proceedings or adverse findings, may result in significant costs that may not be covered by insurance and in diversion of employee
resources.

We may be blocked from or limited in providing or offering our services in certain jurisdictions, and may be required to modify our business model in those jurisdictions as
a result.

We face regulatory obstacles, including those lobbied for by local government, which could prevent us from operating our urban air mobility or Medical services. We have
incurred, and expect that we will continue to incur, significant costs in defending our right to operate in accordance with our business model in many jurisdictions. To the extent
that efforts to block or limit our operations or the types of services we offer in general are successful, or we or third-party aircraft
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operators are required to comply with more stringent or costly regulatory requirements, or other requirements applicable to air transportation services, our revenue and growth
could be adversely affected.

We currently operate passenger terminals out of several airports and heliports throughout the Northeast United States. These facilities are strategically located in close
proximity to heavily populated areas. If these airports or heliports were to restrict access for certain types of air transportation, our passenger volume and utilization rates may
be significantly adversely impacted and certain existing or planned future routes may cease to be profitable for us to operate. New York has a limited number of hangar and
helipad sites, which may limit our ability to expand operations to other locations within the state or region. While we do not require hangar space to operate our business, the
availability of nearby hangar space is advantageous to allow our third-party aircraft operators to effectively support our business. In addition, some constituents near certain key
heliports and airports, and the elected officials representing them, are concerned about noise generated by helicopters. Some of these communities have proposed new rules and
legislation to reduce or eliminate helicopter flights from key Blade service areas, including Manhattan, Cogolin, Gassin, Grimaud, Ramatuelle and St. Tropez. For example,
proposed legislation at the city and state levels in New York has sought to limit helicopter flights and challenge operations, including proposed legislation at the state level that
would assess additional taxes on helicopter and seaplane flights and proposed legislation at the city level that would restrict non-essential helicopter operations at city heliports
to helicopters powered fully by electric engines. While we do not anticipate the currently proposed state or city level legislation becoming effective this year, or at all, there can
be no assurance that this or similar legislation will not be imposed on our operations in the future. Local and national regulatory bodies in France, including the local
governments of Cogolin, Gassin, Grimaud, Ramatuelle and St. Tropez, have historically, and will continue to impose daily and weekly limitations on the frequency of helicopter
movements from landing zones within their respective geographical areas. Moreover, the Town Board of the Town of East Hampton, New York attempted to place additional
restrictions on the use of the East Hampton Airport, following the expiration of FAA grant assurances in September of 2021, including the temporary closure of the airport. On
February 15, 2022, the Company filed and others filed a petition in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of Suffolk, alleging that the plan to close the East
Hampton Airport violates New York’s Environmental Quality Review Act and Article 78 of New York’s Civil Practice Law and Rules. The court granted a temporary
restraining order, which the respondents unsuccessfully tried to modify or partially stay. The court later consolidated this case with two other similar cases and on October 19,
2022 the court granted our and other petitioners’ petitions in their entirety, which led to the respondents filing of Notice of Appeal. This litigation is still pending. If these or any
similar efforts are successful, our business would be severely impacted and our growth opportunities in such areas may be reduced.

Failure to comply with federal, state, and foreign laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection, and consumer protection, or the expansion of current laws and
regulations or the enactment of new laws or regulations in these areas, could adversely affect our business and our financial condition.

We are subject to a wide variety of laws in the United States and other jurisdictions related to privacy, data protection, and consumer protection that are often complex and
subject to varying interpretations. As a result, these privacy, data protection, and consumer protection laws may change or develop over time through judicial decisions or as
new guidance or interpretations are provided by regulatory and governing bodies and such changes or developments may be contrary to our existing practices. This may cause
us to expend resources on updating, changing, or eliminating some of our privacy and data protection practices.

Laws and regulations relating to privacy and data protection are continually evolving and subject to potentially differing interpretations. These requirements may not be
harmonized, may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another, or may conflict with other rules or our practices. As a result, our
practices may not have complied or may not comply in the future with all such laws, regulations, requirements, and obligations. The failure to comply with such data protection
and privacy regulations can result in fines, penalties, and the enforcement of any non-compliance, which could significantly impact our business operations.

The California Privacy Protection Act of 2018, as amended by the California Privacy Rights Act of 2020 (CCPA), provides data privacy rights for consumers in California and
operational requirements for companies doing business in California. Compliance with these obligations depends in part on how the regulators responsible for enforcing the
CCPA interpret and apply them. If we fail to comply with the CCPA or if regulators assert that we have failed to comply with the CCPA, we may be subject to certain fines or
other penalties and litigation, any of which may negatively impact our reputation, require us to expend significant resources, and harm our business. We believe that the
personal information we collect from California residents that use our app, the air transportation services we have offered in California in the past, and direct marketing to
California residents for those services, as well as our plans to offer future services in California, have made and in the future will make Blade subject to compliance with CCPA.
Many other states have either passed, proposed or are considering privacy laws similar to, and in some respects more stringent than, the CCPA. The patchwork of privacy laws
in the U.S. heightens the cost of compliance, the risks of noncompliance, and the potential for enforcement actions by individual state attorneys general, regulators, and lawsuits
brought by private plaintiffs.

31



Table of Contents

Moreover, as we offer and advertise our services in Europe and Monaco, it is important to acknowledge the impact of privacy regulations in these foreign jurisdictions which we
are subject to. The European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”), and Monaco’s Act No. 1.054 on the Protection of Personal Data (“DPA”) impose stringent
requirements and can pose significant challenges for companies to comply with. Complying with such privacy regulations requires increased expenditure in human and financial
resources which may negatively impact the financial conditions of our foreign operations.

We have in the past, and could be in the future, subject to data breaches. A significant data breach or any failure, or perceived failure, by us to comply with any federal, state, or
foreign privacy laws, regulations, or other principles or orders to which we may be subject could adversely affect our reputation, brand, and business, and may result in claims,
investigations, proceedings, or actions against us by governmental entities, litigation, including class action litigation, from our fliers, fines, penalties, or other liabilities, or
require us to change our operations or cease using certain data sets. Depending on the nature of the information compromised, we may also have obligations to notify users, law
enforcement, government authorities, payment companies, consumer reporting agencies, or the media about the incident and may be required to expend additional resources in
connection with investigating and remediating such an incident, and otherwise complying with applicable privacy and data security laws.

Failure to comply with applicable privacy and security laws and regulations could result in a material breach of contract with one or more of our Medical Customers,
subject us to enforcement actions and adversely affect our business and our financial condition.

The cost of compliance with the laws and regulations is high and is likely to increase in the future as we continue to develop new verticals in the Medical segment, including our
Trinity Organ Placement Services product or “TOPS.” Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with applicable data privacy and security laws or regulations, our
internal policies and procedures or our contracts governing our processing of personal information could result in negative publicity, government investigations and
enforcement actions, claims by third parties and damage to our reputation, any of which could have an adverse effect on our operations, financial performance and business.

HIPAA privacy and security regulations extensively regulate the use and disclosure of protected health information (“PHI”) and require business associates to implement
administrative, physical and technical safeguards to protect the security of such information. If we are unable to properly protect the privacy and security of PHI entrusted to us,
we could be found to have breached our contracts with our customers and/or be subject to investigation by the HHS Office for Civil Rights (“OCR”). We may also be required
to notify government authorities, individuals, the media, and other third parties in connection with a security incident or breach involving PHI or other personally identifiable
information. In the event OCR finds that we have failed to comply with applicable HIPAA privacy and security standards, we could face civil and criminal penalties. OCR has
become an increasingly active regulator and has signaled its intention to continue this trend. OCR has the discretion to impose penalties without being required to attempt to
resolve violations through informal means. Further, OCR may require companies to enter into resolution agreements and corrective action plans that impose ongoing
compliance requirements. OCR enforcement activity can result in financial liability and reputational harm, and responses to such enforcement activity can consume significant
internal resources. In addition to enforcement by OCR, state attorneys general are authorized to bring civil actions under either HIPAA or similar state laws, seeking either
injunctions or damages in response to violations that threaten the privacy of state residents. Although we have developed and are implementing policies, processes and a
compliance program infrastructure to assist us in complying with these laws and regulations and our contractual obligations, we cannot provide assurance regarding how these
laws and regulations will be interpreted, enforced or applied to our Medical segment. Further, the FTC has prosecuted certain uses and disclosures of personal information and
data breach cases as unfair and/or deceptive acts or practices under the Federal Trade Commission Act or under the FTC Health Breach Notification Rule.

Environmental regulation and liabilities, including new or developing laws and regulations, may increase our costs of operations and adversely affect us.

In recent years, there has been heightened interest from regulators, investors and other stakeholders on sustainability matters, including carbon emissions and energy use, and
related disclosures. New and emerging regulatory initiatives, particularly in the E.U., related to climate change and sustainability matters, could adversely affect parts of our
business. Laws and regulations that curb the use of conventional energy or require the use of renewable fuels or renewable sources of energy, such as wind or solar power,
could result in a reduction in demand for hydrocarbon-based fuels such as oil and natural gas. In addition, governments could pass laws, regulations or taxes that increase the
cost of such fuels, thereby decreasing demand for our services and increasing the costs of our operations by us or our third-party aircraft operators. Furthermore, expanding
expectations for mandatory or voluntary reporting, diligence, and disclosure on topics such as environmental impact, could expand the nature, scope, and complexity of matters
that we are required to control, assess and
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report on. These changing rules, regulations and stakeholder expectations may result in increased expenses and increased management time and attention spent complying with
or meeting such regulations and expectations.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Securities and Being a Public Company

We have in the past and may in the future identify material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting.

In order to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, we must perform system and process evaluations, document our controls and perform testing of our key
controls over financial reporting to allow for management and our independent public accounting firm to report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting. In the past, we have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting which we have remedied. If we, or our independent registered
public accounting firm, identify deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting in the future that are deemed to be material weaknesses, our investors could lose
confidence in our reported financial information, we may be required to restate those financial statements, the market price of our stock may decline and we could be subject to
lawsuits, sanctions or investigations by regulatory authorities, which would require additional financial and management resources and otherwise could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting, our ability to produce timely and accurate financial statements
or comply with applicable regulations could be impaired.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, SOX, and the rules and regulations of the applicable listing standards of the Nasdaq.
The requirements of these rules and regulations have increased and may continue to increase our legal, accounting, and financial compliance costs, have made some activities
more difficult, time-consuming, and costly and have placed significant strain on our personnel, systems, and resources.

SOX requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. In particular, Section 404 of SOX
(“Section 404”) requires us to perform system and process evaluation and testing of our internal control over financial reporting to allow management to report on, and our
independent registered public accounting firm potentially to attest to, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Any failure to maintain effective
disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting could have a material and adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition and could
cause a decline in the trading price of our common stock.

If we fail to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures, we may be unable to provide financial information and required
SEC reports that a U.S. publicly traded company is required to provide in a timely and reliable fashion. Any such delays or deficiencies could penalize us, including by limiting
our ability to obtain financing, either in the public capital markets or from private sources and hurt our reputation and could thereby impede our ability to implement our growth
strategy. In addition, any such delays or deficiencies could result in our failure to meet the requirements for listing of our common stock on the Nasdaq.

Our Warrants are accounted for as derivative liabilities and are recorded at fair value with changes in fair value for each period reported in earnings, which may have an
adverse effect on the market price of our common stock.

We are accounting for both the Public Warrants and the Private Placement Warrants as a warrant liability. At each reporting period, the accounting treatment of the Warrants
will be re-evaluated for proper accounting treatment as a liability or equity, and the fair value of the liability of the public and private warrants will be remeasured. The change
in the fair value of the liability will be recorded as other income (expense) in our consolidated statement of operations. The value of the liability related to the Warrants is
determined by the warrants’ market price, which is driven mainly by the share price of our common stock. Changes in the warrants’ market price may have a material impact on
the estimated fair value of the embedded derivative liability. As a result, our consolidated financial statements and results of operations will fluctuate quarterly, based on the
share price of our common stock. If our stock price is volatile, we expect that we will recognize non-cash gains or losses on our Warrants or any other similar derivative
instruments each reporting period and that the amount of such gains or losses could be material. The impact of changes in fair value on earnings may have an adverse effect on
the market price of our common stock. See Note 2, 13 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

The price of our securities may change significantly, and you could lose all or part of your investment as a result.
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The trading price of our common stock and Warrants has been and in the future may again be volatile. Since 2020, the stock market has experienced extreme volatility. This
volatility is often unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of particular companies. An investor might not be able to resell shares or Warrants at an attractive
price due to a number of factors such as those listed in “Risks Related to Our Business and Growth Strategy”. Broad market and industry fluctuations may adversely affect the
market price of our common stock, regardless of our actual operating performance. In addition, price volatility may be greater if the public float and trading volume of our
common stock is low.

There is no guarantee that the Warrants will ever be in the money, and they may expire worthless.

The exercise price for our Warrants is $11.50 per share. There can be no assurance that the Warrants will be in the money prior to their expiration and, as such, they may expire
worthless. The terms of our Warrants may be amended in a manner that may be adverse to the holders. The Warrant Agreement between American Stock Transfer and Trust
Company, LLC, as warrant agent, and us provides that the terms of the Warrants may be amended without the consent of any holder to cure any ambiguity or correct any
defective provision, but requires the approval by the holders of at least 50% of the then outstanding Warrants to make any change that adversely affects the interests of the
registered holders. Accordingly, we may amend the terms of the Warrants in a manner adverse to a holder if holders of at least 50% of the then outstanding Warrants approve of
such amendment. Our ability to amend the terms of the Warrants with the consent of at least 50% of the then outstanding Warrants is unlimited. Examples of such amendments
could be amendments to, among other things, increase the exercise price of the Warrants, shorten the exercise period or decrease the number of shares of our common stock
purchasable upon exercise of a Warrant.

We may redeem unexpired Warrants held by former EIC stockholders prior to their exercise at a time that is disadvantageous to those stockholders, thereby making such
Warrants worthless.

We have the ability to redeem outstanding Warrants at any time prior to their expiration, at a price of $0.01 per Warrant, provided that the last reported sales price of our
common stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations, and the like) for any 20 trading days within a
30 trading-day period ending on the third trading day prior to the date we send the notice of redemption to the Warrant holders. If and when the Warrants become redeemable by
us, we may exercise our redemption right even if we are unable to register or qualify the underlying securities for sale under all applicable state securities laws. Redemption of
the outstanding Warrants could force you to: (1) exercise your Warrants and pay the related exercise price at a time when it may be disadvantageous for you to do so; (2) sell
your Warrants at the then-current market price when you might otherwise wish to hold your Warrants; or (3) accept the nominal redemption price which, at the time the
outstanding warrants are called for redemption, is likely to be substantially less than the market value of your Warrants. None of the Private Placement Warrants will be
redeemable by us for cash so long as they are held by the Sponsor (Experience Sponsor LLC) or its permitted transferees.

In addition, we may redeem Warrants (including Private Placement Warrants) for a number of shares of our common stock determined based on the redemption date and the fair
market value of our common stock. Any such redemption may have similar consequences to a cash redemption described above. In addition, such redemption may occur at a
time when the Warrants are “out-of-the-money”, in which case you would lose any potential embedded value from a subsequent increase in the value of our common stock had
your Warrants remained outstanding.

We do not expect to declare any dividends in the foreseeable future.

We intend to retain future earnings, if any, for future operations and expansion and there are no current plans to pay any cash dividends for the foreseeable future. The
declaration, amount, and payment of any future dividends on shares of our common stock will be at the sole discretion of our Board of Directors (or “Board”). Our Board of
Directors may take into account general and economic conditions, our financial condition and results of operations, our available cash and current and anticipated cash needs,
capital requirements, contractual, legal, tax, and regulatory restrictions, implications on the payment of dividends by us to our stockholders or by our subsidiaries to us, and such
other factors as our Board may deem relevant. As a result, you may not receive any return on an investment in our common stock unless you sell our common stock for a price
greater than that which you paid for it.

We may issue additional shares of common stock or other equity securities without your approval, which would dilute your ownership interest in us and may depress the
market price of our common stock.

We may issue additional shares of common stock or other equity securities in the future in connection with, among other things, future acquisitions, repayment of outstanding
indebtedness or grants to our directors, officers, and employees without stockholder approval in a number of circumstances. In addition, exercise of the Warrants would be
dilutive. Our issuance of additional common stock or other equity securities could have one or more of the following effects:
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• our existing stockholders’ proportionate ownership interest in us will decrease;

• the amount of cash available per share, including for payment of dividends in the future, may decrease;

• the relative voting strength of each previously outstanding share of common stock may be diminished; and

• the market price of our common stock may decline.

We are a “smaller reporting company” within the meaning of the Securities Act, and if we take advantage of certain exemptions from disclosure requirements available to
“smaller reporting companies,” this could make our securities less attractive to investors and may make it more difficult to compare our performance with other public
companies.

We are a “smaller reporting company” as defined in Item 10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K. Smaller reporting companies may take advantage of certain reduced disclosure
obligations, including, among other things, providing only two years of audited financial statements. We will remain a smaller reporting company until the last day of the fiscal
year in which (i) the market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates is greater than or equal to $250 million as of the end of that fiscal year’s second fiscal quarter, OR
(ii) our annual revenues are greater than or equal to $100 million during the last completed fiscal year and the market value of our common stock held by non- affiliates exceeds
$700 million as of the end of that fiscal year’s second fiscal quarter. To the extent we take advantage of such reduced disclosure obligations, it may also make comparison of our
financial statements with other public companies difficult or impossible.

Provisions in our charter and Delaware law may inhibit a takeover of us, which could limit the price investors might be willing to pay in the future for our common stock
and could entrench management.

Our Certificate of Incorporation contains provisions that may discourage unsolicited takeover proposals that stockholders may consider to be in their best interests. These
provisions include the ability of our Board to designate the terms of and issue new series of preferred shares, which may make the removal of management more difficult and
may discourage transactions that otherwise could involve payment of a premium over prevailing market prices for our securities. These anti-takeover defenses could discourage,
delay, or prevent a transaction involving a change in control of the Company. These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and other
stockholders to elect directors of your choosing and cause us to take corporate actions other than those you desire.

Our Certificate of Incorporation designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of actions and proceedings and
the federal district courts as the sole and exclusive forum for other types of actions and proceedings, in each case, that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could
limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain what such stockholders believe to be a favorable judicial forum for disputes with the Company or our directors, officers, or other
employees.

Our Certificate of Incorporation provides that, unless we consent to the selection of an alternative forum, any (i) derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the
Company; (ii) action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by, or any other wrongdoing by, any current or former director, officer, or other employee or
stockholder of the Company; (iii) action asserting a claim against the Company arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or our certificate of incorporation or our bylaws;
or (iv) action to interpret, apply, enforce, or determine the validity of any provisions in the certificate of incorporation of bylaws; or (v) action asserting a claim against the
company or any director or officer of the Company governed by the internal affairs doctrine, shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be exclusively brought in the Court of
Chancery of the State of Delaware or, if such court does not have subject matter jurisdiction thereof, the federal district court of the State of Delaware. Subject to the foregoing,
the federal district courts of the United States are the exclusive forum for the resolution of any action, suit, or proceeding asserting a cause of action under the Securities Act. The
exclusive forum provision does not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Exchange Act. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring
an interest in any shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have notice of and to have consented to the forum provisions in our certificate of incorporation. These choice-of-
forum provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that he, she, or it believes to be favorable for disputes with the Company or our directors,
officers, or other employees or stockholders, which may discourage such lawsuits. We note that there is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce these provisions and
that investors cannot waive compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction
for state and federal courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder.

Alternatively, if a court were to find these provisions of our certificate of incorporation inapplicable or unenforceable with respect to one or more of the specified types of
actions or proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated with
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resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations and result in a diversion of the
time and resources of our management and Board of Directors.

Future sales, or the perception of future sales, by us or our stockholders in the public market could cause the market price for the common stock to decline.

The sale of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales could occur, could harm the prevailing market price of shares of our common
stock. These sales, or the possibility that these sales may occur, also might make it more difficult for us to sell equity securities in the future at a time and at a price that we deem
appropriate.

Pursuant to an Investor Rights Agreement, certain stockholders have the right, subject to certain conditions, to require us to register the sale of their shares of common stock
under the Securities Act. By exercising their registration rights and selling a large number of shares, these stockholders could cause the prevailing market price of our common
stock to decline.

If these stockholders exercise their registration rights, the trading price of shares of our common stock could drop significantly if the holders of these shares sell them or are
perceived by the market as intending to sell them. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to raise additional funds through future offerings of shares of common
stock or other securities.

In addition, the shares of common stock reserved for future issuance under our 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan will become eligible for sale in the public market once those shares
are issued, subject to any applicable vesting requirements, lockup agreements and other restrictions imposed by law. As of December 31, 2024, approximately 8,400,498 shares
of our common stock were reserved for future issuance under our 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Governance, Risk Management and Strategy
Blade’s cybersecurity risk management processes are integrated into our broader risk management framework, Blade’s cybersecurity is overseen by our senior management
team, comprising leaders from Information Technology, Product Development, Finance, Human Resources, and Legal departments. Our Chief Financial Officer, Vice
President of Engineering and the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors conduct quarterly reviews of the organization's cybersecurity posture, with additional meetings
when specific situations arise. The Company has processes in place to update the Board in the event of a material cybersecurity incident.

The Board of Directors has delegated primary responsibility for cybersecurity risk assessment and management to the executive management team. Within this framework, the
Director of Cybersecurity and Vice President of Engineering jointly oversee the company's cybersecurity operations and lead the cybersecurity leadership team. The Director of
Cybersecurity, who possesses more than 25 years of experience in information technology and cybersecurity, directs the implementation of IT strategy and services across the
Company's operations. The Vice President of Engineering, also with more than 25 years of relevant experience, maintains supervisory authority over the Director of
Cybersecurity's functions.

Discussions in these meetings cover issues important to Blade’s cybersecurity, which may include:
• Cybersecurity Threat Landscape: Emerging threats and trends;
• Incident Reports: Recent incidents and responses;
• Vulnerability Assessments and Penetration Testing: Identified vulnerabilities, remediation progress, and penetration testing results;
• Compliance: Adherence to laws, regulations, and standards;
• Security Policies and Procedures: Review and updates;
• Employee Training and Awareness: Training programs and awareness initiatives;
• Risk Management: Strategies to mitigate risks;
• Technology and Security Infrastructure: IT security and new technologies;
• Cybersecurity Insurance: Coverage and policy adequacy;
• Disaster Recovery and Business Continuity: Readiness and plan effectiveness’; and
• Performance Metrics: Effectiveness of security posture.

We engage leading cybersecurity firms to enhance our security posture. Additionally, we regularly undergo independent third-party security assessments and audits to evaluate
and strengthen our cybersecurity controls and practices. We
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maintain formal processes to oversee our third-party service providers, including regular security reviews and continuous monitoring to identify and mitigate potential
cybersecurity risks associated with these relationships.

The company maintains safeguards including employee training, incident response reviews and exercises, cybersecurity insurance, and business continuity plans to protect its
assets. Processes are regularly reviewed by internal and external experts. A third-party cybersecurity monitoring and protection service is used to detect and respond to threats,
helping minimize disruption to business and operations.

To date, the Company has not experienced any material cybersecurity incidents and expenses incurred from cybersecurity incidents were immaterial (including penalties and
settlements, of which there were none). For a discussion of whether and how any risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any previous cybersecurity incidents,
have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Company, including its business strategy, results of operations or financial condition, see Item 1A. Risk
Factors “—Risks Related to Intellectual Property, Cybersecurity, Information Technology and Data Management Practices” in this Annual Report, which are incorporated by
reference into this Item 1C.

Item 2. Properties

Offices and Branded Terminals
Our corporate headquarters is located in New York, New York. We use this facility for finance and accounting, legal, talent management, technology, marketing, sales and other
administrative functions. We also maintain, primarily for the Passenger segment, branded terminals for the use of Blade fliers and customer experience personnel pursuant to
leases, licenses or permits with operators of various heliports and airports in New York, New York, Newark, New Jersey, Cannes, France, Nice, France and Monte Carlo,
Monaco. Our wholly-owned subsidiary Trinity, which is part of the Medical reporting segment, operates from Chandler, Arizona, Blade Europe, which is part of the Passenger
reporting segment, operates from offices in Cannes, France and Monte Carlo, Monaco.

Aircraft Assets
As of December 31, 2024, we owned nine Hawker 800 series midsize jets, all of which are dedicated to Blade’s Medical segment. Additionally, in 2024, we purchased a tenth
aircraft and assumed full operational control, though legal title remains with the seller, M&N, who also operates the aircraft. The purchase price has been fully paid and is held
as a deposit until title transfer to Blade, which is expected in 2025. This aircraft has been in service for Blade since late September 2024.

Our fleet has an average age of 26 years and an average seating capacity of 8 seats per aircraft. Our fleet is painted in white with varying stripe colors, and all aircraft display
the “Blade” logo in black or blue. These aircraft are operated and maintained by third-party service providers under Blade’s oversight and are strategically based across key
airports in Bedford, Massachusetts; Teterboro, New Jersey; Scottsdale, Arizona; and Denver, Colorado to support our operations efficiently. All aircraft undergo routine
maintenance, inspection and certification processes, which may, at times, require temporary relocation to third-party maintenance facilities. All aircraft are maintained in
accordance with FAA regulations and industry standards to ensure operational safety and reliability.

In addition to the ten aircraft discussed above, Blade has contractual relationships with various aircraft operators to provide aircraft service under CPAs, some of which contain
embedded aircraft leases. Under these CPAs, the Company pays the operator contractually agreed fees (carrier costs) for operating these flights. The fees are generally based on
fixed hourly rates for flight time multiplied by hours flown. See Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report for additional information.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In the opinion of management, other than as described below, we are not involved in any claims, legal actions, or regulatory proceedings as of December 31, 2024, the ultimate
disposition of which would have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

In February 2024, two putative class action lawsuits relating to the acquisition of Blade Urban Air Mobility, Inc. (“Old Blade”) were filed in the Delaware Court of Chancery.
On April 16, 2024, these cases were consolidated under the caption Drulias et al. v. Affeldt, et al., C.A. No. 2024-0161-SG (Del. Ch.) (“Drulias”). Plaintiffs assert claims for
breach of fiduciary duty and unjust enrichment claims against the former directors of Experience Investment Corp. (“EIC” and such directors, the “EIC Directors”), the former
officers of EIC, and Experience Sponsor LLC (“Sponsor”), and aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty claim against Sponsor. The operative complaint alleges, amongst
other things, that the
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proxy statement related to the acquisition of Old Blade insufficiently disclosed EIC’s cash position, Old Blade’s value prospects and risks, and information related to Old
Blade’s chief executive officer, who is also our current chief executive officer. The consolidated complaints seeks, among other things, damages and attorneys’ fees and costs.
Litigation is ongoing. The Company believes that all claims in the lawsuit are without merit and intends to defend itself vigorously against them.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

Part II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters And Issuer Purchases Of Equity Securities

Market Information

Our common stock is traded on The Nasdaq Capital Markets under the symbol “BLDE”.

Holders

On March 3, 2025, the Company had 28 holders of record of our common stock. In addition to holders of record of our common stock we believe there is a substantially greater
number of “street name” holders or beneficial holders whose common stock is held of record by banks, brokers and other financial institutions.

Dividends Policy

The Company has never declared or paid cash dividends on its common stock and has no intention to do so in the foreseeable future.

Purchases of Equity Securities by Issuer

During the three months ended December 31, 2024, we did not purchase any of our securities that are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

See Part III, Item 12 of this Annual Report and Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report for additional information.

Item 6. [Reserved]

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with other sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-
K, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes and other financial information included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In addition to historical consolidated financial information, the following discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates, and beliefs. For
important information regarding these forward-looking statements, please see the discussion above under the caption “Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”
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Overview

Blade Air Mobility, Inc. (“Blade” or the “Company”) provides air transportation and logistics for hospitals across the United States, where it is one of the largest transporters of
human organs for transplant, and for passengers, with helicopter and fixed wing services primarily in the Northeast United States and Southern Europe. Based in New York
City, Blade’s asset-light model, coupled with its exclusive passenger terminal infrastructure and proprietary technologies, is designed to facilitate a seamless transition from
helicopters and fixed-wing aircraft to Electric Vertical Aircraft (“EVA” or “eVTOL”), enabling lower cost air mobility that is both quiet and emission-free.

Blade operates in three key product lines across two segments (see Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report for further information on
reportable segments):

Passenger segment

• Short Distance – Consisting primarily of helicopter and amphibious seaplane flights in the United States and Europe between 10 and 100 miles in distance. Flights are
available for purchase both by-the-seat and on a full aircraft charter basis. This product line previously also included flights in Canada, which we discontinued in August
2024.

• Jet and Other –  Consists principally of revenues from non-medical jet charter, revenue from brand partners for exposure to Blade fliers and certain ground transportation
services. This product line previously also included by-the-seat jet flights between New York and South Florida, which we discontinued in November 2023.

Medical segment

• MediMobility Organ Transport – Consisting primarily of transportation of human organs for transplant and/or the medical teams supporting these services. Blade also offers
additional services including donor logistics coordination and support evaluating potential donor organs through our Trinity Organ Placement Services (“TOPS”) offering,
launched at the end of 2023.

Seats Flown

We define “Seats flown — all passenger flights” (Seats Flown) as the total number of seats purchased and flown by paying passengers on all flights, whether sold by-the-seat or
within a charter arrangement. Our long-term consumer-facing strategy is primarily focused on growth in by-the-seat products, and we believe that Seats Flown is an important
indicator of our progress in executing on this growth strategy. This metric is not always directly correlated with revenue given the significant variability in the price we charge
per seat flown across our various products and routes. For products and routes sold by-the-seat, we fly significantly more passengers at a low price per seat; which is captured
by Seats Flown. Passenger revenue is heavily influenced by the Jet and Other product lines where we typically fly fewer passengers over long distances at a high price. We
believe the Seats Flown metric is useful to investors in understanding the overall scale of our Passenger segment and trends in the number of passengers paying to use our
service.

The following table reflects the key operating metric we use to evaluate the Passenger segment:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Seats flown – all passenger flights (1) 94,733 95,781 
(1) Prior year amounts have been updated to conform to current period presentation.

We discontinued our operations in Canada on August 31, 2024. As a result, the Seats Flown metric above excludes activity in Canada for the years ended December 31, 2024,
and 2023. The Seats Flown in Canada amounted to 36,465 and 55,924 for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Our Business Model

Blade leverages an asset-light business model: we primarily utilize aircraft that are owned and/or operated by third parties on Blade’s behalf. In these arrangements, pilots,
maintenance, hangar, insurance, and fuel are all costs borne by our network of operators, which provide aircraft flight time to Blade at fixed hourly rates. This enables our
operator partners to
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focus on training pilots, maintaining aircraft and flying, while we maintain the relationship with our customer from booking through flight arrival. For flights offered for sale
by-the-seat, Blade schedules flights based on demand analysis and takes the economic risk of aggregating fliers to optimize flight profitability, providing predictable margins for
our operators.

When utilizing third-party aircraft and/or aircraft operators, we typically pre-negotiate fixed hourly rates and flight times, paying only for flights actually flown, creating a
predictable and flexible cost structure. Blade provides guaranteed flight commitments to some of our third-party operators through capacity purchase agreements (“CPAs”),
which enable Blade to ensure dedicated access to such aircraft with enhanced crew availability, lower costs and, in many cases, the ability to unlock more favorable rates when
flying more than the minimum number of hours we guarantee to the operator. Additionally, a significant portion of Blade trips are flown by safety-vetted operators to whom
Blade makes no commitments, providing us with additional flexible capacity for high demand periods.

Over the course of 2024, we acquired ten fixed wing aircraft that are currently dedicated to the Medical segment. We made the decision to invest in a limited number of owned
aircraft based in high-volume geographies as we believe direct asset ownership will enable (i) improved economies of scale; (ii) increased uptime, enabling more reliable
service and higher asset utilization; and (iii) the ability to compete for certain contracts where asset ownership is preferred or required. All of these aircraft are operated and
maintained by third-party service providers under Blade’s oversight. See Item 2. Properties “—Aircraft Assets” in this Annual Report for more information. We prioritize the
use of owned aircraft and dedicated aircraft under CPAs, which provide better economies of scale. We size our owned fleet and our commitments under CPAs significantly
below our expected demand, enabling us to maximize utilization on those aircraft while fulfilling incremental demand through our network of non-dedicated operators.

Blade’s proprietary “customer-to-cockpit” technology stack enables us to manage fliers and organ transports across numerous simultaneous flights with multiple operators
around the world. We believe that this technology, which provides (i) real-time tracking of organ transports and passenger flights; (ii) profit/loss information on a flight-by-
flight basis; (iii) customized portals for all relevant parties including pilots, accounting teams, operator dispatch, transplant coordinators and Blade’s logistics team; and (iv) a
customer-facing app for passenger missions, will enable us to continue to scale our business. This technology stack was built with future growth in mind and is designed to allow
our platform to be easily scaled to accommodate, among other things, rapid increases in volume, new routes, new operators, broader flight schedules, international expansion,
next-generation verticraft and ancillary services (e.g., last/first-mile ground connections, trip cancellation insurance, baggage delivery) through our mobile apps, website and
cloud-based tools.

Our asset-light business model was developed to be scalable and profitable using conventional aircraft today while enabling a seamless transition to EVA, once they are
certified for public use. We intend to leverage the expected lower operating costs of EVA versus helicopters to reduce the consumer’s price for our flights. Additionally, we
expect the reduced noise footprint and zero carbon emission characteristics of EVA to allow for the development of new, vertical landing infrastructure (“vertiports”) in our
existing and new markets.

Factors Affecting our Performance

Ability to attract and retain fliers in our Short Distance product line

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to cost-effectively attract new fliers, retain existing fliers, and increase utilization of our platform by existing fliers. Historically, we
have made, and expect that we will need to continue to make, significant investments and implement strategic initiatives in order to attract new fliers, such as flier acquisition
campaigns and the launching of new scheduled routes. These investments and initiatives may not be effective in generating sales growth or profits. In addition, marketing
campaigns can be expensive and may not result in the acquisition of additional fliers in a cost-effective manner, if at all. As our brand becomes more widely known, future
marketing campaigns or brand content may not attract new fliers at the same rate as past campaigns or brand content. If we are unable to attract new fliers, our business,
financial condition, and results of operations will be adversely affected.

Our fliers have a wide variety of options for transportation, including business aviation, commercial airlines, private aircraft operators, personal vehicles, rental cars, taxis,
public transit, and ride-sharing offerings. To expand our flier base, we must appeal to new fliers who have historically used other forms of transportation. If fliers do not
perceive our urban air mobility services to be reliable, safe, and cost-effective, or if we fail to offer new and relevant services and features on our platform, we may not be able
to attract or retain fliers or increase their utilization of our platform. If we fail to continue to
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grow our flier base, retain existing fliers, or increase the overall utilization of our platform, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely
affected.

Ability to attract and retain customers in our MediMobility Organ Transport and Jet and Other product lines

Our MediMobility Organ Transport product line primarily serves transplant centers, organ procurement organizations and hospitals (collectively, “Medical Customers”).
Transportation for the hearts, lungs and livers that make up the vast majority of this product line is typically requested only hours before the required departure time. Our ability
to successfully fulfill these requests with consistent pricing on the requested aircraft type, be it jet, turboprop or helicopter, is the primary metric by which Medical Customers
evaluate our performance.

The organ transportation market is highly competitive and we compete for organ transportation business primarily on our ability to provide reliable, end-to-end air and ground
transportation at competitive pricing. Increasingly, we compete directly with manufacturers of organ preservation equipment that also offer transportation or with providers that
offer additional services, such as surgical organ recovery, that our customers find valuable. We may face increased competition as our Medical Customers may prefer a
streamlined logistics offering. We have responded to customer demand by introducing new services, such as our TOPS offering, whereby we assist customers in evaluating the
suitability of potential donor organs for transplant, but they may demand services or technology that we cannot provide, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Historically, our significant demand for both Passenger and MediMobility Organ Transport flight capacity has been enough to incentivize operators to provide aircraft and
crews for our use. However, there is no guarantee that we will continue to be able to secure dedicated aircraft at favorable rates, particularly given significant increases in
demand for private jet aircraft in the United States in recent years. Periods of increased demand for private jets have historically led to increased charter costs and more limited
availability in the spot jet charter market. Although this has not limited our ability to maintain or increase our access to dedicated jet aircraft at fixed prices in recent periods, jet
charter, which makes up the majority of our Jet and Other product line, is highly competitive and volumes and pricing have historically been significantly influenced by overall
market supply and demand.

Impact of inflation to our business

We generally pay a fixed hourly rate to our third-party operators, based on flight hours flown. These rates are susceptible to inflation and are typically renegotiated on a yearly
basis, though some multi-year contracts have fixed rate increases. Some contracts with operators allow for pass-through of fuel price increases above a set threshold. For our
owned aircraft, we are more directly exposed to inflation of aircraft operating expenses, including pilot salaries, fuel, insurance, parts and maintenance.

We have historically passed through cost inflation to customers and most contracts with our MediMobility Organ Transport customers automatically pass through any fuel
surcharges, but there is no guarantee this will continue in the future.

Passenger Expansion into New Geographic Markets

Our Passenger segment growth plan is focused on dense urban areas, primarily those with existing air transportation infrastructure that are facing increasing ground congestion.
For example, in 2022, we acquired the entities that we collectively refer to as “Blade Europe”, which operate in Southern France and Monaco. Blade Europe acts as the air
charter broker and/or reseller of air transportation services operated and provided by our operator partners for routes in Southern France, Monaco, Italy and Switzerland. Growth
in our Passenger segment will depend in part on our ability to successfully enter into new markets, create and introduce new routes, and expand our existing routes by adding
more frequent flights. In these areas, our urban air mobility services can provide the most time savings for our fliers, and given the short distances involved, costs for our
services can be comparable to luxury, private car services. Significant changes to our existing routes or the introduction of new and unproven routes may require us to obtain
and maintain applicable permits, authorizations, or other regulatory approvals. In addition, EVA may be commercially viable sooner in these markets given that battery
technology constraints may limit the range of early models. Large urban markets with existing heliport infrastructure should be able to accommodate EVA while other cities
may need several years to permit and build such infrastructure.

If these new or expanded routes are unsuccessful or fail to attract a sufficient number of fliers to be profitable, or we are unable to bring new or expanded routes to market
efficiently, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected. Furthermore, new third-party aircraft operator or flier demands regarding our
services, including the availability of superior routes or a deterioration in the quality of our existing routes, could negatively affect
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the attractiveness of our platform and the economics of our business and require us to make substantial changes to and additional investments in our routes or our business
model. The number of potential fliers using our urban air mobility services in any market cannot be predicted with any degree of certainty, and we cannot provide assurance that
we will be able to operate in a profitable manner in any of our current or targeted future markets.

Development, approval and acceptance of EVA for commercial service

We intend to leverage the expected lower operating costs of EVA versus helicopters to reduce the price for our flights. Additionally, we expect the reduced noise footprint and
zero carbon emission characteristics of EVA to allow for the development of new vertiports in our existing and new markets. However, EVA involves a complex set of
technologies, which we rely on OEMs to develop and our third-party aircraft operators to adopt. However, before EVA can fly passengers or cargo, OEMs must receive
requisite approvals from federal transportation authorities. No EVA aircraft are currently certified by the FAA for commercial operations in the United States, and there is no
assurance that OEM research and development will result in government certified aircraft that are market-viable or commercially successful in a timely manner, or at all. In
order to gain government certification, the performance, reliability, and safety of EVA must be proven, none of which can be assured. Even if EVA aircraft are certified,
individual operators must conform EVA aircraft to their licenses, which requires FAA approval, and individual pilots also must be licensed and approved by the FAA to fly
EVA aircraft, which could contribute to delays in any widespread use of EVA and potentially limit the number of EVA operators available to our business. There is no
assurance that research and development will result in government certified aircraft that are market-viable or commercially successful in a timely manner, or at all.

We believe that Blade is well positioned to introduce EVA into commercial service, once available, for a number of reasons. In our Passenger segment, we believe our existing
Short Distance routes will be compatible with EVA, which are initially expected to have a limited range, and our existing terminal space will accommodate EVA. Additionally,
we believe that the last-mile transports we perform using helicopters or ground vehicles in our Medical segment may be compatible with EVA, reducing organ transport time
and cost for our customers. Blade’s unit economics are designed to be profitable using either conventional helicopters or EVA, even if early EVA do not deliver significant cost
savings relative to helicopters. Moreover, Blade’s asset-light business model and technology platform are operator and aircraft agnostic, enabling a seamless transition to EVA.

Seasonality

Passenger segment

Historically, we have experienced significant seasonality in our Short Distance product line with flight volume peaking during the quarters ended June 30 (Q2) and September
30 (Q3) of each fiscal year due to the busy summer travel season, with lower volume during the first and fourth quarter (Q1 and Q4).

Jet and Other revenue has historically been stronger in the first and fourth quarter (Q1 and Q4) given that our by-the-seat jet service between New York and South Florida has
historically operated only between November and April. We discontinued this service in November 2023.

Medical segment

Historically, seasonality in our MediMobility Organ Transport product line has not been significant, though our trip volumes are correlated with the overall supply of donor
hearts, livers and lungs in the United States, which can be volatile due to a variety of factors.

Key Components of the Company’s Results of Operations

Revenue

Short Distance products are typically purchased using the Blade App and paid for principally via credit card transactions, wire, check, customer credit, and gift cards, with
payments principally collected by the Company in advance of the performance of related services. The revenue is recognized when the service is completed.
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Jet products are typically purchased through our Flier Relations associates and our app and are paid for principally via checks, wires and credit card. Jet payments are typically
collected at the time of booking before the performance of the related service. The revenue is recognized when the service is completed.

MediMobility Organ Transport products are typically purchased through our medical logistics coordinators and are paid for principally via checks and wires. Payments are
generally collected after the performance of the related service in accordance with the client's payment terms. The revenue is recognized when the service is completed.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue consists of flight costs paid to operators of aircraft and vehicles, landing fees, depreciation of aircraft and vehicles, operating lease cost, internal costs incurred in
generating organ ground transportation revenue using the Company's owned vehicles and costs of operating our owned aircraft including fuel, management fees paid to the
operator, maintenance costs and pilot salaries.

Software Development

Software development expenses consist primarily of staff costs, stock-based compensation costs and capitalized software amortization costs.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses principally include staff costs including stock-based compensation, intangibles amortization, depreciation, establishment costs, impairment
of intangible assets, directors and officers insurance costs, pilot training costs for owned aircraft, professional fees and credit card processing fees.

Selling and Marketing

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of advertising costs, staff costs including stock-based compensation, marketing expenses, sales commissions and promotion
costs. The trend and timing of our brand marketing expenses will depend in part on the timing of our expansion into new markets and other marketing campaigns.
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Results of Operations

The following table presents our consolidated statements of operations for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2024 % of Revenue 2023
% of Revenue

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Revenue $ 248,693 100% $ 225,180 100%

Operating expenses
Cost of revenue 189,774 76% 183,058 81%
Software development 3,184 1% 4,627 2%
General and administrative 81,711 33% 95,174 42%
Selling and marketing 7,950 3% 10,438 5%

Total operating expenses 282,619 114% 293,297 130%

Loss from operations (33,926) (68,117)

Other non-operating income (expense)
Interest income 7,214 8,442 
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities (850) 2,125 
Realized gain from sales of short-term investments — 8 

Total other non-operating income 6,364 10,575 

Loss before income taxes (27,562) (57,542)

Income tax benefit (255) (1,466)

Net loss $ (27,307) $ (56,076)

Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.35) $ (0.76)

Weighted-average number of shares outstanding, basic and diluted 77,499,423 73,524,476 
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023

Revenue

Disaggregated revenue by product line was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 % Change

(in thousands, except percentages)
Product Line:
Short Distance $ 72,203 $ 70,700 2.1 %
Jet and Other 29,673 27,876 6.4 %
MediMobility Organ Transport 146,817 126,604 16.0 %
Total Revenue $ 248,693 $ 225,180 10.4 %

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, revenue increased by $23.5 million or 10.4%, from $225.2 million in 2023 to $248.7 million in 2024.

Short Distance revenue increased by $1.5 million or 2.1% from $70.7 million in 2023 to $72.2 million in 2024. Growth in Short Distance was primarily driven by growth in our
Hamptons seasonal service for a $2.6 million increase, growth in our New York airport transfer products, including annual pass activity, for a $1.5 million increase, and
increased volumes of Northeast helicopter charters for a $1.5 million increase. This was partially offset by the discontinuation of the Canada routes on August 31, 2024 for a
$4.1 million decrease.

Jet and Other revenue increased by $1.8 million, or 6.4%, from $27.9 million in 2023 to $29.7 million in 2024. This increase was driven by a $4.7 million growth in jet charters,
higher brand partnership revenues for $0.4 million, and revenue from the introduction of the new seasonal Hamptons Streamliner Bus in the current year period for $0.3 million.
This was partially offset by a $3.9 million decrease attributable to the discontinuation of our seasonal by-the-seat jet service between New York and South Florida.

MediMobility Organ Transport revenue increased by $20.2 million or 16.0% from $126.6 million in 2023 to $146.8 million in 2024. The growth was driven primarily by $8.3
million attributable to the addition of new hospital clients, including for our TOPS organ placement service, and higher revenue from existing clients of $16.2 million related to
higher volumes, higher revenue per trip and higher ground revenue. Growth in revenue from existing clients was partially impacted by reduced repositioning flight hours due to
positioning own aircraft closer to our clients, providing efficiencies and improved service for our customers. Those increases were further offset by a $4.3 million decrease due
to one temporary customer we supported only in the 2023 period. Excluding the impact of the temporary customer, revenue would have grown 20% versus the 2023 period.

Cost of Revenue

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 % Change

(in thousands, except percentages)
Cost of revenue $ 189,774 $ 183,058 3.7 %

Percentage of revenue 76 % 81 %

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, cost of revenue increased by $6.7 million, or 3.7%, from $183.1 million during 2023 to $189.8 million in 2024 driven by
increased flight volume.

Cost of revenue as a percentage of revenues decreased by 5 percentage points from 81% to 76%, attributable primarily to: a mix-shift to dedicated aircraft in the Medical
segment, which operate at enhanced economies of scale; increased revenue per flight hour in our Medical segment; improved pricing with improved load factor in our
Hamptons by-the-seat product and in our New York airport transfer products; and improved pricing in jet charter flights compared to the prior year period.
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Software Development

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 % Change

(in thousands, except percentages)
Software development $ 3,184 4,627 (31.2)%

Percentage of revenue 1 % 2 %

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, software development costs decreased by $(1.4) million, or (31.2)%, from $4.6 million during 2023 to $3.2 million in 2024.
This decrease was primarily due to a higher proportion of software development costs being capitalized in 2024 rather than expensed. Specifically, in 2024, we had more
software development projects that reached technological feasibility. Additionally, stock-based compensation costs decreased by $0.4 million, contributing to the overall
decrease.

General and Administrative

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 % Change

(in thousands, except percentages)
General and administrative $ 81,711 $ 95,174 (14.1)%

Percentage of revenue 33 % 42 %

For the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, general and administrative expense decreased by $(13.5) million, or (14.1)%, from $95.2 million in 2023 to $81.7 million in
2024.

The primary drivers for the decrease were: a $20.8 million decrease in impairment expense related to Blade Europe’s intangible assets in the prior year period, a $9.7 million
decrease attributable to contingent consideration compensation (earn-out) in the prior year period and a $3.2 million decrease in intangibles amortization costs. These decreases
were partially offset by the following increases: a $7.5 million increase in stock-based compensation largely due to performance-based stock units granted in the first quarter of
2024; a $5.8 million impairment expense related to the exclusive rights to air transportation services intangible asset associated with Blade Canada, which was discontinued in
2024; a $1.9 million increase in staff costs attributable mainly to the growth in our Medical segment; a $1.7 million increase in legal and regulatory advocacy fees associated
with two specific cases (the Drulias lawsuit discussed in “Item 3. Legal Proceedings” of this Annual Report and to the proposed restrictions at East Hampton Airport); a $1.6
million increase in expenses related to the owned aircraft, including pilot training, hangar costs and insurance (which did not exist in the prior year period); and a $1.4 million
increase due to restructuring costs in Europe, where we eliminated redundant positions overlapping with our exclusive operator.

Selling and Marketing

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 % Change

(in thousands, except percentages)
Selling and marketing $ 7,950 $ 10,438 (23.8)%

Percentage of revenue 3 % 5 %

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, selling and marketing expense decreased by $(2.5) million, or (23.8)%, from $10.4 million in 2023 to $8.0 million in 2024.
The decrease is attributable primarily to a $1.7 million decrease in media spend, primarily driven by the discontinuation of our seasonal by-the-seat jet service between New
York and South Florida (which was discontinued in November 2023) and more disciplined media spend in the winter months, and a $1.5 million decrease in cash commissions
in the Medical segment. Those decreases were partially offset by a $0.5 million increase in stock-based compensation.
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Other non-operating income (expense)

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 % Change

(in thousands, except percentages)
Interest income, net $ 7,214 $ 8,442 
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities (850) 2,125 
Realized gain from sales of short-term investments — 8 

Total other non-operating income $ 6,364 $ 10,575 (39.8)%

For the year ended December 31, 2024, total other non-operating income consisted of $7.2 million interest income, attributable to our short-term investments and our money
market funds; and $0.9 million non-cash loss due to fair value revaluation of warrant liabilities as the value of the warrant liabilities fluctuates with the warrants’ market price.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, total other non-operating income consisted of $8.4 million interest income, attributable to our short-term investments and our money
market funds; and $2.1 million non-cash gain due to fair value revaluation of warrant liabilities as the value of the warrant liabilities fluctuates with the warrants’ market price.

Segment Results of Operations

We operate our business as two reportable segments - Passenger and Medical. For additional information about our segments, see Note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements included in this Annual Report.

Segment Revenue and Segment Adjusted EBITDA

The following table presents our segment results for the periods indicated:
Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 % Change

(in thousands, except percentages)
Segment Revenue
Passenger $ 101,876 $ 98,576 3.3 %
Medical 146,817 126,604 16.0 %
Total revenue $ 248,693 $ 225,180 10.4 %

Segment Adjusted EBITDA
Passenger $ 3,568 $ (4,988) NM(4)
Medical 19,286 10,754 79.3 %
Adjusted unallocated corporate expenses and software development (1) (21,649) (22,399) (3.3) %
Total Adjusted EBITDA (2) $ 1,205 $ (16,633) NM(4)

Segment Adjusted EBITDA Margin (3)
Passenger 3.5 % (5.1)%
Medical 13.1 % 8.5 %
Adjusted EBITDA Margin (2) 0.5 % (7.4)%
(1) Includes costs that are not directly attributable to reportable segments such as finance, accounting, tax, information technology, human resources, legal costs and software development
costs (primarily consists of staff and contractors costs), and excludes non-cash items and certain transactions that management does not believe are reflective of our ongoing core operations.
(2) Total Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure. See the section titled “Reconciliations of Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below for more information and reconciliations to the most
directly comparable GAAP financial measure.
(3) Adjusted EBITDA margin is defined as Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue. Segment Adjusted EBITDA is defined as segment Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of segment
revenue.
(4) Percentage not meaningful.
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Passenger segment

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, Passenger revenue increased by $3.3 million, or 3.3%, from $98.6 million in 2023 to $101.9 million in 2024. The increase
was attributable to a $1.5 million increase in Short Distance and a $1.8 million increase in Jet and Other. Refer to the disaggregated revenue discussion above under
“—Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023—Revenue” for more details.
Passenger Adjusted EBITDA improved by $8.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 from $(5.0) million in the same period of 2023 to $3.6 million in 2024. The
improvement is primarily attributable to higher revenue combined with lower effective cost of revenue per flight across Passenger flights (Short Distance and Jet flights)
compared to the prior year period for a $6.4 million impact, attributable to improved pricing and improved load factor. Further improvements are attributable to a $1.6 million
decrease in marketing expenses and a $0.5 million decrease in personnel costs.

Medical segment

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, Medical revenue increased by $20.2 million, or 16.0%, from $126.6 million in 2023 to $146.8 million in 2024. Refer to the
disaggregated revenue discussion above under “—Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023—Revenue” for more details.

Medical Adjusted EBITDA increased by $8.5 million, or 79.3%, for the year ended December 31, 2024 from $10.8 million in the same period of 2023 to $19.3 million in 2024.
$10.2 million of the increase is attributable to increase in revenue coupled with lower effective cost of revenue per trip driven by higher revenue per flight hour; mix-shift to
dedicated aircraft, partially driven by our acquisitions of aircraft, which generally have lower operating costs per flight hour; and mix shift to ground revenue, which is, on
average, higher margin versus air. This was partially offset by a $1.7 million increase in fixed costs, primarily staff costs to support the higher activity, including costs related to
aircraft ownership that did not exist in the prior year period.

Consolidated Net Loss, Adjusted EBITDA, Gross Profit, Flight Profit, Gross Margin, and Flight Margin

The following table presents our consolidated Adjusted EBITDA, Gross Profit, Gross Margin, Flight Profit and Flight Margin results:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 % Change

(in thousands, except percentages)
Net Loss $ (27,307) $ (56,076) (51)%
Adjusted EBITDA(1) $ 1,205 $ (16,633) NM(2)
Gross Profit $ 40,652 $ 22,458 81.0 %
Flight Profit(1) $ 58,919 $ 42,122 39.9 %
Gross Margin 16.3 % 10.0 %
Flight Margin(1) 23.7 % 18.7 %
(1) See section titled “Reconciliations of Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for more information and reconciliations to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure.
(2) Percentage not meaningful.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023

Net loss improved by $28.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 from $(56.1) million in the same period of 2023 to $(27.3) million in 2024. See Results of Operations
for further discussion. Adjusted EBITDA improved by $17.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 from $(16.6) million in the same period of 2023 to $1.2 million in
2024. The improvement is primarily attributable to Adjusted EBITDA improvements of $8.6 million and $8.5 million in Passenger and Medical, respectively (refer to the
discussion above), coupled with a $0.8 million decrease in Adjusted unallocated corporate costs and software development, mostly attributable to a $0.7 million decrease in staff
costs and a $0.3 million decrease in professional services and insurance.

Gross Profit increased by $18.2 million, or 81%, for the year ended December 31, 2024 from $22.5 million in the same period of 2023 to $40.7 million in 2024. Flight Profit
increased by $16.8 million, or 40%, for the year ended December 31, 2024 from
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$42.1 million in the same period of 2023 to $58.9 million in 2024. The increase was partially driven by a 10% increase in revenue coupled with lower effective cost of revenue
per flight across all of Passenger product lines (Short Distance and jet flights) compared to the prior year period, attributable to improved pricing and improved load factor (in
the by-the-seat products). The increase was also driven by improvements in Medical including: (i) increased volumes; (ii) higher revenue per flight hour; (iii) mix shift to
dedicated aircraft, partially driven by our acquisitions of aircraft, which generally have lower operating costs per flight hour; and (iv) mix shift to ground revenue, which is, on
average, higher margin versus air. These improvements in Medical were partially offset by reduced repositioning flight hours due to positioning owned aircraft closer to our
clients, resulting in improved service for our customers.

Gross Margin increased from 10.0% in the year ended December 31, 2023 to 16.3% in the same period of 2024. Flight Margin increased from 18.7% in the year ended
December 31, 2023 to 23.7% in the same period of 2024, attributable to lower effective cost of revenue per flight in both Passenger and Medical flights as described above
under Flight Profit.

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Certain non-GAAP measures included in this report have been derived from amounts calculated in accordance with GAAP but are not themselves GAAP measures. Blade
believes that the non-GAAP measures discussed below, viewed in addition to and not in lieu of our reported U.S. GAAP results, provide useful information to investors by
providing a more focused measure of operating results, enhance the overall understanding of past financial performance and future prospects, and allow for greater transparency
with respect to key metrics used by management in its financial and operational decision making. The non-GAAP measures presented herein may not be comparable to
similarly titled measures presented by other companies. These include Adjusted EBITDA, Flight Profit and Flight Margin, which we define, explain the use of and reconcile to
the nearest GAAP financial measure below.

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as net loss adjusted to exclude (1) depreciation and amortization, (2) stock-based compensation, (3) change in fair value of warrant liabilities, (4)
interest income and expense, (5) income tax, (6) realized gains and losses on short-term investments, (7) impairment of intangible assets and (8) certain other non-recurring
items (shown below) that management does not believe are indicative of ongoing Company operating performance and would impact the comparability of results between
periods. The Company believes the presentation of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue are relevant and useful for investors because it allows
investors to view our performance in the same manner as the primary method used by management to evaluate performance and make decisions about allocating resources.

49



Table of Contents

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

(in thousands)
Net loss $ (27,307) $ (56,076)
Add (deduct):
Depreciation and amortization 5,962 7,111 
Stock-based compensation 19,995 12,501 
Impairment of intangible assets 5,759 20,753 
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 850 (2,125)
Realized gain from sales of short-term investments — (8)
Interest income (7,214) (8,442)
Income tax benefit (255) (1,466)
Legal and regulatory advocacy fees (1) 1,713 686 
Executive severance costs 140 447 
SOX readiness costs 399 252 
Contingent consideration compensation (earn-out) (2) — 9,734 
M&A transaction costs 241 — 
Gain on lease modification (3) (519) — 
Restructuring costs (4) 1,441 — 
Adjusted EBITDA $ 1,205 $ (16,633)
Revenue $ 248,693 $ 225,180 
Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue 0.5 % (7.4)%

(1) Includes legal advocacy fees that we do not consider representative of legal and regulatory advocacy costs that we will incur from time to time in the ordinary course of our business. For
the year ended December 31, 2024, these costs primarily related to the Drulias lawsuit (see “— Legal and Environmental” within Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements included in
this Annual Report for additional information) and to the proposed restrictions at East Hampton Airport. For the year ended December 31, 2023, these costs primarily related to certain
proposed restrictions at East Hampton Airport and the potential operational restrictions on large jet aircraft at Westchester Airport
(2) Represents contingent consideration in connection with the Trinity acquisition; 2023 was the last year subject to an earn-out payment.
(3) Gain from derecognition of the embedded lease following the amendment of the Aircraft Operator Agreement (see Note  6 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual
Report for additional information); excluded from Adjusted EBITDA as a non-cash gain not indicative of ongoing operating performance or comparable between periods.
(4) Includes severance, retention, legal and other one-time restructuring costs associated with a reorganization of Blade Europe and one-time termination fee of Blade Canada routes.

Flight Profit and Flight Margin

Flight Profit is calculated as revenue less cost of revenue. Flight Margin is calculated as Flight Profit divided by revenue. Flight Profit and Flight Margin are measures that
management uses to assess the performance of the business. Blade believes that Flight Profit and Flight Margin provide a useful measure of the profitability of the Company's
flight and ground operations, as they focus solely on the non-discretionary direct costs associated with generating revenue such as third-party variable costs and costs of owning
and operating Blade’s owned aircraft.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Gross Profit, which is the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure to Flight Profit, is calculated as revenue less cost of revenue and other costs directly related to
revenue generating transactions, including credit card processing fees, real estate depreciation and intangibles amortization, direct staff costs including stock-based
compensation, commercial costs and establishment costs. Gross Margin is calculated as Gross Profit divided by revenue. The reconciliation of Gross Profit to Flight Profit can
be found in the table below.
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Reconciliation of Gross Profit to Flight Profit
Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023
(in thousands, except percentages)

Revenue $ 248,693 $ 225,180 
Less:

Cost of revenue (1) 189,774 183,058 
Depreciation and amortization (2) 3,422 6,361 
Stock-based compensation 185 193 
Other (3) 14,660 13,110 

Gross Profit $ 40,652 $ 22,458 
Gross Margin 16.3 % 10.0 %

Gross Profit $ 40,652 $ 22,458 
Reconciling items:

Depreciation and amortization (2) 3,422 6,361 
Stock-based compensation 185 193 
Other (3) 14,660 13,110 

Flight Profit $ 58,919 $ 42,122 
Flight Margin 23.7 % 18.7 %

(1) Cost of revenue consists of flight costs paid to operators of aircraft and vehicles, landing fees, depreciation of aircraft and vehicles, operating lease cost, internal costs incurred in
generating organ ground transportation revenue using the Company's owned vehicles and costs of operating our owned aircraft including fuel, management fees paid to the operator,
maintenance costs and pilot salaries.
(2) Real estate depreciation and intangibles amortization included within general and administrative.
(3) Other costs include credit card processing fees, direct staff costs (primarily customer facing, logistics and coordination personnel), commercial costs and establishment costs.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources of Liquidity

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had total liquidity of $127.1 million and $166.1 million, respectively, consisting of cash and cash equivalents of $18.4 million and $27.9
million, respectively, and short-term investments of $108.8 million and $138.3 million, respectively. In addition, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 , we had restricted cash of
$1.3 million and $1.1 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2024, $108.8 million of short-term investments consisted of securities that are traded in highly liquid markets.
With $127.1 million of total liquid funds as of December 31, 2024, we anticipate that we have sufficient funds to meet our current operational needs for at least the next 12
months from the date of filing this Annual Report.

Liquidity Requirements

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had net working capital of $138.0 million, cash and cash equivalents of $18.4 million and short-term investments of $108.8 million.
The Company had net losses of $27.3 million and $56.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

In the course of our business, we have certain contractual relationships with third-party aircraft operators pursuant to which we may be contingently required to make payments
in the future. As of December 31, 2024, we had commitments to purchase flights from various aircraft operators with aggregate minimum flight purchase guarantees of $5.8
million and $5.4 million for the years ending December 31, 2025 and 2026, respectively, $5.0 million and $5.4 million, respectively, of which may be cancelled by us
immediately if a government authority enacts travel restrictions and $1.6 million and $0.0 million, respectively, of which could be terminated by Blade for convenience upon 60
days’ notice with the annual minimum guarantee being pro-rated as of the termination date. See “—Capacity Purchase Agreements” (“CPAs”) within Note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report for additional information and for information about future periods. Additionally, the Company has operating
lease obligations related to real estate and vehicles with expected annual minimum lease payments of $2.0 million and $1.8 million for the years ending December 31, 2025 and
2026, respectively. See Note 6 “Right-of-Use Asset and Operating Lease Liability” to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report for additional
information and for information about future periods.

We have non-cancellable commitments which primarily relate to cloud services and other items in the ordinary course of business. The amounts are determined based on the
non-cancellable quantities to which we are contractually obligated. In December 2023, the Company entered into a technology service agreement with a vendor for cloud
computing services where we are committed to spend $1.0 million and $1.6 million for the years ending December 31, 2025 and 2026, respectively.

On March 20, 2024, we announced that our Board of Directors had authorized a stock repurchase program, pursuant to which the Company may repurchase, from time to time,
up to an aggregate of $20.0 million of the Company's common stock, exclusive of any fees, commissions or other expenses related to such repurchases. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, the Company repurchased $0.2 million of common stock pursuant to this program ending with a remaining potential repurchase capacity under the
program of approximately $19.8 million. No shares were repurchased in the quarter ended December 31, 2024. The timing and actual number of shares repurchased will depend
on a variety of factors, including corporate and regulatory requirements, price and other market conditions and management’s determination as to the appropriate use of our
cash. Our stock repurchases have been funded with cash on hand and we intend to continue funding future repurchases with existing cash.

We expect to incur net losses in the short term, as we continue to execute our strategic initiatives. Based on our current liquidity, we believe that no additional capital will be
needed to execute our current business plan over the next 12 months. Our longer term liquidity requirement will depend on many factors including the pace of our expansion
into new markets, our ability to attract and retain customers for our existing products, capital expenditures and acquisitions.
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Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

(in thousands)
Net cash used in operating activities $ (2,519) $ (32,349)
Net cash (used in) / provided by investing activities (1,016) 17,089 
Net cash used in financing activities (5,759) (76)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash balances (80) (66)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash $ (9,374) $ (15,402)

Cash Used In Operating Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2024, net cash used in operating activities was $2.5 million, driven by a net loss of $27.3 million and $3.0 million of cash used for working
capital requirements, adjusted for non-cash items consisting of stock-based compensation expense of $19.9 million, impairment of intangible assets of $5.8 million,
depreciation and amortization of $6.0 million, non-cash accretion of interest income on held-to-maturity securities of $4.0 million, loss from change in fair value of warrant
liabilities of $0.9 million, deferred tax benefit of $0.3 million and gain on lease modification of $0.6 million. The $3.0 million of cash used for working capital requirements was
primarily driven by a decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $8.3 million, driven by the cash payment for the Trinity contingent consideration compensation in
the first quarter, an increase in accounts receivable of $1.0 million (attributable to the revenue growth in the Medical segment) and a decrease in deferred revenue of $0.1
million; partially offset by a decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets of $6.4 million (driven by the utilization of $9.3 million of prepaid deposits under CPAs with
M&N Equipment, LLC as part of the purchase of seven aircraft, slightly offset by new prepayments made to operators in connection with new CPAs).

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash used in operating activities was $32.3 million, primarily driven by a net loss of $56.1 million and $6.7 million cash used for
working capital requirements, adjusted for non-cash items consisting of impairment of intangible assets of $20.8 million, stock-based compensation expense of $12.5 million,
depreciation and amortization of $7.1 million, non-cash accretion of interest income on held-to-maturity securities of $6.5 million, income from change in fair value of warrant
liabilities of $2.1 million, and a deferred tax benefit of $1.5 million. The $6.7 million cash used for working capital requirements was primarily driven by an increase in
accounts receivable of $10.3 million, due to the rapid growth in the Medical segment, and an increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets of $6.0 million, driven by
prepayments to operators in connection with capacity purchase agreements; partially offset by an increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $9.0 million, driven by
the accrual for the Trinity contingent consideration compensation payment and for the 2023 short term incentive plan, and an increase in lease liabilities of $0.4 million.

Cash (Used In) / Provided by Investing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2024, net cash used in investing activities was $1.0 million, driven by $143.3 million in purchases of held-to-maturity investments; $30.9
million in purchases of property and equipment, consisting primarily of $27.1 million in the acquisition of ten aircraft and related capitalized maintenance costs, utilized by the
Medical segment, with the remaining in furniture and fixtures (for new office space in Arizona used by the Medical segment), and purchase of vehicles utilized by the Medical
segment for organ ground transportation; $2.2 million in consideration paid for the acquisition of CJK and $2.1 million in capitalized software development costs, offset by
$177.5 million of proceeds from maturities of held-to-maturity investments.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash provided by investing activities was $17.1 million, driven by $264.5 million of proceeds from maturities of held-to-maturity
investments, $20.5 million of proceeds from sales of other short-term investments, partially offset by $265.8 million in purchases of held-to-maturity investments, $2.1 million
in purchases of property and equipment, consisting of leasehold improvements, furniture and fixtures for lounges used by the Passenger segment, and vehicles used in
generating revenue by the Medical segment.
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Cash Used In Financing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2024, net cash used in financing activities was $5.8 million, reflecting $5.7 million cash paid for payroll tax payments on behalf of employees
in exchange for shares withheld by the Company (“net share settlement”) and $0.2 million in repurchases and retirement of common stock under the share repurchase program
announced March 20, 2024; partially offset by $0.2 million of proceeds from the exercise of stock options.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash used in financing activities was $0.1 million, primarily reflecting $0.1 million cash paid for payroll tax payments made on
behalf of employees in exchange for shares withheld by the Company (“net share settlement”), partially offset by $0.1 million of proceeds from the exercise of stock options.

Critical Accounting Estimates

This discussion and analysis of the Company’s financial condition and results of operations is based on the Company’s consolidated financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America, or U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reported periods. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, the Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on
various other assumptions the Company believes are reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions.

We consider an accounting estimate to be critical if: (1) the accounting estimate requires us to make assumptions about matters that were highly uncertain at the time the
accounting estimate was made, and (2) changes in the estimate that are reasonably likely to occur from period to period, or use of different estimates that we reasonably could
have used in the current period, would have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

We believe that of our significant accounting policies, which are described in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, the following accounting policies involve a
greater degree of judgments, estimates and assumptions. Accordingly, these are the policies that we believe are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our
consolidated financial condition and results of operations. For information on the Company’s significant accounting policies and estimates refer to Note 2 “Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies” and the “Use of Estimates” section of Note 1 “Business and Basis of Presentation” in the consolidated financial statements included in this
Annual Report.

Valuation of Goodwill

We account for goodwill in accordance with ASC 350, “Intangibles - Goodwill and Other” (“ASC 350”). Under ASC 350, goodwill is not amortized, but instead is tested for
impairment annually (in the fourth quarter) or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that goodwill might be impaired. Our goodwill impairment assessment is
performed by reporting unit. A reporting unit is the operating segment, or a business one level below that operating segment (the component level) if discrete financial
information is prepared and regularly reviewed by segment management. We make certain judgments and assumptions to determine our reporting units and in allocating shared
assets and liabilities to determine the carrying values for each of our reporting units. Determination of reporting units is based on a judgmental evaluation of the level at which
senior management reviews financial results, evaluates performance, and allocates resources.

We assess goodwill for impairment initially using a qualitative approach for our MediMobility and Blade Europe reporting units, which have goodwill balances of $15,540 and
$25,510, respectively, as of December 31, 2024. However, should the qualitative assessment indicate potential impairment, a subsequent quantitative test must be performed.

Judgment in the assessment of qualitative factors of impairment include, among other factors: reviewing factors such as macroeconomic conditions, industry and market
considerations, cost factors, entity-specific financial performance and other events, such as changes in the Company’s management, strategy and primary customer base, and
factors affecting the reporting unit. To the extent we determine that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, the Company
performs a quantitative goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment analysis by comparing the carrying amount to the fair value of the reporting unit.

Performing a quantitative goodwill impairment test includes the determination of the fair value of a reporting unit by considering both guideline transaction multiples (a market
approach) and projected discounted future cash flows (an
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income approach) and involves significant estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions include, among others, revenue growth rates and operating margins
used to calculate projected future cash flows, discount rates, future economic and market conditions, and the determination of appropriate revenue multiples.

As of November 30, 2024, for the Blade Europe reporting unit, a quantitative goodwill impairment test (“Step 1 test”) was performed as it was determined that it is more likely
than not that the fair value of the reporting unit was less than its carrying amount. Based on our Step 1 test, which used a 50/50 allocation between the income and market
approach, we determined that the fair value was greater than its respective carrying value by 5%, and therefore, no further action was necessary. Revenue growth rate, operating
margins and the discount rate based on the reporting unit’s weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) were the assumptions that were most sensitive and susceptible to change
as they require significant management judgment. Specifically, the key assumptions utilized were as follows:

a. EVA introduction timeline
b. Revenue Compound Annual Growth Rate (“CAGR”) of 8.7% from the beginning of the projection period through the terminal year.
c. Operating margins projected to increase by 760 basis points in the period leading up to EVA introduction, with an additional 390 basis point expansion after EVA

introduction and through the terminal year of the projection period
d. WACC of 13.0%

The Company believes the estimates and assumptions used in the calculations are reasonable. However, certain future events and circumstances, including deterioration of
market conditions, higher cost of capital, a decline in actual and expected consumer demand, could result in changes to those assumptions and judgments. A revision of those
assumptions could cause the fair value of the reporting unit to fall below its respective carrying value. If in future years, our reporting units’ actual results are not consistent with
our estimates and assumptions used to calculate fair value, we may be required to recognize material impairments to goodwill.

Impairment of Finite-Lived Intangible Assets

The Company assesses long-lived assets for impairment in accordance with the provisions of ASC 360, Property, Plant and Equipment (“ASC 360”). Long-lived assets, except
for goodwill and indefinite intangible assets, are tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset
may not be fully recoverable. If such events or changes in circumstances arise, the Company assesses the recoverability of finite-lived intangible assets by comparing the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset group to its carrying amount. If the carrying amount exceeds the undiscounted future cash flows,
an impairment loss is recognized based on the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its fair value. The recoverability assessment considers various factors, including revenue
growth, operating margins, capital expenditures, and expected long-term cash flow growth rates.

Blade Europe’s finite-lived intangible assets undiscounted future cash flows exceeded the carrying value, as a result, no impairment was required, and no further fair value
assessment was necessary. The key assumptions utilized were as follows:

• EVA introduction timeline
• Revenue Compound Annual Growth Rate (“CAGR”) of 8.7% from the beginning of the projection period through the terminal year.
• Operating margins projected to increase by 760 basis points in the period leading up to EVA introduction, with an additional 390 basis point expansion after EVA

introduction and through the terminal year of the projection period

Operating margins for the years prior to EVA commercialization represents our estimate of the operating margins similar to the overall Blade business.

Our determination of projected cash flows are sensitive to the risk of future variances due to industry and market conditions as well as business unit execution risks.
Management assesses the projected cash flows by considering factors unique to its assets, including recent operating results, business plans, economic projections, anticipated
future cash flows, and other data. Projected cash flows can also be significantly impacted by the future growth opportunities for the cash generating assets as well as for the
Company itself, general market and geographic sentiment.

Assumptions used in impairment testing are made at a point in time and require significant judgment; therefore, they are subject to change based on the facts and circumstances
present at each annual and interim impairment test date. Additionally, these assumptions are generally interdependent and do not change in isolation. Consequently, if future
results fall below our forward-looking projections for an extended period of time, the results of future impairment tests could indicate there is an impairment.
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Leases

Blade’s operating leases consist of airport and heliport terminals, offices, vehicles and aircraft leases that are embedded within certain CPAs. The accounting for leases requires
the application of judgments and assumptions in the following areas:

• Determination of whether an arrangement contains a lease at inception.
• Classifying leases as either operating or finance leases.
• Estimation of the incremental borrowing rate - the Company calculates the present value of lease payments over the lease term, based on the incremental borrowing rate.

Our incremental borrowing rate is an estimate based on an analysis of publicly traded debt securities of companies with credit and financial profiles similar to our own.
• Determination of lease term when a renewal option exists - some of the Company's leases include options to extend the lease term. The Company uses judgment in

determining whether these options are reasonably certain to be exercised, as this determination impacts the ROU amortization period and the value of the ROU asset and
the lease liability.

• Allocation of lease components in embedded leases under CPAs - for certain CPAs with third-party aircraft operators, the Company estimates the portion of the
minimum guarantee that represents a lease component, requiring judgment in distinguishing between lease and non-lease components.

Changes to our assumptions regarding the allocation of lease components in embedded leases under CPAs, as well as our determination of IBR, could result in changes to the
valuation of the underlying ROU asset and lease liability.

Market Risks

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of business, primarily related to foreign currency risk. Blade has not, to date, been exposed to material market risks.

We are exposed to foreign currency risks related to our revenue and operating expenses denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar (predominantly the Euro).
Accordingly, changes in exchange rates may negatively affect our future revenue and other operating results as expressed in U.S. dollars. We might experience fluctuations in
our net income (loss) as a result of transaction gains or (losses) related to remeasurement of our asset and liability balances that are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the entities in which they are recorded.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

Not applicable.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements required by this Item are included in Item 15 of this report and are presented beginning on page F-1.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this report, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)). Based on their evaluation of our
disclosure controls and procedures, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of
December 31, 2024.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
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Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f).
Internal control over financial reporting is a process used to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of our financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. Internal control over financial reporting includes policies and
procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of our financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United
States, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with the authorization of our Board of Directors and management; and provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements.

Our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, performed an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting based on the framework in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
Based on this assessment, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that during the period covered by this report, our internal control over
financial reporting was effective.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024 has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears in Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Remediation of Previously Reported Material Weaknesses

In connection with the preparation of our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023, we identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial
reporting relating to: (a) the lack of effective IT General Controls in relation to user access management to financial applications and change management in certain operational
applications; and (b) control deficiencies within the revenue process that, although not individually material in nature, in aggregate, constituted a material weakness.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of our financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Our management, with the oversight of the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors, designed and implemented measures to remediate the control deficiencies contributing
to the material weaknesses. As part of the remediation process, the Company has:

a. Improved its ability to effectively manage access to its systems and data via adoption of an appropriate authorization process and implementing user access reviews for all
key IT systems;

b. Implemented policies with respect to change management and system development for key IT systems, including documenting test procedures and approvals relating to
changes made to production; and

c. Designed and implemented additional controls to supplement the existing business process controls in relation to the revenue process.

As a result, management concluded that each of the previously reported material weaknesses were remediated as of December 31, 2024.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year end 2024, the Company successfully completed the testing necessary to conclude that the material weaknesses previously described in
Part II, Item 9A of the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 have been remediated. There were no other changes in our internal control over financial
reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, that have materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Limitations on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

An internal control system over financial reporting has inherent limitations and may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be
effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial
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statement preparation and presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. However, these inherent limitations are known features of the
financial reporting process. Therefore, it is possible to design into the process safeguards to reduce, though not eliminate, this risk.

Item 9B. Other Information

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

The adoption or termination of contracts, instructions or written plans for the purchase or sale of our securities by our Section 16 officers and directors for the three months
ended December 31, 2024, each of which is intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) under the Exchange Act (“Rule 10b5-1 Plan”), were as
follows:

On November 14, 2024, Robert S. Wiesenthal, our Chief Executive Officer and a member of our board of directors, terminated a previously disclosed Rule 10b5-1 Plan. The
plan had been adopted on December 14, 2023 and provided for the sale from time to time of up to 250,000 shares of common stock.

On November 25, 2024, Melissa M. Tomkiel, our President and General Counsel, adopted a Rule 10b5-1 Plan providing for the sale from time to time of up to 421,516 shares of
common stock. The duration of the Rule 10b5-1 Plan is until February 28, 2026 or earlier if all transactions under such plan are completed.

On November 26, 2024, William A. Heyburn, our Chief Financial Officer and Head of Corporate Development, adopted a Rule 10b5-1 Plan providing for the sale from time to
time of up to 432,330 shares of common stock. The duration of the Rule 10b5-1 Plan is until February 28, 2026 or earlier if all transactions under such plan are completed.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

Not applicable.

Part III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Name Age Title
Robert S. Wiesenthal 58 Chief Executive Officer and Director
Melissa M. Tomkiel 44 President and General Counsel
William A. Heyburn 36 Chief Financial Officer and Head of Corporate Development
Amir M. Cohen 48 Chief Accounting Officer
Scott M. Wunsch 48 Chief Executive Officer, Trinity
Eric L. Affeldt 67 Chairman of the Board
John K.L. Borthwick 59 Director
Andrew C. Lauck 39 Director
Kenneth B. Lerer 73 Director
Reginald L. Love 42 Director
Susan M. Lyne 74 Director
Edward M. Philip 59 Director

Robert S. Wiesenthal has served as Blade’s Chief Executive Officer since the closing of EIC’s acquisition of Old Blade in 2021 (the “Closing Date”) and Old Blade’s Chief
Executive Officer from July 2015 through the Closing Date. Mr. Wiesenthal has also served as one of our directors since May 2021, and as a member of Old Blade’s Board of
Directors from June 2014 through the Closing Date. From January 2013 to July 2015, Mr. Wiesenthal served as Chief Operating Officer of Warner Music Group Corp., a global
music conglomerate. From 2000 to 2012, Mr. Wiesenthal served in various senior executive capacities with Sony Corporation, most recently as Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer of Sony Corporation of America. Prior to joining Sony, from 1988 to 2000, Mr. Wiesenthal served in various capacities with Credit Suisse First Boston,
most recently as Managing Director, Head of Digital Media and Entertainment. Mr.
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Wiesenthal currently serves on the Board of Directors of TripAdvisor Inc., a Nasdaq-listed company, and previously served on the Board of Directors of Starz, a global media
and entertainment company. Mr. Wiesenthal has a B.A. from the University of Rochester.

Melissa M. Tomkiel  has served as Blade’s President and General Counsel since the Closing Date and Old Blade’s President since January 2021 and Old Blade’s General
Counsel since February 2015. Ms. Tomkiel was Old Blade’s President, Fixed Wing from 2015 to 2020. From 2010 to 2015, Ms. Tomkiel was President of LIMA NY Corp., a
commuter air carrier operating amphibious seaplanes and rotorcraft. From 2006 to 2010, Ms. Tomkiel was an attorney at Pryor Cashman, a U.S. law firm. Ms. Tomkiel has a
J.D. from St. John’s University School of Law and a B.A. from the University of Notre Dame.

William A. Heyburn  has served as Blade’s Chief Financial Officer and Head of Corporate Development since the Closing Date, Old Blade’s Chief Financial Officer from
December 2020 through the Closing Date and Old Blade’s Head of Corporate Development from May 2018 through the Closing Date. From 2015 to April 2018, Mr. Heyburn
served in various capacities at Redbird Capital Partners LP (“RedBird”), a private investment firm, most recently as Vice President. Prior to joining RedBird, Mr. Heyburn was
a member of the U.S. Credit Investment Team at Oak Hill Advisors, L.P., a global alternative investment firm, from 2013 to 2015. Prior to joining Oak Hill, Mr. Heyburn was a
member of the investment banking group at Moelis and Company, an independent investment bank, focused on restructuring transactions, from 2011 to 2013. Mr. Heyburn has
an A.B. from Harvard University.

Amir M. Cohen has served as Blade’s Chief Accounting Officer since May 2021. From 2008 to April 2021, Mr. Cohen served in various capacities at WPP, a multinational
communication holding company, most recently as Senior Vice President of Finance. Prior to joining WPP, Mr. Cohen was a Manager at PwC LLP in New York from 2006 to
2008. Mr. Cohen is a Certified Public Accountant and has an M.B.A from New York University and a B.A. in Economics and Accounting from the Hebrew University of
Jerusalem.

Scott M. Wunsch has served as Trinity’s Chief Executive Officer since May 2024. From September 2018 until May 2024, Mr. Wunsch served as Trinity’s Chief Operating
Officer and Vice President of Strategy. Prior to joining Trinity, from April 2005 to July 2018, Mr. Wunsch served in various capacities, most recently as Vice President of
Operations, at LifeCenter Northwest, the largest geographic Organ Procurement Organization in the United States, serving the Alaska, Washington, northern Idaho and
Montana areas. Mr. Wunsch holds a B.A. in Organizational Management from Whitworth University and a M.P.A. in Public Health from Grand Canyon University.

Eric L. Affeldt has served as our Chairman since September 2019. From 2006 to 2017, Mr. Affeldt served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of ClubCorp, a
privately held owner and operator of golf, dining and fitness clubs. In 2017, he assisted with the take private transaction of ClubCorp, which was previously listed on the NYSE,
to an affiliate of Apollo Global Management. Prior to ClubCorp, he served as a principal of KSL Capital Partners, a private equity firm that specializes in travel and leisure,
from 2005 to 2007. In addition, Mr. Affeldt was president of General Aviation Holdings, Inc., an aviation holding company, from 2000 to 2005. Prior to this, Mr. Affeldt also
served as President and Chief Executive Officer of KSL Fairways, an owner and manager of golf courses; vice president and general manager of Doral Golf Resort and Spa in
Miami and the PGA West and La Quinta Resort and Club in California. He has also served on the Board of Directors of the Vail Health System, a private healthcare system in
Colorado, since 2017. Mr. Affeldt served as a director for Cedar Fair Entertainment Company, an owner and operator of amusement parks, from 2010 to 2018, and was
chairman of the Board of Directors from 2012 to 2018. He has a B.A. in Political Science and Religion from Claremont McKenna College. We believe Mr. Affeldt is qualified
to serve as one of our directors based on his experience as a public company executive and director and his extensive operational, board and investment experience.

John K.L. Borthwick has served as one of our directors since March 2023. Mr. Borthwick is the Chief Executive Officer and a member of the Board of Directors of
Betaworks, a New York-based startup platform that builds, accelerates, and invests in early-stage consumer technology companies, which he founded in August 2008. From
July 2006 to October 2007, Mr. Borthwick served as the Chief Executive Officer of Fotolog, a private photo-sharing social media network. From March 2003 to August 2006,
Mr. Borthwick served as Senior Vice President of Alliances and Technology Strategy for Time Warner Inc., a NYSE-listed media and entertainment company. Mr. Borthwick
currently serves on the Board of Trustees of WNYC, New York Public Radio. Mr. Borthwick has an M.B.A. from the Wharton School and a B.A. in Economics from Wesleyan
University. We believe Mr. Borthwick is qualified to serve as one of our directors based on his extensive experience in the startup, technology and investment sectors and his
track record of building and accelerating successful companies.
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Andrew C. Lauck has served as one of our directors since March 2023. Mr. Lauck served as an observer on our Board from December 2022 to March 2023. Since December
2024, Mr. Lauck has been Co-Founder and Managing Partner of Maple Park Capital Partners (“MPC”), a private investment firm. Prior to co-founding MPC, Mr. Lauck served
as Partner at RedBird from December 2019 to December 2024, where he was also a Principal from December 2016 to December 2019 and a Vice President from July 2014 to
December 2016. At RedBird, Mr. Lauck led the firm’s consumer investment business and was responsible for the firm’s investments in the Company, Go Rentals, AeroCenters,
Jet Linx, BETA Technologies, Equipment Share, Main Event Entertainment and RedBird QSR. Prior to joining RedBird, Mr. Lauck served as Vice President of BDT &
Company LLC, a private merchant bank, from December 2013 to July 2014 and as an Associate from August 2011 to December 2013. Mr. Lauck was an Associate at
Flexpoint Ford, LLC, a private equity investment firm, from July 2010 to August 2011 and an Analyst at Goldman Sachs, a NYSE-listed American multinational investment
bank and financial services company, from July 2007 to June 2010. Mr. Lauck serves as Chairman of the Board of Directors of Vogel Alcove, a non-profit organization on a
mission to help young children overcome the lasting and traumatic effects of homelessness, and on the boards of the Cotton Bowl Athletic Association, Rita’s Franchise
Company, LLC, Jet Linx Global, Inc., SAR Trilogy Management LLC (d/b/a AeroCenters) and Gitbin & Associates (d/b/a Go Rentals) (all of which are privately held
companies). Mr. Lauck previously served on the Boards of Ampler QSR LLC, Lambda Energy Resources LLC, Ardent Leisure US Holdings Inc. (d/b/a Main Event
Entertainment), Aethon United LP, FireBird Energy LLC, Four Corners Petroleum II, LLC, Vida Capital, CapturePoint LLC, and Avmont LLC. Mr. Lauck has a B.S. in
Finance and International Business, with distinction and honors, from Indiana University, and is an FAA licensed, instrument-rated pilot. We believe Mr. Lauck is qualified to
serve as one of our directors based on his extensive investment and management experience in the aviation, finance and consumer products industries.

Kenneth B. Lerer has served as one of our directors since May 2021 and was the chairman of Old Blade’s Board of Directors from July 2016 through the Closing Date. Mr.
Lerer is a managing partner at Lerer Hippeau Ventures, an early stage venture capital fund, which he founded in January 2010. He was a co-founder of The Huffington Post
(acquired by AOL), an American news aggregator and media company, from 2005 to 2011 and previously served as Executive Vice President of AOL Time Warner, a global
media technology company, from 2000 to 2002. Mr. Lerer has sat on the Board of Group Nine Media, an American digital media holding company, since 2016. He was
formerly the Chairman of BuzzFeed, an American internet media, news and entertainment company, from 2008 to 2019 and previously served on the Board of Viacom, a
multinational media and entertainment corporation, from 2016 to 2018. We believe Mr. Lerer is qualified to serve as one of our directors based on his extensive executive, board
and investment experience.

Reginald L. Love has served as one of our directors since September 2021. Mr. Love has served as a Senior Advisor at Apollo Global Management, a private global alternative
investment management firm, since February 2020. Mr. Love previously served as Partner at RON Transatlantic EG, an international financial holding company with interests
in the financial services, logistics, energy, industrial and beer sectors in the United States, Latin America and Europe, from 2012 to February 2020. Prior to joining RON
Transatlantic EG, Mr. Love served at the White House as personal aide to President Barack Obama from 2009 to 2011, where he was responsible for assisting with the
coordination and completion of the President’s daily schedule as well as coordinating with other White House offices to set up long and medium range planning. Mr. Love is a
graduate of Duke University and has an M.B.A. from the Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania. Mr. Love also serves on the boards of Cox Media Group, a private
American media conglomerate, and the National Summer Learning Association, an American non-profit organization focused on education. We believe Mr. Love is qualified to
serve as one of our directors based on his extensive leadership, investment, government affairs, legislative, public policy and international business experience.

Susan M. Lyne has served as one of our directors since May 2021. Since September 2014, Ms. Lyne has been President and Managing Partner of BBG Ventures, a private
investment fund focused on women-led tech startups. From February 2013 to September 2014, Ms. Lyne was Chief Executive Officer of the AOL Brand Group where she
oversaw the content brands of AOL, Inc., a global media technology company, including TechCrunch, Engadget, StyleList, Moviefone and MapQuest. From September 2008 to
February 2013, she was Chief Executive Officer and then Chair of Gilt Groupe, Inc., the innovative ecommerce company that pioneered flash sales in the United States. From
2004 to 2008, Ms. Lyne served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Martha Stewart Living Omnimedia, Inc., a diversified media and merchandising company. From
1996 to 2004, Ms. Lyne held various positions at The Walt Disney Company, a diversified worldwide entertainment company, including President of ABC Entertainment. Ms.
Lyne is currently a director of GoPro, Inc., a Nasdaq-listed company, where she is Chair of the Compensation Committee, and has previously served as a director of Gilt
Groupe, Inc., AOL, Inc., Martha Stewart Living Omnimedia, Inc., Starz Entertainment Group, LLC, a global media and entertainment company, and CIT Group, Inc., an
American bank and financial services company. We believe Ms. Lyne is qualified to serve as one of our directors based on her experience on the Boards of Directors of other
companies, her extensive executive experience and her background in the media and consumer products industries.
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Edward M. Philip has served as one of our directors since September 2019. Mr. Philip was the Chief Operating Officer of Partners in Health, a global non-profit healthcare
organization, responsible for overseeing the operations of the Partners in Health projects globally including in countries such as Liberia, Sierra Leone, Rwanda and Haiti, from
2013 to 2017. Previously he served as Special Partner of Highland Consumer Fund, a consumer-oriented investment fund which he founded, from 2013 to 2017 and as
Managing General Partner from 2006 to 2013. Mr. Philip was one of the founding members of the internet search company Lycos, Inc. During his time with Lycos, Mr. Philip
held the positions of President, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer at different times. Prior to joining Lycos, Mr. Philip spent time as the Vice President of
Finance for The Walt Disney Company and also previously spent a number of years in investment banking. He currently serves on the Board of Directors of United Airlines
Holdings Inc., a Nasdaq-listed airline, since 2016, Hasbro, Inc., a Nasdaq-listed toy and entertainment company, since 2002 and BRP Inc., a publicly traded Canadian
recreational vehicle manufacturer, since 2005. Mr. Philip has a B.S. in Economics and Mathematics from Vanderbilt University and an M.B.A. from Harvard Business School.
We believe Mr. Philip is qualified to serve as one of our directors based on his extensive public company Board service as well as his extensive experience in the travel, leisure
and recreation industries.

All the other information required by this item will be included in an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement
for our Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the year ended December 31, 2024.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item will be included in an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement for our
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the year ended December 31, 2024.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management And Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item will be included in an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement for our
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the year ended December 31, 2024.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by this item will be included in an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement for our
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the year ended December 31, 2024.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item will be included in an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement for our
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the year ended December 31, 2024.

Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the fiscal years covered by this Annual Report are located beginning of page F-1 of this Annual Report.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Blade Air Mobility, Inc. and subsidiaries

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Blade Air Mobility, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024, the related consolidated
statement of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows, for the year ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the
“financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 13, 2025, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our
audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be
communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging,
subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are
not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Goodwill – Blade Europe Reporting Unit — Refer to Notes 2, 5 and 8 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company's goodwill for its Blade Europe reporting unit within the Passenger reportable segment is tested for impairment at least annually on November 30, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that goodwill might be impaired. The Company's evaluation of its Blade Europe goodwill for impairment involves the
comparison of the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying value.

The Company elected to use a quantitative approach to determine the fair value of the Blade Europe reporting unit by considering both guideline transaction multiples (a market
approach) and projected discounted future cash flows (an income approach). The fair value determination requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions
related to revenue growth rates and operating margins used to calculate projected future cash flows, discount rates, future economic and market conditions and the determination
of appropriate revenue multiples. The goodwill balance was
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$41.1 million as of December 31, 2024, of which $25.5 million was allocated to the Blade Europe reporting unit within Passenger reportable segment. The fair value of the
Blade Europe reporting unit was greater than its carrying value as of the measurement date, and as a result, management did not record an impairment charge related to the
reporting unit goodwill.

Given the significant judgments made by management to estimate the fair value of the Blade Europe reporting unit, performing audit procedures to evaluate the reasonableness
of management’s estimates and assumptions related to the selection of the revenue growth rates, operating margins, discount rate and revenue multiples for guideline companies
required a high degree of auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort, including the need to involve our internal fair value specialists.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the revenue growth rates, operating margins, discount rate and revenue multiples for guideline companies used by management to estimate the
fair value of the Blade Europe reporting unit included the following, among others:

• We tested the effectiveness of controls over management's goodwill impairment evaluation over the determination of the fair value of the Blade Europe reporting unit,
such as controls related to management's selection of the revenue growth rates, operating margins, discount rate and revenue multiples for guideline companies.

• We evaluated the reasonableness of management's forecasts by comparing the forecasts to (1) historical revenues and operating margins, (2) internal communications
amongst management and the Board of Directors, (3) inquiry with personnel outside of finance and accounting, (4) changes in the business during the year or through
report date and (5) forecasted information included in analyst and industry reports that the Blade Europe reporting unit operates within.

• We performed a sensitivity analysis of the revenue growth rates and operating margins, as well as the selection of discount rate and revenue multiples for guideline
companies.

• We evaluated the impact of changes in management’s forecasts from the November 30, 2024 annual measurement date to December 31, 2024.
• With the assistance of our fair value specialists, we evaluated the reasonableness of (1) the valuation methodologies used, (2) the revenue multiples for guideline

companies selected by management, and (3) the discount rate used in determining the present value of the expected cash flows by developing a range of independent
estimates and comparing those to the discount rate selected by management.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

New York, New York
March 13, 2025

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2024.

F-3



Table of Contents

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Blade Air Mobility, Inc. and subsidiaries

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Blade Air Mobility, Inc., and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion,
the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as
of and for the year ended December 31, 2024, of the Company and our report dated March 13, 2025, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk,
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company;
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

New York, New York
March 13, 2025

F-4



Table of Contents

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Blade Air Mobility, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited, the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Blade Air Mobility, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023, the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity and cash flow for the year ended December 31, 2023 and the related notes (collectively referred
to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023
and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

Retrospective Application of a Change in Accounting Principle

We also have audited the adjustments to the 2023 consolidated financial statements to retrospectively apply the change in accounting for ASU No. 2023-07, “Improvements to
Reportable Segment Disclosures (Topic 280)”, as discussed in Note 2 and reflected in Note 8. In our opinion, such adjustments are appropriate and have been properly applied.
We were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the 2024 consolidated financial statements of the Company other than with respect to the adjustments and,
accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on the 2024 consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an
audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Marcum LLP

Marcum LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor from 2020 to 2024.

Melville, NY
March 12, 2024, except for Note 8, as to which date is March 13, 2025
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BLADE AIR MOBILITY, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2023
Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 18,378 $ 27,873 
Restricted cash 1,269 1,148 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $112 and $98 at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively 21,591 21,005 
Short-term investments 108,757 138,264 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 10,747 17,971 

Total current assets 160,742 206,261 

Non-current assets:
Property and equipment, net 30,918 2,899 
Intangible assets, net 13,653 20,519 
Goodwill 41,050 40,373 
Operating right-of-use asset 8,876 23,484 
Other non-current assets 1,436 1,402 

Total assets $ 256,675 $ 294,938 

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 12,766 $ 23,859 
Deferred revenue 6,656 6,845 
Operating lease liability, current 3,304 4,787 

Total current liabilities 22,726 35,491 

Non-current liabilities:
Warrant liability 5,808 4,958 
Operating lease liability, long-term 6,018 19,738 
Deferred tax liability 185 451 

Total liabilities 34,737 60,638 

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 12)

Stockholders' Equity
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 2,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2024 and December 31,

2023, respectively — — 
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 400,000,000 authorized; 79,419,028 and 75,131,425 shares issued at December 31, 2024 and

December 31, 2023, respectively 7 7 
Additional paid in capital 407,076 390,083 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 1,753 3,964 
Accumulated deficit (186,898) (159,754)

Total stockholders' equity 221,938 234,300 

Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity $ 256,675 $ 294,938 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BLADE AIR MOBILITY, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Revenue $ 248,693 $ 225,180 

Operating expenses
Cost of revenue 189,774 183,058 
Software development 3,184 4,627 
General and administrative 81,711 95,174 
Selling and marketing 7,950 10,438 

Total operating expenses 282,619 293,297 

Loss from operations (33,926) (68,117)

Other non-operating income (expense)
Interest income 7,214 8,442 
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities (850) 2,125 
Realized gain from sales of short-term investments — 8 

Total other non-operating income 6,364 10,575 

Loss before income taxes (27,562) (57,542)

Income tax benefit (255) (1,466)

Net loss $ (27,307) $ (56,076)

Net loss per share (Note 10):
Basic $ (0.35) $ (0.76)

Diluted $ (0.35) $ (0.76)
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding:

Basic 77,499,423 73,524,476 

Diluted 77,499,423 73,524,476 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BLADE AIR MOBILITY, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Net loss $ (27,307) $ (56,076)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
     Net unrealized investment income — 39 

Less: Reclassification adjustment for losses included currently in net loss — (39)
     Foreign currency translation adjustments for the period (2,211) 1,677 
Other comprehensive (loss) income (2,211) 1,677 
Comprehensive loss $ (29,518) $ (54,399)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BLADE AIR MOBILITY, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity

(in thousands, except share data)

Common Stock Additional
Paid-In Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders’

EquityShares Amount
Balance as of Balance as of January 1, 2023 71,660,617 $ 7 $ 375,873 $ 2,287 $ (103,678) $ 274,489 
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options 386,790 — 70 — — 70 
Issuance of common stock upon settlement of restricted stock units 2,724,920 — — — — — 
Stock-based compensation - restricted stock — — 12,501 — — 12,501 
Shares withheld related to net share settlement (25,658) — (146) — — (146)
Issuance of common stock for settlement of contingent consideration
compensation (earn-out) 384,756 — 1,785 — — 1,785 
Other comprehensive income — — — 1,677 — 1,677 
Net loss — — — — (56,076) (56,076)
Balance as of December 31, 2023 75,131,425 $ 7 $ 390,083 $ 3,964 $ (159,754) $ 234,300 
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options 2,092,558 — 168 — — 168 
Issuance of common stock upon settlement of restricted stock units 2,871,614 — — — — — 
Stock-based compensation - restricted stock — — 19,893 — — 19,893 
Shares withheld related to net share settlement (1,605,465) — (5,683) — — (5,683)
Issuance of common stock for settlement of contingent consideration
compensation (earn-out) 1,008,998 — 3,022 — — 3,022 
Repurchase and retirement of common stock (80,102) — (407) — 163 (244)
Other comprehensive loss — — — (2,211) — (2,211)
Net loss — — — — (27,307) (27,307)
Balance as of December 31, 2024 79,419,028 $ 7 $ 407,076 $ 1,753 $ (186,898) $ 221,938 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BLADE AIR MOBILITY, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net loss $ (27,307) $ (56,076)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash and restricted cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 5,962 7,111 
Stock-based compensation 19,893 12,501 
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 850 (2,125)
Excess of lease liability over operating right-of-use assets (123) — 
Gain on lease modification (622) — 
Accretion of interest income on held-to-maturity securities (3,990) (6,519)
Deferred tax benefit (255) (1,466)
Impairment of intangible assets 5,759 20,753 
Bad debt expense 335 163 
Other (12) 46 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 6,352 (6,032)
Accounts receivable (998) (10,254)
Other non-current assets (70) 4 
Operating right-of-use assets/lease liabilities 164 379 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (8,338) 9,049 
Deferred revenue (119) 117 

Net cash used in operating activities (2,519) (32,349)

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (2,230) — 
Capitalized software development costs (2,119) — 
Investment in joint venture — (39)
Purchase of property and equipment (30,875) (2,109)
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 13 138 
Purchase of short-term investments — (135)
Proceeds from sales of short-term investments — 20,532 
Purchase of held-to-maturity investments (143,255) (265,835)
Proceeds from maturities of held-to-maturity investments 177,450 264,537 

Net cash (used in) / provided by investing activities (1,016) 17,089 

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Proceeds from the exercise of common stock options 168 70 
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of equity awards (5,683) (146)
Repurchase and retirement of common stock (244) — 

Net cash used in financing activities (5,759) (76)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash balances (80) (66)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash (9,374) (15,402)
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash - beginning 29,021 44,423 
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash - ending $ 19,647 $ 29,021 

Reconciliation to consolidated balance sheets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 18,378 $ 27,873 
Restricted cash 1,269 1,148 
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 19,647 $ 29,021 

Supplemental cash flow information
Cash paid for:

Income taxes $ — $ 16 
Non-cash investing and financing activities:

New leases under ASC 842 entered into during the period $ 8,406 $ 9,760 
Common stock issued for settlement of earn-out previously in accounts payable and accrued expenses 3,022 1,785 
Purchases of PPE and capitalized software in accounts payable and accrued expenses 375 — 
Modification of existing right-of-use assets ("ROU") and lease liability (Note 6) 12,684 — 
Derecognition of ROU assets and lease liability (6,367) — 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Note 1 – Business and Basis of Presentation

Description of Business

Blade Air Mobility, Inc. (“Blade” or the “Company”) provides air transportation and logistics for hospitals across the United States, where it is one of the largest transporters of
human organs for transplant, and for passengers, with helicopter and fixed wing services primarily in the Northeast United States and Southern Europe. Based in New York
City, Blade’s asset-light model, coupled with its exclusive passenger terminal infrastructure and proprietary technologies, is designed to facilitate a seamless transition from
helicopters and fixed-wing aircraft to Electric Vertical Aircraft (“EVA” or “eVTOL”), enabling lower cost air mobility that is both quiet and emission-free.

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S.
GAAP”) and applicable rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Certain prior year information has been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation. These reclassified amounts had no impact on our previously reported results
of operations or net cash flows from operating, financing or investing activities.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience, current business factors, and various other assumptions that the Company
believes are necessary to consider to form a basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities, the recorded amounts of revenue and expenses, and
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. The Company is subject to uncertainties such as the impact of future events, economic and political factors, and changes in the
Company’s business environment; therefore, actual results could differ from these estimates. Accordingly, the accounting estimates used in the preparation of the Company’s
financial statements will change as new events occur, as more experience is acquired, as additional information is obtained and as the Company’s operating environment
evolves.

Changes in estimates are made when circumstances warrant. Such changes in estimates and refinements in estimation methodologies are reflected in reported results of
operations; if material, the effects of changes in estimates are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. Significant estimates and assumptions by management include,
but are not limited to, the fair value of intangible assets and goodwill, the determination of whether a contract contains a lease, the allocation of consideration between lease and
non-lease components and the determination of incremental borrowing rates for leases.

Liquidity

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had net working capital of $138,016, cash and cash equivalents of $18,378 and short-term investments of $108,757. The Company had
net losses of $27,307 and $56,076 for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Based on the Company’s current liquidity, the Company believes that no additional capital will be needed to execute its current business plan over the next 12 months from the
date of issuance of these financial statements.
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Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The core principle of the revenue
standard is that a company should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The Company only applies the five-step model to contracts when it is probable that the Company will
collect the consideration it is entitled to in exchange for the goods and services transferred to the customer. The following five steps are applied to achieve that core principle:

Step 1: Identify the contract with the customer
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
Step 3: Determine the transaction price
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
Step 5: Recognize revenue when the company satisfies a performance obligation

The Company does not have any significant contracts with customers requiring performance beyond delivery.

Blade operates in three key product lines across two segments (see Note 8 for further information on reportable segments):

Passenger segment

• Short Distance – Consisting primarily of helicopter and amphibious seaplane flights in the United States and Europe between 10 and 100 miles in distance. Flights are
available for purchase both by-the-seat and on a full aircraft charter basis. Short Distance products are typically purchased using the Blade App and paid for principally via
credit card transactions, wire, check, customer credit, and gift cards, with payments principally collected by the Company in advance of the performance of related services,
with the exception of Europe where institutional clients pay after the performance of related services under payment terms. The revenue is recognized when the service is
completed.

• Jet and Other –  Consists principally of revenues from non-medical jet charter and by-the-seat jet flights between New York and South Florida (discontinued in November
2023), revenue from brand partners for exposure to Blade fliers and certain ground transportation services. Jet products are typically purchased through our Flier Relations
associates and our app and are paid for principally via checks, wires and credit card. Jet payments are typically collected at the time of booking before the performance of the
related service. The revenue is recognized when the service is completed.

Medical segment

• MediMobility Organ Transport – Consisting primarily of transportation of human organs for transplant and/or the medical teams supporting these services. Blade also offers
additional services including donor logistics coordination and support evaluating potential donor organs. MediMobility Organ Transport products are typically purchased
through our medical logistics coordinators and are paid for principally via checks and wires. Payments are generally collected after the performance of the related service in
accordance with the client's payment terms. The revenue is recognized when the service is completed.

The Company initially records consideration paid for passenger flight sales as deferred revenue, deferring revenue recognition until the travel occurs. Deferred revenue from
advance payments, customer credit balances and gift card purchases is recognized as revenue when a flight is flown. Deferred revenue relating to consideration paid for the
Company’s passes is recognized ratably over the term of the flight pass. For travel that has more than one flight segment, the Company deems each segment as a separate
performance obligation and recognizes revenue for each segment as travel occurs. Fees charged in association with add-on services or changes or extensions to non-refundable
seats sold are considered part of the Company's passenger flight performance obligation. As such, those fees are deferred at the time of collection and recognized at the time the
travel is provided.
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Certain governmental taxes are imposed on the Company’s flight sales through a tax included in flight prices. The Company collects these taxes and remits them to the
appropriate government agency. These taxes are excluded from revenue.

The Company’s quarterly financial data is subject to seasonal fluctuations. Historically, its second and third quarter (ended on June 30 and September 30, respectively) financial
results have reflected higher Passenger travel demand and were better than the first and fourth quarter financial results.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue consists of flight costs paid to operators of aircraft and vehicles, landing fees, depreciation of aircraft and vehicles, operating lease cost, internal costs incurred in
generating organ ground transportation revenue using the Company's owned vehicles and costs of operating our owned aircraft including fuel, management fees paid to the
operator, maintenance costs and pilot salaries.

Software Development Costs

The Company incurs costs related to the development of its technology stack. The costs consist of staff costs (including related benefits and stock-based compensation) and
external vendor costs incurred during the development stage. Capitalization of costs begins when two criteria are met: (1) the preliminary project stage is completed, and (2) it is
probable that the developed features will be completed and used for their intended function. Capitalization ceases when the project is substantially complete and the developed
features are ready for their intended use, including the completion of all significant testing. Costs related to preliminary project activities, post implementation operating
activities and system maintenance are expensed as incurred.

Capitalized costs are included in intangible assets and amortized over three years, on a straight-line basis, which represents the manner in which the expected benefit will be
derived. The amortization of capitalized software development costs are recorded within software development expense in our consolidated statement of operations.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses principally include staff costs including stock-based compensation, intangibles amortization, depreciation, establishment costs, impairment
of intangible assets, directors and officers insurance costs, pilot training costs for owned aircraft, professional fees and credit card processing fees.

Selling and Marketing

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of advertising costs, staff costs including stock-based compensation, marketing expenses, sales commissions and promotion
costs. Advertising costs, which are included in “Selling and marketing expenses”, are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs were $ 2,714 and $4,064 for the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation - Stock Compensation (“ASC 718”). ASC 718 establishes accounting for
stock-based awards exchanged for employee and consultant services. Under the provisions of ASC 718, stock-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date, based on
the fair value of the award, and is recognized as expense over the employee’s requisite service period (generally the vesting period of the equity grant). The fair value of the
Company’s stock options (the most recent stock options grants were in the year 2021) were estimated using the Black Scholes option-pricing model with the following
assumptions: fair value of the Company’s common stock, expected volatility, dividend rate, risk free interest rate, and the expected life. The Company utilized a third party to
determine the fair value of the Company’s common stock. The Company calculated the expected volatility using the historical volatility for a pool of peer companies over the
most recent period equal to the expected term and evaluated the extent to which available information indicate that future volatility may differ from historical volatility. The
expected dividend rate was zero as the Company did not expect to pay or declare any cash dividends on its common stock. The risk-free rates for the expected terms of the stock
options were based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant. The Company had not experienced significant exercise activity on stock options. Due to
the lack of historical information, the Company determined the expected term of its stock option awards issued using the simplified method. The
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simplified method assumed each vesting tranche of the award has a term equal to the midpoint between when the award vests and when the award expires. The Company
recognized forfeitures at the time the forfeiture occurs.

Restricted stock units (“RSUs”) are granted at the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors. These RSUs are restricted as to the transfer of ownership and generally vest
over the requisite service period. The RSUs have various vesting dates, ranging from vesting on the grant date to as late as four years from the date of grant.

Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units (“PSUs”) are granted at the discretion of the Company's Board of Directors and are subject to performance-based vesting conditions.
These PSUs vest based on the achievement of certain financial performance metrics by the Company over a defined service period. Each PSU represents the right to receive one
share of the Company’s common stock upon vesting. The Company evaluates the probability of achieving the performance targets and recognizes compensation expense over
the requisite service period for the portion of PSUs expected to vest.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax
consequences of events that have been recognized in the consolidated financial statements or in the Company’s tax returns. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined on
the basis of the differences between U.S. GAAP treatment and tax treatment of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are
expected to reverse. Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded in the provision for income taxes. The Company assesses the likelihood that its deferred tax
assets will be recovered from future taxable income and, to the extent it believes, based upon the weight of available evidence, that it is more likely than not that all or a portion
of the deferred tax assets will not be realized, a valuation allowance is established through a charge to income tax expense. Potential for recovery of deferred tax assets is
evaluated by considering taxable income in carryback years, existing taxable temporary differences, prudent and feasible tax planning strategies and estimated future taxable
profits.

Each period, the Company analyzes whether it is more-likely-than-not that tax positions will be sustained upon examination, including resolution of any related appeals or
litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the positions. In evaluating whether a tax position has met the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the Company
presumes that the position will be examined by the appropriate taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information and considers that all years remain subject to
examination in the US due to historical operational losses. When differences exist between tax positions taken in a tax return and amounts meeting the more-likely-than-not
threshold, the company will record an uncertain tax position, resulting in one or more of the following: an increase in a liability for income taxes payable, a reduction of an
income tax refund receivable, a reduction in a deferred tax asset, or an increase in a deferred tax liability. The Company records penalties and interest relating to uncertain tax
positions as part of income tax expense. As of December 31, 2024, the Company has no uncertain tax positions. See Note 9 for additional information.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less on their acquisition date as cash and cash equivalents. Restricted cash consists
principally of Company funds on deposit with a financial institution, which supports a letter of credit by the financial institution in favor of the Company’s obligations to the
United States Department of Transportation as well as deposits posted for collateral with certain of the Company’s vendors.

Short-Term Investments

Held-to-Maturity Securities
The Company’s investments in held-to-maturity securities consist of investment grade U.S. Treasury obligations with maturity dates of less than 365 days. The Company has the
ability and intention to hold these securities until maturity. Accordingly, these securities are recorded in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet at amortized cost and interest
is recorded within interest income on the Company’s consolidated statement of operations. The held-to-maturity securities balance and fair market value at December 31, 2024
and 2023 were $108,757 and $108,832, and $138,264 and $138,285, respectively. The held-to-maturity securities gross unrealized holding gain at December 31, 2024 and 2023
were $75 and $118, respectively. The fair value hierarchy of the valuation inputs the Company utilized to determine such fair market value is Level 2. See “ – Fair Value
Measurements” within Note 2 for additional information.
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Accounts Receivable and Allowances for Expected Credit Losses

Accounts receivable consists principally of amounts due from customers in the Company’s Medical segment, which are large hospitals that receive terms for payment.
Additionally, a smaller balance is due from the Company’s European institutional clients (hotels and travel agencies), who do not pay prior to the flights. The allowance for
expected credit losses on receivables is used to present accounts receivable, net at an amount that represents the Company’s estimate of the related transaction price recognized
as revenue. The allowance represents an estimate of expected credit losses over the lifetime of the receivables, even if the loss is considered remote, and reflects expected
recoveries of amounts previously written-off. We have determined our allowance for expected credit losses based on a specific evaluation of individual receivables and an
analysis of past default experience for remaining receivables. We have historically not experienced significant losses on our receivables. We generally do not require customers
to provide collateral for purchases. During the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company recorded an allowance for credit losses of $112 and $98, respectively, for
potential uncollectible accounts.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses includes prepaid insurance, the costs of which are amortized on a straight-line basis over the related coverage periods, prepaid marketing supplies and
prepayments to aircraft operators, which are expensed based upon usage of flight time.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment are carried at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed utilizing the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the
asset. Residual values estimated for aircraft are approximately 10% of the original purchase price. Expenditures that increase the value or productive capacity of assets are
capitalized, and maintenance and repair are expensed as incurred (see below for further information). Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term
or estimated useful life of the asset.

During the period from April 1, 2024 through May 2, 2024, Blade completed the acquisition of seven aircraft (“Acquired Aircraft”) from M&N Equipment, LLC (“M&N”),
Atlas Jet, Inc and Aviation Bridge, LLC for a combined purchase price of approximately $ 16,617. The funding for these acquisitions involved the utilization of $9,269 from
existing prepaid deposits under existing Capacity Purchase Agreements (“CPAs”) with M&N which were refunded to Blade and applied to the purchase and $ 7,348 in cash.
Blade utilizes the Acquired Aircraft, which were previously dedicated to Blade under existing CPAs (see Note 6 for further information on CPAs) to support its Medical
segment and the Acquired Aircraft will continue to be operated by the same operator.

In August and September 2024, Blade purchased three additional aircraft for a combined purchase price of $7,571. All of the aircraft are dedicated to the Medical segment.

Useful Life
(in years)

December 31,
2024

December 31,
2023

Aircraft, engines and related rotable parts (1) 2 - 20 $ 27,206 $ — 
Vehicles (1) 5 2,796 1,750 
Furniture and fixtures (2) 5 2,129 886 
Technology equipment (2) 3 564 402 
Leasehold improvements (2) Shorter of useful life or life of lease 3,520 3,016 
Total property and equipment, gross 36,215 6,054 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (5,297) (3,155)
Total property and equipment, net $ 30,918 $ 2,899 

(1) Depreciation expense is included within cost of revenue.
(2) Depreciation expense is included within general and administrative expenses.

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company recorded depreciation expense for property and equipment of $2,976 and $1,075, respectively. For the years
ended December 31, 2024, the Company disposed of $900 in property and equipment and likewise wrote off previously recognized accumulated depreciation of $803. For the
year ended December 31, 2023, disposals of certain property and equipment were immaterial.
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Aircraft Maintenance and Repairs

Unscheduled aircraft maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred, scheduled maintenance and repairs occurring at intervals of two or more years are capitalized and
depreciated over the period between these intervals.

Acquisitions

The Company accounts for acquisitions of entities or asset groups that qualify as businesses in accordance with ASC 805, Business Combinations (“ASC 805”). The purchase
price of the acquisition is allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of
the purchase price over those fair values is recorded as goodwill. During the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, the Company may
record adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period or final
determination of the values of assets acquired or liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments are recorded in the consolidated statements of
operations. See Note 4 for additional information.

Intangibles Assets, Net

The Company has finite-lived and indefinite-lived intangible assets, including goodwill. Finite-lived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives. Goodwill
and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized but are reviewed for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the asset
may be impaired. Following initial recognition of the finite-lived intangible asset, the asset is carried at cost less any accumulated amortization. Amortization of the asset begins
when the asset is available for use. Amortization is recorded in “General and administrative expenses” on the Company’s consolidated statement of operations. See Note 5 for
additional information.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company assesses long-lived assets for impairment in accordance with the provisions of ASC 360, Property, Plant and Equipment (“ASC 360”). Long-lived assets, except
for goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets, consist of property and equipment and finite-lived acquired intangible assets, such as exclusive rights to air transportation
services, customer lists and trademarks. Long-lived assets, except for goodwill and indefinite intangible assets, are tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in
business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be fully recoverable. If such events or changes in circumstances arise, the Company compares the
carrying amount of the long-lived assets to the estimated future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the long-lived assets. If the estimated aggregate
undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the long-lived assets, an impairment charge, calculated as the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets
exceeds the fair value of the assets, is recorded. The fair value of the long-lived assets is determined through various valuation techniques, including estimated discounted cash
flows expected to be generated from the long-lived asset and pricing information on comparable market transactions, unless another method provides a more reliable estimate.
If an impairment loss is recognized, the adjusted carrying amount of a long-lived asset is recognized as a new cost basis of the impaired asset. Impairment loss is not reversed
even if fair value exceeds carrying amount in subsequent periods. See Note 5 for additional information.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired in a business combination and is allocated to reporting units expected to benefit
from the business combination. The Company tests goodwill for impairment at least annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that goodwill
might be impaired. The Company evaluates its reporting units when changes in our operating structure occur, and if necessary, reassign goodwill using a relative fair value
allocation approach.

In testing goodwill for impairment, the Company has the option to begin with a qualitative assessment, commonly referred to as “Step 0,” to determine whether it is more likely
than not that the fair value of a reporting unit containing goodwill is less than its carrying value. This qualitative assessment may include, but is not limited to, reviewing factors
such as macroeconomic conditions, industry and market considerations, cost factors, entity-specific financial performance and other events, such as changes in the Company’s
management, strategy and primary customer base. If the Company determines that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value,
the Company performs a quantitative goodwill impairment analysis by comparing the carrying amount to the fair value of the reporting unit. Performing a quantitative goodwill
impairment test includes the determination of the fair value of a reporting unit by considering both guideline transaction multiples (a market approach) and projected discounted
future cash flows (an income approach) and involves significant estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions include, among others, revenue growth rates and
operating margins used to calculate projected future cash flows, discount rates, future
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economic and market conditions, and the determination of appropriate revenue multiples. If the carrying amount exceeds the fair value, goodwill will be written down to the fair
value and recorded as impairment expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

The Company performs its impairment testing annually and when circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its
carrying value.

Historically, the Company has performed its annual goodwill impairment test as of December 31st, in accordance with its policy. During the fourth quarter of 2024, the
Company elected to change the annual goodwill impairment testing date from December 31st to November 30th. Accordingly, the impairment test for the current fiscal year was
conducted as of November 30, 2024. The Company does not believe this change represents a material change in the method of applying an accounting principle. This voluntary
change is preferable as it allows management sufficient time to complete goodwill impairment tests in advance of the Company’s year-end financial reporting and provides
additional time for executing key controls and conducting management reviews over the significant estimates and judgments inherent in the test. The Company determined that
this voluntary change in accounting principle is preferable and had no impact on its consolidated financial statements. Additionally, the change was not made to accelerate,
avoid or trigger an impairment charge. The Company did not apply this change retrospectively, as doing so would have been impractical due to the need for significant
estimates and assumptions that would involve hindsight. Therefore, the change was applied prospectively.

We completed our annual goodwill impairment testing as of November 30, 2024 and determined that goodwill was not impaired. For the Blade Europe reporting unit, a
quantitative goodwill impairment test (“Step 1 test”) was performed as it was determined that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit was less than its
carrying amount. Based on our Step 1 test, which used a 50/50 allocation between the income and market approach, we determined that the fair value was greater than its
respective carrying value by 5% and therefore, no further action was necessary.

The Company believes the estimates and assumptions used in the calculations are reasonable. However, certain future events and circumstances, including deterioration of
market conditions, higher cost of capital, a decline in actual and expected consumer demand, could result in changes to those assumptions and judgments. A revision of those
assumptions could cause the fair value of the reporting unit to fall below its respective carrying value. If in future years, our reporting units’ actual results are not consistent with
our estimates and assumptions used to calculate fair value, we may be required to recognize material impairments to goodwill.

Leases

We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Certain agreements, such capacity purchase agreements with third-party aircraft operators, include embedded leases
under ASC 842 due to the exclusive nature of our usage rights to specific aircraft. These embedded leases arise where we have identified assets, control their use, and obtain
substantially all of their economic benefits.

Leases are recorded on the balance sheet as ROU assets and lease liabilities. They are classified as either operating or finance leases and lease expense is recognized within
“General and administrative expenses” (airport and heliport terminals and offices) and “Cost of revenues” (aircraft leases embedded within certain capacity purchase
agreements). As a lessee, for operating leases, total lease expense is recognized using a straight-line method. Finance leases are treated as the purchase of an asset on a financing
basis. ROU assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease.
ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the estimated present value of lease payments over the lease term.

When available, the Company uses the rate implicit in the lease in determining the present value of the future minimum lease payments. However, the Company’s leases
generally do not provide a readily determinable implicit rate. Therefore, the Company estimates the incremental borrowing rate to discount lease payments based on information
available at the inception of the lease. The incremental borrowing rate represents an estimate of the interest rate we would incur at lease commencement to borrow an amount
equal to the lease payments on a collateralized basis over the term of the lease.

Our lease terms include options to extend the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. The Company utilizes certain practical expedients and policy
elections available under the lease accounting standard. Leases with a term of 12 months or less are not recorded on our consolidated balance sheets. Our lease agreements do
not contain any residual value guarantees. Under certain of our capacity purchase agreements with third-party aircraft operators, we do not own the underlying aircraft.
However, since we control the specific aircraft used, the aircraft is deemed to be leased for accounting purposes. For these capacity purchase agreements, we account for the
lease and non-lease components
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separately. The lease component consists of the aircraft and the non-lease components consist of flight operations. We allocated the consideration in the capacity purchase
agreements to the lease and non-lease components based on the Company’s best estimate of standalone value.

See Note 6 for additional information.

Warrant Liability

The Company accounts for warrants as either equity-classified or liability-classified instruments based on an assessment of the warrant’s specific terms and applicable
authoritative guidance in ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity (“ASC 480”) and ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”). The assessment considers
whether the warrants are freestanding financial instruments pursuant to ASC 480, meet the definition of a liability pursuant to ASC 480, and whether the warrants meet all of
the requirements for equity classification under ASC 815, including whether the warrants are indexed to the Company’s own common shares and whether the warrant holders
could potentially require “net cash settlement” in a circumstance outside of the Company’s control, among other conditions for equity classification. This assessment, which
requires the use of professional judgment, is conducted at the time of warrant issuance and as of each subsequent, quarterly, period-end date while the warrants are outstanding.

For issued or modified warrants that meet all of the criteria for equity classification, the warrants are required to be recorded as a component of additional paid-in capital at the
time of issuance. For issued or modified warrants that do not meet all the criteria for equity classification, the warrants are required to be recorded at their initial fair value on
the date of issuance and each balance sheet date thereafter. The Company accounts for the warrants issued in connection with its Initial Public Offering in accordance with the
guidance contained in ASC 815-40-15-7D, under which the warrants do not meet the criteria for equity treatment and must be recorded as liabilities. Accordingly, the Company
classifies the warrants as liabilities at their fair value and adjusts the warrants to fair value at each reporting period. This liability is subject to re-measurement at each balance
sheet date until exercised, and any change in fair value is recognized in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. See Notes 13 and 14 for additional information.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company follows the guidance in ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement (“ASC 820”), for its financial assets and liabilities that are re-measured and reported at fair value at
each reporting period, and non-financial assets and liabilities that are re-measured and reported at fair value at least annually.

The fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities reflects management’s estimate of amounts that the Company would have received in connection with the sale of
the assets or paid in connection with the transfer of the liabilities in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. In connection with measuring
the fair value of its assets and liabilities, the Company seeks to maximize the use of observable inputs (market data obtained from independent sources) and to minimize the use
of unobservable inputs (internal assumptions about how market participants would price assets and liabilities). The following fair value hierarchy is used to classify assets and
liabilities based on the observable inputs and unobservable inputs used in order to value the assets and liabilities:

Level 1:    Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. An active market for an asset or liability is a market in which transactions for the asset or liability occur
with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Level 2:    Observable inputs other than Level 1 inputs. Examples of Level 2 inputs include quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities and quoted prices for
identical assets or liabilities in markets that are not active.

Level 3:    Unobservable inputs based on management’s assessment of the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

The Company measures its cash and cash equivalents at fair value using Level 1 inputs, which are based on quoted market prices. Other financial instruments, including
accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other current assets, accounts payable and accrued expenses, are carried at historical cost. Due to their short-term nature, the carrying
amounts of these instruments approximate their fair values as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.
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Concentrations

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consists principally of cash amounts on deposit with financial institutions. At times,
the Company’s cash in banks is in excess of the Federal Deposit
Insurance corporation (“FDIC”) insurance limit. The Company has not experienced any loss as a result of these deposits.

Major Customers

No single customer accounted for 10% or more of the Company’s revenue for years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Accounts receivable consists principally of amounts due from the Company’s MediMobility Organ Transport Customers that receive terms for payment, along with receivables
from credit card processors. One customer accounted for 10% of the Company’s outstanding accounts receivable as of December 31, 2024. No single customer accounted for
10% or more of the Company’s outstanding accounts receivable as of December 31, 2023.

Major Vendors

One vendor accounted for 11% of the Company’s purchases from operating vendors for the year ended December 31, 2024. One vendor accounted for 12% of the Company’s
purchases from operating vendors for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Two vendors accounted for 15% and 17% of the Company’s outstanding accounts payable as of December 31, 2024. Two vendors accounted for 17% and 10%, respectively, of
the Company’s outstanding accounts payable as of December 31, 2023.

Foreign Currency Translation

All of our foreign subsidiaries use their local currency as their functional currency. Assets and liabilities are translated from the local functional currency into U.S. Dollars at
the exchange rate on the balance sheet date and revenue and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate for the period. Translation adjustments are recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive income. Foreign currency gains and losses arising from transactions not in the subsidiaries local currency are recorded in results of
operations.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards - Adopted

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures (“ASU 2023-07”), which expands the
segment disclosures of public entities. This expansion includes the requirement to disclose significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the chief operating
decision maker and are included within each reported measure of segment profit or loss. Additionally, the ASU mandates the disclosure of the amount and description of the
composition of other segment items, as well as interim disclosures of a reportable segment’s profit or loss and assets. These disclosure requirements also apply to public entities
with a single reportable segment. The Company adopted ASU 2023-07 for its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024. The adoption of this
ASU impacted disclosures only and was applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented. See Note 8 for additional information.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements - Not Adopted

In October 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-06, Disclosure Improvements (“ASU 2023-06”). The new guidance clarifies or improves disclosure and presentation
requirements on a variety of topics in the codification. The amendments in the update are intended to align the requirements in the FASB ASC with the SEC’s regulations. The
amendments are effective prospectively on the date each individual amendment is effectively removed from Regulation S-X or Regulation S-K, or if the SEC has not removed
the requirements by June 30, 2027, this amendment will be removed from the Codification and will not become effective for any entity. The Company is in the process of
evaluating the impact the adoption of this ASU will have on the financial statements and related disclosures.
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In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures (Topic 740) (“ASU 2023-09”). The ASU requires disaggregated information
about a reporting entity’s effective tax rate reconciliation as well as additional information on income taxes paid. The ASU is effective for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2024 on a prospective basis. Early adoption is also permitted for annual financial statements that have not yet been issued or made available for issuance. The
Company is in the process of evaluating the impact the adoption of this ASU will have on the financial statements and related disclosures.

In March 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-02, Codification Improvements - Amendments to Remove References to the Concept Statements (“ASU 2024-02”). This ASU
amends the Codification to remove references to various concepts statements and impacts a variety of topics in the Codification. The amendments apply to all reporting entities
within the scope of the affected accounting guidance. Generally, the amendments in ASU 2024-02 are not intended to result in significant accounting changes for most entities.
ASU 2024-02 is effective January 1, 2025. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact the adoption of this ASU will have on the financial statements and related
disclosures.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income - Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40):
Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses (“ASU 2024-03”). ASU 2024-03 requires additional disclosure of the nature of expenses included in the income statement as
well as disclosures about specific types of expenses included in the expense captions presented in the income statement as well as disclosures about selling expenses. ASU
2024-03 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2026 (year ending December 31, 2027 for the Company). Early adoption is permitted. The Company is in
the process of evaluating the impact the adoption of this ASU will have on the financial statements and related disclosures.

Other recent accounting pronouncements issued by the FASB (including its Emerging Issues Task Force) and the SEC have not had, or are not anticipated to have, a significant
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements, both present and future.

Note 3 – Revenue

Disaggregated Revenue

Disaggregated revenue by product line and segment was as follows:
For the Years Ended

December 31,
2024

December 31,
2023

Passenger Segment
Short Distance $ 72,203 $ 70,700 
Jet and Other 29,673 27,876 
Total $ 101,876 $ 98,576 

Medical Segment
MediMobility Organ Transport $ 146,817 $ 126,604 
Total $ 146,817 $ 126,604 

Total Revenue $ 248,693 $ 225,180 

Contract Liabilities

Contract liabilities are defined as entity’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the entity has received consideration (or the amount is due) from the
customer. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company’s contract liability balance is $ 6,656 and $6,845 respectively, and is recorded as deferred revenue on the
consolidated balance sheets. This balance consists of payments from customers received in advance of the actual flight, prepaid monthly and annual flight passes, customer
credits for flight reservations that were cancelled for good reason by the customer, and prepaid gift card obligations. Customers have one year to use the credit as payment for a
future flight with the Company.
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The table below presents a roll forward of the contract liability balance:
For the Years Ended

December 31,
2024

December 31,
2023

Balance, beginning of period $ 6,845 $ 6,709 
Additions 78,201 69,792 
Revenue recognized (78,390) (69,656)
Balance, end of period $ 6,656 $ 6,845 

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recognized $4,871 of revenue that was included in the contract liability balance as of January 1, 2024. For the year ended
December 31, 2023, the Company recognized $5,836 of revenue that was included in the contract liability balance as of January 1, 2023.

Note 4 – Acquisitions

Acquisition of CJK Enterprise, Inc.

On September 26, 2024, Blade Air Mobility, Inc. through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Trinity Air Medical, LLC (“Trinity”), completed an Asset Purchase Agreement
(“APA”) to acquire certain assets and liabilities of CJK Enterprise, Inc. (“CJK”) for a total purchase price of $2,230 in cash. CJK specializes in providing physicians and organs
ground transportation services in the New York Tri-State area. This acquisition further expands Blade’s MediMobility presence in this key market. The acquisition was
accounted for as a business combination as the assets acquired and liabilities assumed constituted a business in accordance with ASC 805, Business Combinations (“ASC 805”).
Acquisition-related costs totaling $37 were expensed as incurred and are included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations for the
year ended December 31, 2024. The results of CJK from September 26, 2024 (“acquisition date”) to December 31, 2024 are included in the MediMobility Organ Transport
product line which is part of the Medical segment.

Net Assets Acquired

The assets acquired and liabilities assumed have been recorded in the consolidated financial statements as of the acquisition date. At acquisition, the Company recognized
goodwill as the excess of the purchase price over the net fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, totaling $2,212. The primary components of
goodwill include operational synergies, service expansion in the New York Tri-State area, and the value attributed to key personnel relationships contributing to customer
retention. The acquired goodwill is deductible for tax purposes.

The purchase price was allocated as follows:
Property and equipment, net 18 
Operating right-of-use asset 137 

Total identifiable assets acquired 155 
Operating lease liability 137 

Total liabilities assumed 137 
Net assets acquired 18 
Goodwill 2,212 
Total consideration $ 2,230 

The pro forma impact of the acquisition was not material to our historical consolidated operating results and is therefore not presented.
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Note 5 – Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill

The changes in the carrying value of goodwill are as follows:

Goodwill balance, January 1, 2023 $ 39,445 
Adjustment (1) 100 
Foreign currency translation 828 

Goodwill balance, December 31, 2023 $ 40,373 
Additions (2) 2,212 
Foreign currency translation (1,535)

Goodwill balance, December 31, 2024 $ 41,050 

(1) Represents a measurement period adjustment made during the year ended December 31, 2023.
(2) Additions represent goodwill associated with the acquisition of CJK. See Note 4 for additional information.

The goodwill pertains to the Trinity Acquisition on September 15, 2021, Blade Europe Acquisition on September 1, 2022 and the CJK Acquisition on September 26, 2024.

Intangible Assets

The following table presents information about the Company’s intangible assets as of:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Estimated Useful
Life

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization  Net

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization Net

Exclusive rights to air transportation
services(1)(2) 5-12 years $ 6,664 $ (3,267) $ 3,397 $ 18,946 $ (8,042) $ 10,904 
Customer list(1) 3-10 years 12,063 (4,880) 7,183 12,094 (3,653) 8,441 
Domain name Indefinite 504 — 504 504 — 504 
Trademarks 6-10 years 1,006 (560) 446 1,006 (392) 614 
Developed technology 3 years 2,555 (432) 2,123 250 (194) 56 
Total $ 22,792 $ (9,139) $ 13,653 $ 32,800 $ (12,281) $ 20,519 

(1) Includes intangible assets associated with the acquisition of Blade Europe.
(2) In 2023, exclusive rights to air transportation services include exclusive rights to Helijet’s scheduled passenger routes in Canada acquired in 2021.
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For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, amortization of its finite-lived intangible assets were $2,986 and $6,036, respectively.

As of December 31, 2024, the estimated amortization expense of its finite-lived intangible assets for each of the next five years are as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,
2025 $ 2,456 
2026 2,285 
2027 1,993 
2028 1,616 
2029 1,615 
Thereafter 2,387 

Total $ 12,352 

2024 Impairment

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $5,759 related to the exclusive rights to air transportation services associated with
Blade Canada. The charge brought the net book value of the exclusive rights to zero. This amount is included within general and administrative expenses in the consolidated
statements of operations and is part of the Passenger segment. The impairment resulted from a modification to the November 30, 2021 agreement with Helijet, effective June 1,
2024, which included an earlier termination date of August 31, 2025 (previously an initial term of five years with automatic renewals for successive two-year periods).

2023 Impairment

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized an impairment charge for the exclusive rights to air transportation services associated with the acquisition
of Blade Europe in the amount of $20,753, which was included in intangible impairment expense within general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of
operations and is part of the Passenger segment. The impairment was as a result of adjustments made to the near term projections for revenue, expenses and expected EVA
introduction, to reflect our experience operating Blade Europe since September 2022 as well as expected delays in the commercialization of EVA.

Fair value was determined using the discounted estimated cash flows to measure the impairment loss for the asset group for which undiscounted future net cash flows were not
sufficient to recover the net book value.

The estimated cash flows used to assess the recoverability of our long-lived assets and measure fair value are derived from current business plans. These plans consider price
and volume projections. Other important assumptions include flight-hour costs, timing of EVA becoming commercial, EVA cost of operation, and the use of an appropriate
discount rate. We believe our estimates and models are similar to what a market participant would use.

The fair value measurement of our long-lived assets is considered a Level 3 measurement because it relies on significant inputs not observable in the market. These inputs
include discount rates and determination of long-term estimates of profitability and cash flow values. We used a weighted average discount rate of 12.5% to calculate the fair
value of the impaired asset groups in 2023. This rate, along with the long-term estimates of profitability and cash flow values, represents management’s best estimate of what a
market participant would use.

Note 6 – Operating Right-of-Use Asset and Operating Lease Liability

Blade’s operating leases consist of airport and heliport terminals, offices, vehicles and aircraft leases that are embedded within certain CPAs. Upon meeting certain criteria as
stated in ASC 842 Leases (“ASC 842”), the lease component of a CPA would be accounted for as an embedded lease, with a corresponding balance included in the operating
ROU asset and lease liability.
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During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company had the following lease transactions in accordance with ASC 842:

In October 2024, the Company signed the first amendment to the Aircraft Operator Agreement (“AOA”) with its exclusive operator in Europe, among other changes the
amendment eliminated the flight hour guarantee and guarantee shortfall provisions, transitioning all payments to the operator to become variable, based solely on flight hours
flown. As a result, in the absence of any contractual unavoidable costs associated with Blade’s exclusive usage of the aircraft, the embedded lease liability of $12,684 and ROU
asset of $12,165 that arose from the original AOA were derecognized in full as of October 1, 2024. The net difference of $519 was recognized as a gain within general and
administrative costs in the consolidated statements of operations. Under the agreement, all future payments, including additional cost-sharing amounts paid to the operator, will
be recorded within cost of revenue in the period incurred, and any amounts reimbursed from the operator to the Company will be recorded as a reduction to cost of revenue.
Under the amended AOA, following two consecutive years of performance below an agreed upon target, each Party may contractually terminate the amended AOA, however,
the Company may choose to block such a termination by the counterparty through the allocation of additional profit to such counterparty. In the event of a termination, each
party has certain exercisable rights over the assets within the agreement. For example, if the counterparty chose to terminate the agreement following two consecutive years of
performance below target and the Company determined not to block such a termination, the Company would have the contractual right to purchase the operator’s fleet at a
discount to fair market value.

Effective in July 2024, Blade entered into two agreements with separate operators for up to a 15-month term ending October 2025 for two aircraft. Under these CPAs, if the
agreement expires or is terminated for cause, the flight hour guarantee will be pro-rated to the date of the termination. Additionally, Blade has the right for immediate
termination with no penalty if a government authority enacts travel restrictions.

On May 1, 2024, an existing CPA for three aircraft was expanded to include a fourth aircraft, which commenced operations that same day and resulted in an additional ROU
asset and corresponding lease liability of $992. The four rotorcraft are utilized by both our Passenger and Medical segment. In case of early termination by Blade, a one-year
purchase guarantee will be pro-rated to the date of the termination. In addition, Blade has the right for immediate termination with no penalty if a government authority enacts
travel restrictions.

In January 2024, an existing CPA for eight aircraft utilized by our Medical segment was restated and amended for a four-year term ending November 30, 2027. Subsequently,
in April 2024, the agreement was terminated for seven aircraft following Blade’s acquisition of those seven aircraft (see “—Property and Equipment, Net” within Note 2). This
termination resulted in a derecognition of ROU asset and lease liability balance totaling $6,367 and $6,490, respectively. The CPA for the eighth aircraft was terminated in July
2024.

Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recognized a ROU asset and a lease liability for new office spaces. This includes a lease in Chandler,
Arizona, which commenced in July 2024 with an initial term of approximately 7 years, serving the Medical segment. The initial recognition of the ROU asset and
corresponding lease liability was $2,376. Similarly, a new lease in New York, New York, commenced in May 2024 with an initial term of approximately 3 years, serving the
Passenger segment and functioning as Blade’s corporate office. The initial recognition of the ROU asset and corresponding lease liability was $2,689.

See Note 12, “Commitments and Contingencies”, for additional information about our capacity purchase agreements.

Balance sheet information related to the Company’s leases is presented below:

December 31,
2024 December 31, 2023

Operating leases:
Operating right-of-use asset $ 8,876 $ 23,484 
Operating lease liability, current 3,304 4,787 
Operating lease liability, long-term 6,018 19,738 

As of December 31, 2024, included in the table above is $3,443, $1,717 and $1,897 of operating right-of-use asset, operating lease liability, current, and operating lease liability,
long-term, respectively, under aircraft leases that are
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embedded within the capacity purchase agreements. As of December 31, 2023, included in the table above is $21,081, $3,215 and $18,871 of operating right-of-use asset,
operating lease liability, current and operating lease liability, long-term, respectively, under aircraft leases that are embedded within the capacity purchase agreements.

The following provides details of the Company’s lease expense: 
Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023
Lease cost:

Short-term lease cost $ 963 $ 434 
Operating lease cost - General and administrative 1,820 2,072 
Operating lease cost - Cost of revenue (1) 3,696 4,618 

Total $ 6,479 $ 7,124 
(1)

Operating lease costs related to aircraft leases that are embedded within CPAs.

Other information related to leases is presented below:

December 31, 2024
Weighted-average discount rate – operating lease 7.90 %
Weighted-average remaining lease term – operating lease (in years) 3.5

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 5,274 $ 6,493 

As of December 31, 2024, the expected annual minimum lease payments of the Company’s operating lease liabilities were as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31
2025 $ 3,906 
2026 3,349 
2027 1,406 
2028 632 
2029 550 
Thereafter 851 
Total future minimum lease payments, undiscounted 10,694 
Less: Imputed interest for leases in excess of one year (1,372)

Present value of future minimum lease payments $ 9,322 

Note 7 – Stock-Based Compensation

Equity Compensation Plans

The Company maintains the 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”), which has been approved by our stockholders and provides for the issuance of shares of common
stock to our employees, officers, directors, consultants and advisors, subject to its terms. The 2021 Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of our Board of
Directors. Awards granted under the 2021 Plan are subject to individual award agreements that, among other things, specify the conditions for vesting, termination and
forfeiture. The requisite vesting periods for time-based awards made to date range from vesting on grant date to as late as four years from the date of grant. The expiration date
of the 2021 Plan, on and after
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which date no awards may be granted under the 2021 Plan, is May 7, 2031 (the tenth anniversary of the effective date of the 2021 Plan); provided, however, that such expiration
shall not affect awards then outstanding under the 2021 Plan, and the terms and conditions of the 2021 Plan shall continue to apply to such awards.

The maximum number of shares of our common stock that can be made available for awards under the 2021 Plan (the “Absolute Share Limit”) automatically increases on the
first day of each fiscal year by the lesser of (a) 4,653,484 shares of common stock, (b) 5% of the total number of shares of common stock outstanding on the last year of the
immediately preceding fiscal year and (c) a lower number of shares of common stock as determined by our Board of Directors. The Absolute Share Limit is also automatically
increased by any shares of common stock underlying awards outstanding under the Fly Blade, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2015 Plan”) that, on or after the effective
date of the 2021 Plan, expire or are canceled, forfeited, terminated, settled in cash or otherwise settled without issuance to the holder. Pursuant to the annual automatic increase
feature of the 2021 Plan, our Board of Directors approved an increase to the Absolute Share Limit of 3,970,951 shares, effective January 1, 2025. As of January 1, 2025, these
were a total of 12,371,449 shares available for issuance under the 2021 Plan.

Stock Option Awards

All of the outstanding stock options awards are fully vested. For the year ended December 31, 2024, there have been no stock option awards granted under the 2021 Plan (as
defined above).

Following is a summary of stock option activities for the year ended December 31, 2024:

Options

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Life

(years)
Intrinsic

Value
Outstanding – January 1, 2024 7,217,074 $ 0.19 $ 0.21 3.5

Exercised (2,092,558) 0.19 0.14 $ 7,198 
Forfeited — — — 

Outstanding – December 31, 2024 5,124,516 $ 0.19 $ 0.23 3.0 $ 20,813 

Exercisable as of December 31, 2024 5,124,516 $ 0.19 $ 0.23 3.0 $ 20,813 

Restricted Stock

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company granted an aggregate of 8,129,630 of the Company’s RSUs to various employees, officers, directors, consultants, and
service providers. The RSUs have various vesting dates, ranging from vesting on the grant date to as late as four years from the date of grant.

PSUs were granted in the first quarter of 2024 to named executive officers and key employees under the 2021 Plan, with a four-year service period ending on December 31,
2027. The PSUs will vest subject to the achievement of certain financial performance metrics by the Company. The grant date fair value of these PSUs was $3.94 per share.
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Restricted Stock Units

Weighted Average Grant
Date

Fair Value
Non-vested – January 1, 2024 5,259,982 $ 4.99 

Granted 8,129,630 3.70 
Vested (2,871,614) 4.76 
Forfeited (1,231,888) 3.79 

Non-vested – December 31, 2024 (1) 9,286,110 $ 4.10 

(1) 4,628,569 are PSUs that will vest subject to the achievement of certain financial performance metrics by the Company as discussed above.

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company recorded $19,893 and $12,501, respectively, in employee and officers restricted stock compensation expense.
As of December 31, 2024, unamortized stock-based compensation costs related to restricted share arrangements was $29,673 and will be recognized over a weighted average
period of 2.6 years.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Stock-based compensation expense for stock options and restricted stock units in the consolidated statements of operations is summarized as follows:

For the Years Ended
2024 2023

Software development $ 307 $ 739 
General and administrative (1) 18,627 13,849 
Selling and marketing 1,061 596
Total stock-based compensation expense (2) $ 19,995 $ 15,184 

(1) For the year ended December 31, 2023, includes an expense of $ 3,022 in connection with the equity-based portion of Trinity’s contingent consideration, offset by a credit of $339 in
connection with the settlement of the 2022 equity-based portion of contingent consideration related to the acquisition of Trinity.
(2) Total stock-based compensation expenses for the year ended December 31, 2024 include $102 of accrued expenses.

Note 8 – Segment and Geographic Information

Segment Information

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise that engage in business activities for which discrete financial information is available that is evaluated regularly
by the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) and is used in resource allocation and performance assessments. The Company has identified two operating and reportable
segments - Passenger and Medical, as our Chief Executive Officer, who is our CODM, regularly reviews discrete information for those two reportable segments.

Beginning in the first quarter of 2024, the Company changed its measure of segment performance to Adjusted EBITDA, as the CODM evaluates segment performance and
allocates resources based on this metric. The CODM considers budget-to-actual variances and year-over-year changes in Adjusted EBITDA when making resource allocation
decisions across our segments. Adjusted EBITDA reflects the operational efficiency and core results of our segment, independent of tax implications and non-operational
financial factors. Adjusted EBITDA is defined as net loss adjusted to exclude (1) depreciation and amortization, (2) stock-based compensation, (3) change in fair value of
warrant liabilities, (4) interest income and expense, (5) income tax, (6) realized gains and losses on short-term investments, (7) impairment of intangible assets and (8) certain
other non-recurring items (shown below) that management does not believe are indicative of ongoing Company operating performance and would impact the comparability of
results between periods. The Company does not allocate assets at the reportable segment level as these are managed on an entity wide group basis and, accordingly, the
Company does not report asset information by segments.

The following tables reflect certain financial data of the Company’s reportable segments and includes the reconciliation to loss before income taxes.
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Year Ended December 31, 2024
Passenger Medical Total

Revenue $ 101,876 146,817 $ 248,693 
Less segment expenses

Cost of revenue (75,998) (113,776)
Adjusted selling, general and administrative expense (1) (22,310) (13,755)

Total Segment Adjusted EBITDA $ 3,568 $ 19,286 $ 22,854 
Reconciliation of Segment Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted unallocated corporate expenses and software development (2) (21,649)
Depreciation and amortization (3) (5,962)
Stock-based compensation (19,995)
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities (850)
Interest income 7,214 
Legal and regulatory advocacy fees (4) (1,713)
Executive severance costs (140)
SOX readiness costs (399)
M&A transaction costs (241)
Impairment of intangible assets (5,759)
Gain on lease modification (5) 519 
Restructuring costs (6) (1,441)

Loss before income taxes $ (27,562)

Other Segment Disclosures
Capital Expenditures

Purchase of aircraft (7) $ — $ 25,165 $ 25,165 
Other purchases of property and equipment (8) 1,557 4,095 5,652 

Total segment capital expenditures 1,557 29,260 30,817 
General corporate capital expenditures 58 

Total capital expenditures $ 1,557 $ 29,260 $ 30,875 

(1) Adjusted selling, general and administrative expense are total operating expenses excluding cost of revenue and the following expenses which are non-cash or do not represent normal
recurring expenses: depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, impairment of intangible assets, certain legal and regulatory advocacy fees, executive severance costs, SOX
readiness costs, merger and acquisition (M&A) transaction costs, certain lease modifications and restructuring costs related to Blade Europe and Blade Canada.
(2) Includes costs that are not directly attributable to reportable segments such as finance, accounting, tax, information technology, human resources, legal costs and software development
costs (primarily consists of staff and contractors costs), and excludes non-cash items and certain transactions that management does not believe are reflective of our ongoing core operations.
(3) Includes $1,674 of depreciation for owned aircraft and vehicles included in Cost of revenue.
(4) Represents legal advocacy fees related to the Drulias lawsuit (see “— Legal and Environmental” within Note 12) and to the proposed restrictions at East Hampton Airport that we do not
consider representative of legal and regulatory advocacy costs that we will incur from time to time in the ordinary course of our business.
(5) Gain from the derecognition of the embedded lease following the amendment of the Aircraft Operator Agreement (see Note  6 for additional information); excluded from Adjusted
EBITDA as a non-cash gain not indicative of ongoing operating performance or comparable between periods.
(6) Includes severance, retention, legal and other one-time restructuring costs associated with a reorganization of Blade Europe and one-time termination fee of Blade Canada routes.
(7) Represents capital expenditures for initial aircraft acquisitions, excluding subsequent capitalized maintenance.
(8) Other purchases of property and equipment includes capitalized maintenance for aircraft, leasehold improvements, vehicles, and technology equipment.
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Year Ended December 31, 2023
Passenger Medical Total

Revenue $ 98,576 126,604 $ 225,180 
Less Segment expenses

Cost of revenue (79,132) (103,926)
Adjusted selling, general and administrative expense (1) (24,432) (11,924)

Total Segment Adjusted EBITDA $ (4,988) $ 10,754 $ 5,766 
Reconciliation of Segment Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted unallocated corporate expenses and software development (2) (22,399)
Depreciation and amortization (3) (7,111)
Stock-based compensation (12,501)
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 2,125 
Realized gain from sales of short-term investments 8 
Interest income 8,442 
Legal and regulatory advocacy fees (4) (686)
Executive severance costs (447)
SOX readiness costs (252)
Contingent consideration compensation (earn-out) (5) (9,734)
Impairment of intangible assets (20,753)

Loss before income taxes $ (57,542)

Other Segment disclosures
Capital expenditures

Other purchases of property and equipment $ 1,088 $ 1,010 $ 2,098 
Total segment capital expenditures $ 1,088 $ 1,010 $ 2,098 

General corporate capital expenditures 11 
Total capital expenditures $ 1,088 $ 1,010 $ 2,109 

(1) Adjusted selling, general and administrative expenses are total operating expenses excluding cost of revenue and the following expenses which are non-cash or do not represent recurring
expenses: depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, impairment of intangible assets, certain legal and regulatory advocacy fees, executive severance costs, SOX readiness
costs and contingent consideration compensation (earn-out).
(2) Includes costs that are not directly attributable to reportable segments such as finance, accounting, tax, information technology, human resources, legal costs and software development
costs (primarily consists of staff and contractors costs), and excludes non-cash items and certain transactions that management does not believe are reflective of our ongoing core operations.
(3) Includes $234 of depreciation for owned vehicles included in Cost of revenue.
(4) Represents certain legal and regulatory advocacy fees for certain proposed restrictions at East Hampton Airport and potential operational restrictions on large jet aircraft at Westchester
Airport, that we do not consider representative of legal and regulatory advocacy costs that we will incur from time to time in the ordinary course of our business.
(5) Represents Trinity’s contingent consideration in connection with the Trinity acquisition; 2023 was the last year subject to an earn-out payment.

December 31,
2024

December 31,
2023

Goodwill
Passenger $ 25,510 $ 27,045 
Medical 15,540 13,328 
Total goodwill $ 41,050 $ 40,373 
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Geographic Information

Revenue by geography is based on where the flight’s operator is based. Long-lived assets, net includes property and equipment, net and operating right-of-use assets. Summary
financial data attributable to various geographic regions for the periods indicated is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Revenue
United States $ 218,747 $ 190,744 
Other 29,946 34,436 
Total revenue $ 248,693 $ 225,180 

December 31,
2024

December 31,
2023

Long-lived assets
United States $ 38,540 $ 13,727 
Other 1,254 12,656 
Total long-lived assets $ 39,794 $ 26,383 

Note 9 – Income Taxes

The components of loss before income taxes were:

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2023
United States $ (14,859) $ (26,676)
Foreign (12,703) (30,866)
Total (27,562) (57,542)

The Company follows the provisions of the accounting guidance on accounting for income taxes which requires recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected
future tax consequences of events that have been included in the consolidated financial statements or tax returns. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
determined based on the difference between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are
expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is provided to reduce the deferred tax asset to a level which, more likely than not, will be realized.
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The benefit for income taxes is comprised of the following components:
For the Years Ended

Current:
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2023
Federal $ — $ — 
State — — 

Total current — — 
Deferred:

Federal — — 
State — — 
Foreign (255) (1,466)

Total deferred (255) (1,466)
Total income tax benefit $ (255) $ (1,466)

The income taxes benefit differs from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate to loss before income taxes. The sources and tax effects of the
differences are as follows:

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2023
Tax at federal statutory rate 21.00 % 21.00 %
State and local tax (2.54) 1.88 
Foreign rate differential 2.19 2.16 
Warrant liability — 0.78 
Executive compensation (11.48) (2.74)
Earn-out — (3.68)
Change in deferred tax rate — (7.59)
Change in valuation allowance (1.77) (9.55)
Equity compensation (6.76) — 
Other 0.28 0.29 
Effective tax rate 0.92 % 2.55 %
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The Company’s deferred tax assets/(liabilities) consist of the following:
As of December 31,

2024 2023
Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 29,202 $ 25,351 
Stock-based compensation 243 2,523 
Research and development credits 981 708 
Capitalized Research Expenses 2,318 2,110 
Operating lease liability 2,436 6,416 
Accrued expenses 772 1,055 
Other 742 766 

Total deferred tax assets 36,694 38,929 

Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment (447) — 
Operating right-of-use asset (2,313) (6,145)
Amortization of intangibles (2,468) (2,073)

Total deferred tax liabilities (5,228) (8,218)
Total net deferred tax assets, before valuation allowance 31,466 30,711 

Less: Valuation allowance (31,651) (31,162)
Deferred tax liabilities, net of valuation allowance $ (185) $ (451)

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has a valuation allowance of approximately $31,651 against the net deferred tax assets, for which realization cannot be considered
more likely than not at this time. In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, the Company considers all positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of
deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies, jurisdictional netting and past financial performance. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, based
upon the consideration of such evidence, management believes a full valuation allowance against net deferred tax assets is warranted, with the exception of Monaco net
operating losses.
 
The valuation allowance recorded by the Company as of December 31, 2024 resulted from uncertainties of the future utilization of deferred tax assets relating primarily to net
operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards for US federal, Canada, France and US state income tax purposes. Realization of the NOL carryforwards is contingent on future taxable
earnings. The deferred tax asset was reviewed for expected utilization using a “more likely than not” approach by assessing the available positive and negative evidence
surrounding its recoverability. Accordingly, a full valuation allowance continues to be recorded, with the exception of Monaco net operating losses, as it was determined based
upon all available evidence that it was “more likely than not” that the Company’s deferred tax assets would not be realized. The Company’s net deferred tax liability of $ 185
relates solely to Blade Europe. The Company’s valuation allowance increased by $489 in 2024.
  
As of December 31, 2024, the Company has approximately $78,974 of gross US federal, $92,813 of gross US state and local and $25,659 of gross foreign net operating loss
carryforwards. The US federal, state and city net operating losses begin to expire in the year 2035. Federal net operating losses incurred in tax year 2018 and beyond do not
expire. The Company has $66,887 of federal net operating losses with an indefinite life. Canadian net operating losses can be carried forward 20 years and French & Monaco
net operating losses can be carried forward indefinitely.
  
Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 subject the future utilization of net operating losses and certain other tax attributes, such as research and
experimental tax credits, to an annual limitation in the event of certain ownership changes, as defined. The Company has undergone an ownership change study and has
determined multiple changes in ownership as defined by IRC Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, did occur in December 2017, February 2018, and May 2021.
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Based on the Company having undergone multiple ownership changes throughout its history, limited NOLs are subject to limitation at varying rates each year. Of the
Company's $78,974 of total gross federal NOLs, approximately $3,580 of the Company’s NOL carryforwards are subject to limitation. In addition, approximately $1,459 of
NOLs and $112 of R&D Credits are expected to expire unused. The deferred tax assets associated with these attributes that are expected to expire without utilization have not
been included within the deferred tax asset table or discussion above. There are approximately $75,394 of NOLs available to offset taxable income as of December 31, 2024.
NOLs will continue to become available through 2037.
  
The Company files tax returns in the U.S. federal, Canada, France, Monaco and various US state and local jurisdictions and is subject to examination by tax authorities. The
Company has reported US net operating losses dating back to inception. The IRS may examine records from the year a loss occurred when a net operating loss is applied. Thus,
the Company is subject to U.S. federal income tax examinations for all years. The statute in other jurisdictions is generally 3-4 years but could be extended in certain
circumstances.

Note 10 – Net Loss per Common Share

Basic loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per common
share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, plus the impact of common shares, if dilutive, resulting from the
exercise of outstanding stock options, restricted shares, and warrants.

A reconciliation of net loss and common share amounts used in the computation of basic and diluted loss per common share is presented below.
Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Basic and dilutive loss per common share:
Net loss attributable to Blade Air Mobility, Inc. $ (27,307) $ (56,076)

Total weighted-average basic common shares outstanding 77,499,423 73,524,476 

Net loss income per common share:
Basic and diluted loss per common share $ (0.35) $ (0.76)

The following table represents common stock equivalents that were excluded from the computation of diluted loss per common share for the years ended December 31, 2024
and 2023 because the effect of their inclusion would be anti-dilutive:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Warrants to purchase shares of common stock 14,166,644 14,166,644 
Options to purchase shares of common stock 5,124,516 7,217,074 
Restricted shares of common stock 9,286,110 5,259,982 

Total potentially dilutive securities 28,577,270 26,643,700 

Note 11 – Related Party Transactions

The Company occasionally engages in transactions for certain air charter services with jet operators who are part of the portfolio of RedBird Capital Partners Management LLC,
which is an investor in the Company. Additionally, one member of the Company’s Board was a Partner of an affiliated company of RedBird Capital Partners Management LLC
until December 2024.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company paid these jet operators approximately $317 and $369, respectively for air charter services. These costs were
recorded within Cost of revenue on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

Note 12 – Commitments and Contingencies

Capacity Purchase Agreements

Blade has contractual relationships with various aircraft operators to provide aircraft service. Under these CPAs, the Company pays the operator contractually agreed fees
(carrier costs) for operating these flights. The fees are generally based on fixed hourly rates for flight time multiplied by hours flown. Under these CPAs, the Company is also
responsible for landing fees and other costs, which are either passed through by the operator to the Company without any markup or directly incurred by the Company.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has remaining unfulfilled obligations under agreements with various aircraft operators to provide aircraft service. The remaining
unfulfilled obligation includes amounts within operating lease liability related to aircraft leases embedded within our capacity purchase agreements as discussed in Note 6 –
Operating Right-of-Use Asset and Operating Lease Liability. These future unfulfilled obligations were as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31
Total Unfulfilled

Obligation
 Immediate Termination

(1)
Termination for
Convenience (2)

2025 $ 5,789 $ 5,021 $ 1,586 
2026 5,417 5,417 — 
2027 2,596 2,596 — 
Thereafter — — — 
(1) Within total unfulfilled obligation, the following amounts are where Blade has the ability for immediate termination if a government authority enacts travel restrictions.
(2) Within total unfulfilled obligation, the following amounts are where Blade could terminate for convenience upon 60 days’ notice, with a one-year annual minimum guarantee being pro-
rated as of the termination date.

Legal and Environmental

From time to time, we may be a party to litigation that arises in the ordinary course of business. Other than described below, we do not have any pending litigation that,
separately or in the aggregate, would, in the opinion of management, have a material adverse effect on its results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. As of
December 31, 2024, management believes, after considering a number of factors, including (but not limited to) the information currently available, the views of legal counsel,
the nature of contingencies to which the Company is subject and prior experience, that the ultimate disposition of these other litigation and claims will not materially affect the
Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations. The Company records liabilities for legal and environmental claims when a loss is probable and reasonably
estimable. These amounts are recorded based on the Company’s assessments of the likelihood of their eventual disposition. The Company’s view and estimates related to these
matters may change in the future, as new events and circumstances arise and as the matters continue to develop.

In February 2024, two putative class action lawsuits relating to the acquisition of Blade Urban Air Mobility, Inc. (“Old Blade”) were filed in the Delaware Court of Chancery.
On April 16, 2024, these cases were consolidated under the caption Drulias et al. v. Affeldt, et al., C.A. No. 2024-0161-SG (Del. Ch.) (“ Drulias”). Plaintiffs assert claims for
breach of fiduciary duty and unjust enrichment claims against the former directors of Experience Investment Corp. (“EIC” and such directors, the “EIC Directors”), the former
officers of EIC, and Experience Sponsor LLC (“Sponsor”), and aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty claim against Sponsor. The operative complaint alleges, amongst
other things, that the proxy statement related to the acquisition of Old Blade insufficiently disclosed EIC’s cash position, Old Blade’s value prospects and risks, and information
related to Old Blade’s chief executive officer, who is also our current chief executive officer. The consolidated complaints seeks, among other things, damages and attorneys’
fees and costs. Litigation is ongoing. The Company believes that all claims in the lawsuit are without merit and intends to defend itself vigorously against them.
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Non-Cancellable Commitments with Vendors

In December 2023, the Company entered into a technology service agreement with a vendor for cloud computing services where we are committed to the remaining spend of
$1.0 million and $1.6 million for the years ending December 31, 2025 and 2026, respectively.

Note 13 – Warrant Liabilities

On May 7, 2021, the merger between Old Blade and EIC was consummated (the “Merger”). The warrants acquired in the Merger include (a) redeemable warrants issued by EIC
and sold as part of the units in the EIC Initial Public Offering (“EIC IPO”) (whether they were purchased in the EIC IPO or thereafter in the open market), which are exercisable
for an aggregate of 9,166,644 shares of common stock at a purchase price of $11.50 per share (the “Public Warrants”) and (b) warrants issued by EIC to Sponsor in a private
placement simultaneously with the closing of the EIC IPO, which are exercisable for an aggregate of 5,000,000 shares of common stock at a purchase price of $11.50 per share
(the “Private Placement Warrants”).

The Company evaluated its warrants under ASC 815-40, Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity , and concluded that they do not meet the criteria to be
classified in stockholders’ equity. Accordingly, the Company classifies the warrants as liabilities at their fair value and adjusts the warrants to fair value at each reporting period.
This liability is subject to remeasurement at each balance sheet date until exercised, and any change in fair value is recognized in the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations. See Note 14 – Fair Value Measurements for additional information.

Warrants — Public Warrants may only be exercised for a whole number of shares. The Public Warrants became exercisable on June 7, 2021. The Public Warrants will expire
on May 7, 2026 or earlier upon redemption or liquidation.

Redemptions of Warrants for Cash — The Company may redeem the Public Warrants:

• in whole and not in part;
• at a price of $0.01 per warrant;
• upon not less than 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption to each warrant holder; and
• if, and only if, the reported last sale price of the Company’s common stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day period

ending three business days before the Company sends the notice of redemption to each warrant holder.

Redemption of Warrants for Shares of Common Stock — The Company may redeem the outstanding warrants:

• in whole and not in part;
• at a price equal to a number of shares of common stock to be determined, based on the redemption date and the fair market value of the Company’s common stock;
• upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption;
• if, and only if, the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock equals or exceeds $10.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends,

reorganizations, recapitalizations, and the like) on the trading day prior to the date on which the Company sends the notice of redemption to the warrant holders; and
• if, and only if, there is an effective registration statement covering the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants and a current prospectus relating

thereto is available throughout the 30-day period after the written notice of redemption is given.

If the Company calls the Public Warrants for redemption for cash, management will have the option to require all holders that wish to exercise the Public Warrants to do so on a
“cashless basis”, as described in the warrant agreement. The exercise price and number of shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants may be adjusted in
certain circumstances including in the event of a stock dividend, recapitalization, reorganization, merger, or consolidation. However, except as described below, the warrants
will not be adjusted for issuance of common stock at a price below its exercise price. Additionally, in no event will the Company be required to net-cash settle the warrants.

F-35



Table of Contents

BLADE AIR MOBILITY, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

The Private Placement Warrants are identical to the Public Warrants underlying the Units sold in the initial public offering, except that the Private Placement Warrants will be
exercisable on a cashless basis and be non-redeemable so long as they are held by the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees (unless the Company’s common stock
equals or exceed $10 per share and the Company redeems all the Public Warrants). If the Private Placement Warrants are held by someone other than the initial purchasers or
their permitted transferees, the Private Placement Warrants will be redeemable by the Company and exercisable by such holders on the same basis as the Public Warrants.

Note 14 – Fair Value Measurements

The following table presents information about the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and
indicates the fair value hierarchy of the valuation inputs the Company utilized to determine such fair value.

Level December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Assets
Money market fund (1) 1 $ 13,751 $ 25,064 

$ 13,751 $ 25,064 

Liabilities
Warrant liabilities - Public Warrants 1 $ 3,758 $ 3,208 
Warrant liabilities - Private Warrants 2 2,050 1,750 
Fair value of aggregate warrant liabilities $ 5,808 $ 4,958 

(1) As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had cash equivalents held in a money market fund. The Company has concluded that due to the highly liquid nature of the fund, the
carrying value approximates fair value, which represents a Level 1 input. The balance of cash equivalents held in the money market fund is included in cash and cash equivalents.

The Warrants were accounted for as liabilities in accordance with ASC 815-40 and are presented within “Warrant liability” on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The
warrant liabilities are measured at fair value upon assumption and on a recurring basis, with changes in fair value presented within “Change in fair value of warrant liabilities” in
the consolidated statements of operations.

The Public Warrants are considered part of Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy, as those securities are traded on an active public market. At May 7, 2021 and thereafter, the
Company valued the Private Warrants using Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The Company used the value of the Public Warrants as an approximation of the value of the
Private Warrants as they are substantially similar to the Public Warrants, but not directly traded or quoted on an active market.

Subsequent Measurement

The following table presents the changes in fair value of the warrant liabilities:

Public
Warrants

Private
Placement
Warrants

Total Warrant
Liability

Fair value as of January 1, 2023 $ 4,583 $ 2,500 $ 7,083 
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities (1,375) (750) (2,125)
Fair value as of December 31, 2023 $ 3,208 $ 1,750 $ 4,958 
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 550 300 850 

Fair value as of December 31, 2024 $ 3,758 $ 2,050 $ 5,808 

Note 15 – Stockholders' Equity

Preferred Stock

The Board of Directors of the Company is authorized to provide, out of the unissued shares of Preferred Stock, for one or more series of Preferred Stock and, with respect to
each such series, to fix, without further stockholder approval, the
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number of shares constituting such series and the designation of such series, the powers (including voting powers), preferences and relative, participating, optional and other
special rights, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, of such series of Preferred Stock. The powers (including voting powers), preferences and relative,
participating, optional and other special rights of, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, of each series of Preferred Stock, if any, may differ from those of any
and all other series at any time outstanding. There was no preferred stock issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 or 2023.

Share Repurchase Program

On March 20, 2024, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had authorized a stock repurchase program, pursuant to which the Company may repurchase, from
time to time, up to an aggregate of $20.0 million of the Company’s common stock, exclusive of any fees, commissions or other expenses related to such repurchases. The
Company’s stock repurchase programs may be suspended, modified or discontinued by the Board at any time without prior notice at the Company’s discretion. The timing and
actual number of shares repurchased will depend on a variety of factors, including corporate and regulatory requirements, price and other market conditions and the Board’s (or
its designees’) determination as to the appropriate use of our cash.

During the three months ended December 31, 2024, the Company did not repurchase any shares of common stock. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company
repurchased 80,102 shares of common stock in the open market. The average price per share was $3.00, resulting in a total aggregate amount of approximately $244. All share
repurchases have been retired. There remains a potential repurchase capacity of approximately $19.8 million under the stock repurchase program that was announced on March
20, 2024.

The Company follows the cost method for accounting for stock repurchases. All shares repurchased to date have been retired by the Company, and there were no unsettled share
repurchases. When the Company retires its own common stock, the excess of the repurchase price over par value is allocated between additional paid-in capital and retained
earnings subject to certain limitations. The allocation to additional paid-in capital is determined by applying a percentage, calculated by dividing the number of shares to be
retired by the number of shares issued and outstanding as of the retirement date, to the balance of additional paid-in capital as of the retirement date. For the year ended
December 31, 2024, $163 was deducted from accumulated deficit, and $407 was deducted from additional paid-in capital, in relation to the retirement of the common stock.

Note 16 – Subsequent Events

The Company has completed an evaluation of all subsequent events through the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K to ensure that these consolidated financial statements
include appropriate disclosure of events both recognized in the consolidated financial statements and events which occurred but were not recognized in the consolidated
financial statements. The Company has concluded that no subsequent event has occurred that requires disclosure.
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* Filed herewith
+ Denotes a management contract or compensatory arrangement
† Portions of this exhibit are redacted pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iv) of Regulation S-K
(1) Incorporated by reference to our Form 8-K (file number 001-39046) filed on December 15, 2020
(2) Incorporated by reference to our Form 8-K (file number 001-39046) filed on May 13, 2021
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(7) Incorporated by reference to our Form 8-K (file number 001-39046) filed on September 2, 2021
(8) Incorporated by reference to our Form 10-K (file number 001-39046) filed on December 20, 2021
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(12) Incorporated by reference to our Form 10-K (file number 001-39046) filed on March 16, 2023
(13) Incorporated by reference to our Form 10-K (file number 001-39046) filed on March 12, 2024
(14) Incorporated by reference to our Form 10-Q (file number 001-39046) filed on May 7, 2024

Item 16. Form 10–K Summary.

Not applicable.

(14)

(13)

62

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1779128/000177912824000068/n818lx-purchaseagreement.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1779128/000177912824000015/ex971bladeairmobilityinc-i.htm


Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

BLADE AIR MOBILITY, INC.
March 13, 2025

By: /s/ Robert S. Wiesenthal
Robert S. Wiesenthal
Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Robert S. Wiesenthal and Melissa M. Tomkiel, acting alone or together with another attorney-in-
fact, as his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for such person and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and
all capacities, to sign any or all further amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and
every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying
and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his or her substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the
dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Robert S. Wiesenthal Chief Executive Officer and Director March 13, 2025
Robert Wiesenthal (Principal Executive Officer)  

 
/s/ William A. Heyburn Chief Financial Officer March 13, 2025
William A. Heyburn (Principal Financial Officer)  

 
/s/ Amir M. Cohen Chief Accounting Officer March 13, 2025
Amir M. Cohen (Principal Accounting Officer)  

/s/ Eric Affeldt Chairman of the Board March 13, 2025
Eric Affeldt  

/s/ John Borthwick Director March 13, 2025
John Borthwick

/s/ Jane Garvey Director March 13, 2025
Jane Garvey

/s/ Andrew Lauck Director March 13, 2025
Andrew Lauck

/s/ Kenneth Lerer Director March 13, 2025
Kenneth Lerer

/s/ Reginald Love Director March 13, 2025
Reginald Love

/s/ Susan Lyne Director March 13, 2025
Susan Lyne

/s/ Edward Philip Director March 13, 2025
Edward Philip
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Exhibit 10.30

BLADE AIR MOBILITY, INC.
FLIGHT BENEFIT POLICY FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

AND NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Blade Air Mobility, Inc. (the "Company") recognizes that Members of the Board of Directors (each, a “Director” and collectively, the "Directors") and the named executive
officers (each, an “Officer” and collectively, the “Officers”) of the Company may want to utilize Blade services for personal travel. The Company believes that personal use of
Blade services helps to strengthen the Directors’ and Officers’ connection to the Company and strengthens our relationships. The purpose of this Flight Benefit Policy for the
Board of Directors and Named Executive Officers (the "Policy") is to provide appropriate guidelines to the Directors and Officers for utilizing Blade services for personal
travel.

Subject to the Policy, Directors and Officers can arrange personal travel on Blade flights at no charge for up to the following amounts in total value during each calendar year
(the “Annual Flight Allowance”): $50,000 for the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and $25,000 for all other Directors and Officers of the Company. Directors and
Officers will be responsible for the payment of the value of any Blade flight in excess of their remaining Annual Flight Allowance.

Directors and Officers may only redeem their Annual Flight Allowance on behalf of themselves, their immediate family and guests.

Regardless of the amount of income, if any, reported in respect of Blade flights, each Director and Officer is solely responsible for all taxes in respect of cash and non-cash
compensation from Blade, including imputed income.

The Annual Flight Allowance will expire on December 31 of the applicable calendar year. Upon request, Directors and Officers may extend the expiration of any unused,
expiring Annual Flight Allowance for an additional twelve months (i.e., to expire on December 31 of the following year), provided that no more than 50% of the respective
Annual Flight Allowance may be extended (i.e., the Chief Executive Officer of the Company may only extend up to $25,000 of their unused, expiring Annual Flight Allowance
and all other Directors and Officers may only extend up to $12,500 of their unused, expiring Annual Flight Allowance).

Scheduled Flights:

• Directors and Officers may reserve a seat on any scheduled Blade flight, provided the following conditions are satisfied:

o The scheduled Blade flight must otherwise be flying paying passengers other than Director(s) and/or Officer(s) who are flying using their Annual Flight
Allowance.

• For purposes of calculating the remaining Annual Flight Allowances, the value associated with the scheduled Blade flight seat(s) will be equal to the full market price of
the Blade seat(s).

• For tax purposes, the value of the scheduled Blade flight seat(s) will be determined in accordance with the IRS’s SIFL calculation and treated as imputed income
(taxable) for the Director or Officer.

Charter Flights:

• Directors and Officers can charter an entire helicopter or turboprop (including seaplanes) flight, provided the following conditions are satisfied:

o The flight is not on a jet aircraft, provided that, the Company is permitted to substitute a jet aircraft in lieu of a helicopter or turboprop (including seaplanes) for
safety, cost-savings or recovery purposes.

o In periods of limited capacity, any flight for paying passengers will take priority over charters organized for Directors’ or Officers’ personal travel. Therefore,
Directors and Officers must obtain approval from the CFO and the Head of Fixed Wing Operations or Rotorcraft Operations (as appropriate).
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• For purposes of calculating the remaining Annual Flight Allowance, the value associated with the charter flight will equal the sum of all charges payable to operators,
landing and other fees payable to FBOs, and any other charges incurred by Blade to organize the flight.

• For tax purposes, the value of the charter flight will be determined in accordance with the IRS’s SIFL calculation and treated as imputed income (taxable) for the
Director or Officer.

* * * *

Effective as of: January 1, 2025
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BLADE AIR MOBILITY, INC.

Policy Statement on Securities Trades
by Company Officers, Directors and Employees

Introduction
    In the normal course of business, employees, officers and directors of Blade Air Mobility, Inc. (the “Company”) may use or have access to
confidential and material information that is not generally available to the investing public. You, as an employee, officer or director of the
Company, have an important ethical and legal obligation not to engage in trading in securities while in possession of material non-public
information (“insider trading”) and to maintain the confidentiality of such non-public information. Insider trading is a crime; you and the
Company may be subject to severe civil and criminal penalties as a result of trading in securities while in possession of material non-public
information or as a result of unauthorized disclosure of material non-public information.
    The Company has adopted this policy statement on securities trades by Company officers, directors and employees (this “Policy”) to prevent
violations of the U.S. insider trading laws by the Company’s officers, directors and employees and to avoid even the appearance of improper
conduct by these persons. For directors who are affiliated with any entity that is a holder of the Company’s securities, this Policy also applies
to such entities, subject to Section 15 below. The Company’s General Counsel has been designated by the Company as the initial compliance
officer for administering this Policy, and any questions regarding interpretation of this Policy should be addressed to him/her. The Company
may from time to time designate other persons in addition to the General Counsel for administering this Policy.
    As a director, officer or employee of the Company, you are more likely to possess material non-public information about the Company, and
are therefore subject to special requirements concerning transactions in the Company’s securities. This entire Policy applies to you and you
should read it all carefully. Pay particular attention to Section 14, regarding pre-clearance of any transactions you conduct in
Company securities.

Statement of Policy

1.    Prohibitions.

a. No Trading on Inside Information. You may not trade in the securities of the Company, directly or through family members or other
persons or entities, while you are aware of material non-public information relating to the Company (except pursuant to a pre-cleared
trading plan that complies with Rule 10b5-1, as described in Section 5 below). Similarly, you may not trade in the securities of any other
company if you are aware of material non-public information about that company that you obtained in the course of your employment
with the Company.

b. No Tipping. You may not pass material non-public information on to others, including, without limitation, your family members, friends
or acquaintances or recommend to anyone the purchase or sale of any securities when you are aware of such information, whether or not
you receive any benefit from the other person’s use of that information. This practice, known as “tipping,” violates the securities laws
and can result in the same civil and criminal penalties that apply to insider trading, even though you did not trade and did not gain any
benefit from another’s trading.

c. Disclosure of Information to Others. The Company is required under Regulation FD of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”) to avoid the selective disclosure of material non-public information. The Company has established procedures for releasing



        

material information in a manner that is designed to achieve broad public dissemination of the information immediately upon its release.
You may not, therefore, disclose information to anyone outside the Company, including family members and friends, other than in
accordance with those procedures. You also may not discuss the Company or its business in an internet “chat room” or similar internet-
based forum.

d. General. You may not assist anyone who is engaged in any of the above activities. In addition to applying to the Company’s securities,
these prohibitions apply to information about and securities of other companies with which the Company has a relationship and as a
result of which you may acquire material non-public information, e.g., suppliers, licensees, licensors, joint venturers, customers, third-
party operators or contractors or companies with which the Company is considering entering into or terminating a material business
relationship or other material transaction.

    These prohibitions also apply to your family members, including your spouse or domestic partner, any family members or other persons that
live in your home, and any family members who do not live in your home but whose transactions in Company securities are directed by you or
subject to your influence or control. In addition, these prohibitions also apply to any entity over which you exercise sole or shared discretionary
authority to buy, sell or hold securities. You will be held responsible for ensuring that securities transactions by any of these people and entities
comply with this Policy.

2.    Penalties.

    If you engage in any of the above activities, you may subject yourself, the Company, its officers and directors and other supervisory
personnel to civil and criminal liability under federal and state securities laws.

a. Civil and Criminal Penalties. Insiders may be subject to criminal and civil fines and penalties as well as imprisonment for engaging in
transactions in the Company’s securities at a time when they have knowledge of material non-public information relating to the
Company. Insiders may also be liable for improper transactions by any person (commonly referred to as a “tippee”) to whom they have
disclosed material non-public information relating to the Company or to whom they have made recommendations or expressed opinions
on the basis of such information as to trading in the Company’s securities. The SEC has imposed large penalties even when the
disclosing person did not profit from the trading. The SEC, the stock exchanges and the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority use
sophisticated electronic surveillance techniques to uncover insider trading.

b. Controlling Person Liability. If the Company fails to take appropriate steps to prevent illegal insider trading, the Company may have
“controlling person” liability for a trading violation, potentially resulting in significant civil and criminal penalties. The civil penalties can
extend personal liability to the Company’s directors, officers and other supervisory personnel if they fail to take appropriate steps to
prevent insider trading.

c. Company Sanctions. Failure to comply with this Policy may also subject you to Company-imposed sanctions, up to and including
termination for cause, whether or not your failure to comply with this Policy results in a violation of law.

3.    Key Concepts.

a. Material Information. Information is material if there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider the information
important in deciding whether to buy, sell or hold a security. If disclosure of the information is likely to affect the market price
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of a security, the information is probably material. A few examples of the type of information that would usually be considered material
are:

projections of future earnings or losses or other earnings guidance;
earnings that are inconsistent with the consensus expectations of the investment community;
increases or decreases in dividend payments, stock splits, securities offerings or other major events regarding the Company’s
securities;

possible mergers and acquisitions or joint ventures;
the initiation or termination of significant contracts or routes;
changes in the board or management team;
developments related to Federal Aviation Administration, Department of Transportation, local municipalities or other regulatory
approvals or legislation;

the gain or loss of major suppliers, vendors, customers or third-party operators or developments in their respective businesses;
developments in actual or threatened litigation; or
unusual gains or losses in major operations and financial liquidity problems.

    It is important to keep in mind that material information need not be something that has happened or definitely will happen;
information that something is likely to happen, or even just that it may happen, may be considered material. Material information may be
positive or negative.
    Materiality determinations are often challenged with the benefit of hindsight and therefore any question about whether particular
information is material should be resolved in favor of not trading. If you have any question as to whether particular information is
material, you should not trade or communicate the information to anyone, without prior approval by the General Counsel.

b. Non-public Information. “Non-public” information is any information that has not been disclosed generally to the investing public. One
must be able to point to some fact or event to show that the information is generally public, such as inclusion in the Company’s reports
filed with the SEC or the issuance of a press release or reference to the information in publications of general circulation in the United
States securities market, such as The Wall Street Journal or the New York Times. Even after the Company has released information
to the press and the information has been reported, at least two full business days must be allowed for the investing public to
absorb and evaluate the information before you may trade in the Company’s securities. This means you may not trade until the
third business day after the information is announced to the public. For example, if the Company announced its financial earnings
before trading began on a Tuesday, the first time you could buy or sell Company securities would be the opening of the market on
Thursday (assuming you were not then aware of other material non-public information). However, if the Company announced its
earnings after the start of trading on a Tuesday, the earliest you could buy or sell the Company’s securities would be the start of trading
on Friday.

4.    Restrictions on Short-Term, Speculative Trading, Hedging, and Pledging.

    The Company has determined that there is a substantial likelihood of the appearance of improper conduct by Company personnel when they
engage in certain types of short-term or speculative trading or hedges. Therefore, you are prohibited from directly or indirectly selling

3



        

any equity security of the Company if you do not own the security sold (i.e., selling securities “short”). In addition, you are prohibited from
purchasing financial instruments (including prepaid variable forward contracts, equity swaps, collars, and exchange funds), or otherwise
engage in transactions, that hedge or offset, or are designed to hedge or offset, any decrease in the market value of the Company’s equity
securities.

    Securities purchased on margin may be sold by the broker without the customer’s consent if the customer fails to meet a margin call.
Similarly, securities held in an account which may be borrowed against or are otherwise pledged as collateral for a loan may be sold in
foreclosure if the borrower defaults on the loan. Accordingly, if you purchase securities on margin or pledge them as collateral for a loan, a
margin sale or foreclosure sale may occur at a time when you are aware of material non-public information or otherwise are not permitted to
trade in Company securities. The sale, even though not initiated at your request, may subject you to liability under the insider trading laws.
Therefore, no Covered Person (as defined below) may purchase the Company’s securities on margin, or borrow against any account in which
the Company’s securities are held, or pledge the Company’s securities as collateral for a loan.

5.    Exceptions.

a. Approved 10b5-1 Plans. Trades by officers, directors and other employees covered by this Policy that are executed pursuant to a pre-
cleared 10b5-1 plan are not subject to the prohibition on trading on the basis of material non-public information contained in Section 1(a)
of this Policy or to the restrictions set forth in the Company’s pre-clearance procedures and blackout period described in Section 14
herein.
Rule 10b5-1 provides an affirmative defense from insider trading liability under the U.S. federal securities laws for trading plans that
meet certain requirements. A 10b5-1 plan must be entered into at a time when you are not aware of material non-public information. All
plans must be entered into in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of the securities laws. Once the plan
is adopted, you must not exercise any influence over the amount of securities to be traded, the price at which they are to be traded or the
date of the trade. The plan must either specify (including by formula) the amount, pricing and timing of transactions in advance or
delegate discretion over those matters to an independent third party.
The Company requires that each 10b5-1 plan (or the form of the 10b5-1 trading plan, provided such form has sufficient details to
determine compliance with this Policy) be pre-cleared in writing in advance by the General Counsel, in accordance with Section 14
hereof. 10b5-1 plans may not be adopted during a blackout period. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, it is the individual’s
responsibility to comply with this Policy, the requirements of Rule 10b5-1 and Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended
(the “Securities Act”), and the requirements of Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”),
regardless of whether the Company’s General Counsel pre-clears a 10b5-1 plan.

b. Company Plans. This Policy does not apply to the exercise of an employee stock option, to the exercise of any right to acquire the
Company’s securities pursuant to any equity incentive plan or similar plan, or to the exercise of a tax withholding right pursuant to which
you elect to have the Company withhold shares subject to an option to satisfy tax withholding requirements. This Policy does apply,
however, to any sale of the underlying stock or to a cashless exercise of an option through a broker, or any other market sale for the
purpose of generating the cash needed to pay the exercise price of an option.

6.    No Other Exceptions.
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    Other than as set forth in Sections 5 and 14 herein, there are no exceptions to the prohibitions and restrictions set forth in this Policy.
Transactions in the Company’s securities that are otherwise necessary for personal reasons, such as personal financial commitments or
emergencies, do not excuse you from compliance with this Policy and are prohibited if you possess material non-public information.

    It is important to note that the federal securities laws prohibit trading based on the mere fact that you are aware of material non-
public information; it is no excuse that your reasons for trading were not based on that information.

7.    Inadvertent Disclosure.

    If material non-public information is inadvertently disclosed by any employee, officer or director, you should immediately report the facts to
the General Counsel so that the Company may take appropriate remedial action.

8.    Post-Termination Transactions.

    This Policy continues to apply to your transactions in Company securities even after you have terminated your employment or other
connections to the Company and its affiliates. If you are in possession of material non-public information when your employment terminates,
you may not trade in Company securities until that information has been public for the requisite period of time or is no longer material.

9.    Company Assistance.

    If you have any questions about specific information or proposed transactions, or as to the applicability or interpretation of this Policy or the
propriety of any desired action, you are encouraged to contact the General Counsel.

10.    Confidentiality Guidelines.

    To provide more effective protection against the disclosure of material non-public information, the Company has adopted guidelines
(attached hereto) with which you should familiarize yourself. These guidelines are not intended to be exhaustive. Additional measures to secure
the confidentiality of information should be undertaken as deemed appropriate under the circumstances. If you have any doubt as to your
responsibilities under these guidelines, please seek clarification and guidance from the General Counsel before you act. Do not try to resolve
any uncertainties on your own.

11.    Personal Responsibility.

    The ultimate responsibility for adhering to this Policy and avoiding improper trading lies with you. If you violate this Policy, you may be
subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination for cause.

12.    Certification.

    You will be required to certify your understanding of and intent to comply with this Policy by means of the Certification attached hereto.
You may be required to certify on an annual basis that you have complied with this Policy.

13.    No New Legal Liabilities; Compliance with Securities Laws.
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    This Policy does not impose on the Company’s employees, officers or directors or on the Company itself any new legal liabilities to which
they would not otherwise be subjected. The restrictions contained in this Policy are in addition to other restrictions on trading imposed by the
U.S. securities laws that may apply to you, such as the Securities Act, the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated under each,
including, for example and without limitation, Section 16 of the Exchange Act and Rule 144 under the Securities Act.

14.    Pre-clearance of all Transactions by Covered Persons

a. General. This Section 14 shall apply to executive officers, directors and employees and each of their family members and members of
their households and any entity over which they exercise sole or shared discretionary authority to buy, sell or hold securities (collectively,
the “Covered Persons”). All Covered Persons must obtain the prior approval of the General Counsel for any transactions they
conduct in the Company’s securities.

b. Procedure. A request for pre-clearance should be submitted to the General Counsel at least two days in advance of the proposed
transaction. The General Counsel is under no obligation to approve a trade submitted for pre-clearance and may determine not to permit
the trade. The responsibility for pre-clearing transactions may be delegated to anyone permitted by the Board of Directors of the
Company. Regardless of who is selected to serve as the pre-clearer, the pre-clearer must always be kept fully informed of material
developments. Approvals are valid only for 24 hours from the time provided.
Any person subject to the pre-clearance requirements who wishes to implement a trading plan under Rule 10b5-1 must first pre-clear the
plan with the General Counsel. Transactions effected pursuant to a pre-cleared trading plan will not require further pre-clearance at the
time of the transaction if the plan complies with Rule 10b5-1 and specifies the dates, prices and amounts of the contemplated trades, or
establishes a formula for determining the dates, prices and amounts.

c. Quarterly Blackout Periods. The Company’s announcement of its quarterly financial results almost always has the potential to have a
material effect on the market for the Company’s securities. Therefore, you should assume that, to avoid even the appearance of trading
while aware of material non-public information, Covered Persons will only be pre-cleared to trade in the Company’s securities during the
period in any fiscal quarter (including the year-end) commencing forty-eight hours following the date and time of public disclosure
of the financial results for the prior fiscal quarter and ending on the fifteenth calendar day of the third month of the fiscal
quarter.
The Company may on occasion issue interim earnings guidance or other potentially material information by means of a press release, an
SEC filing on Form 8-K or other means designed to achieve widespread dissemination of the information. You should anticipate that
trades are unlikely to be pre-cleared while the Company is in the process of assembling the information to be released and until the
information has been released and fully absorbed by the market.

d. Event-Specific Blackout Periods. From time to time, an event may occur that is material to the Company and is known by only a few
Covered Persons. So long as the event remains material and non-public, Covered Persons as are designated by the General Counsel may
not trade in the Company’s securities. The existence of an event-specific blackout will not be announced except to those who are aware
of the event giving rise to the blackout. If, however, a person whose trades are subject to pre-clearance requests permission to trade in the
Company’s securities at a time when an event-specific blackout is in effect, the General Counsel will inform the requester of the
existence of a blackout
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period without necessarily disclosing the reason for the blackout. Any person made aware of the existence of an event-specific blackout
should not disclose the existence of the blackout to any other person. The failure of the General Counsel to designate a person as being
subject to an event-specific blackout will not relieve that person of the obligation not to trade while aware of material non-public
information.

e. Hardship Exceptions. A person who is subject to a quarterly earnings blackout period and who has an unexpected and urgent need to sell
Company securities in order to generate cash may, only in appropriate circumstances, be permitted to sell even during the blackout
period. Hardship exceptions to the prohibition for Covered Persons against pledging Company securities may also be granted under
appropriate circumstance. Hardship exceptions may be granted only by the General Counsel and must be requested at least two days in
advance of the proposed transaction. A hardship exception to sell during a quarterly earnings blackout period may be granted only if the
General Counsel concludes that the Company’s earnings information for the applicable quarter does not constitute material non-public
information. Under no circumstance will a hardship exception be granted during an event-specific blackout period or when the person
requesting such exception is in possession of material non-public information.

15.     Exempt Entities.

    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Policy, no entity will be deemed to be a Covered Person for the purposes of this Policy by
virtue of such entity’s relationship with a non-executive director of the Company if such entity, or an affiliate thereof, is advised or managed by
an investment adviser that is, or an affiliate of such investment adviser is, registered with the SEC as a registered investment adviser under the
U.S. Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the “ IAA”), or is an exempt reporting advisor pursuant to the Venture Capital Fund
Adviser Exemption or the Private Fund Adviser Exemption under the IAA, and, in any case, is subject to policies or procedures designed to
ensure compliance with federal securities laws and regulations prohibiting trading in the securities of a company on the basis of material, non-
public information.

16.    Amendment.

    This policy may be amended from time to time by the Board of Directors.

* * * *

Effective as amended as of February 1, 2022
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CERTIFICATION

    I have read and understand the Company’s Policy Statement on Securities Trades by Company Officers, Directors and Employees (the
“Policy”). I understand that the Company’s General Counsel is available to answer any questions I have regarding the Policy. I agree to comply
with the Policy in all respects during my employment or other relationship with the Company. I understand that my failure to comply in all
respects with the Policy is a basis for termination for cause of my employment or other relationship with the Company.

Date: ________________    Signature: ________________________________

             Name: ________________________________
             (please print)

            



        

CONFIDENTIALITY GUIDELINES

    The following guidelines establish procedures with which every employee, officer and director should comply in order to maximize the
security of confidential inside information:

        a.    declining any comment with respect to outside inquiries (from analysts, stock brokers, the press, etc.) and referring them immediately
to the Company’s General Counsel or such other person designated by the Company to be addressed;

        b.    using code names for sensitive projects;

        c.    using passwords to restrict access to sensitive information on the computer system;

        d.    limiting access to particular physical areas where material non-public information is likely to be documented or discussed;

        e.    locking up or shredding confidential documents;

        f.    not discussing confidential matters in public places such as elevators, hallways, restrooms or eating facilities where conversations might
be heard;

        g.    marking sensitive documents “Confidential” and using sealed envelopes marked “Confidential”;

        h.    restricting the copying of sensitive documents;

        i.    obtaining written confidentiality agreements from outsiders allowed access to confidential information;

        j.    maintaining and periodically reviewing the list of persons who have access to confidential information and limiting access of especially
sensitive materials to senior personnel and others on a need to know basis;

        k.    never leaving confidential documents unattended;

        l.    specifically informing employees who are exposed to confidential information of the sensitive nature of such information and the need
to maintain confidentiality; and

        m.    in electronically transmitting sensitive matters, verifying that you have the correct address and that someone with authorized access to
the information will be available to receive it at the incoming device.



Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF BLADE AIR MOBILITY, INC.

The following are the subsidiaries of Blade Air Mobility, Inc. as of December 31, 2024:

Subsidiary Jurisdiction of Organization
Blade Europe Holdings LLC Delaware
Blade Europe SAS France
Blade France SAS France
Blade Monaco SARL Monaco
Blade Urban Air Mobility, Inc. Delaware
Blade Urban Air Mobility (Canada), Inc. Canada
Blade Urban Ground Mobility LLC New York
Blade US LLC Delaware
Fly Blade LLC Delaware
Trinity Air Medical, LLC Arizona



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-256640 on Form S-3 and Registration Statement Nos. 333-277330and 333-257921on Form S-
8 of our reports dated March 13, 2025, relating to the financial statements of Blade Air Mobility, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) and the effectiveness of the
Company's internal control over financial reporting appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

New York, New York
March 13, 2025



Exhibit 23.2

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM’S CONSENT

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement of Blade Air Mobility Inc. and Subsidiaries on Form S-3 (File No. 333-256640) and Form S-8
(File Nos. 333-277330 and 333-257921) of our report dated March 12, 2024, except for Note 8, as to which date is March 13, 2025 with respect to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of Blade Air Mobility Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2023 and for the year ended December 31, 2023 which report is included in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Blade Air Mobility Inc. and Subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2024.

/s/ Marcum LLP

Marcum LLP

Melville, New York
March 13, 2025



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14 AND 15d-14

UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED

I, Robert S. Wiesenthal, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Blade Air Mobility, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: March 13, 2025 By: /s/ Robert S. Wiesenthal

Name: Robert S. Wiesenthal

Title: Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14 AND 15d-14

UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED

I, William A. Heyburn, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Blade Air Mobility, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: March 13, 2025 By: /s/ William A. Heyburn

Name: William A. Heyburn

Title: Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Blade Air Mobility, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2024, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Robert S. Wiesenthal, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as added by §906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. To my knowledge, the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as
of and for the period covered by the Report.

Date: March 13, 2025 By: /s/ Robert S. Wiesenthal
Name: Robert S. Wiesenthal

Title:
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Blade Air Mobility, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2024, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, William A. Heyburn, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as added by §906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. To my knowledge, the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as
of and for the period covered by the Report.

Date: March 13, 2025 By: /s/ William A. Heyburn
Name: William A. Heyburn

Title:
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)


